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PRELIMINARY NOTES 

        When we use the terms "ITG," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our," we mean Investment Technology Group, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

  
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

        In addition to the historical information contained throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there are forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")
and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements regarding our expectations related to our future financial position, results of
operations, revenues, cash flows, dividends, financing plans, business and product strategies, competitive positions, as well as the plans and objectives of
management for future operations, and all expectations concerning securities markets, client trading and economic trends are forward-looking statements. In
some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "may," "might," "will," "could," "should," "would," "expect," "plan,"
"anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "trend," "potential" or "continue" and the negative of these terms and other comparable terminology.

        Although we believe our expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions and beliefs, and on information
currently available to our management, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been correct. Important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements herein include, among others, general economic, business,
credit and financial market conditions, both internationally and domestically, financial market volatility, fluctuations in market trading volumes, effects of
inflation, adverse changes or volatility in interest rates, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, evolving industry regulations and regulatory scrutiny, the
volatility of our stock price, changes in tax policy or accounting rules, the actions of both current and potential new competitors, changes in commission
pricing, rapid changes in technology, errors or malfunctions in our systems or technology, cash flows into or redemptions from equity mutual funds, ability to
meet liquidity requirements related to the clearing of our customers' trades, customer trading patterns, the success of our products and service offerings, our
ability to continue to innovate and meet the demands of our customers for new or enhanced products, our ability to successfully integrate companies we have
acquired and our ability to attract and retain talented employees.

        Certain of these factors, and other factors, are more fully discussed in Item 1A, Risk Factors, Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk, in this Annual Report which you are
encouraged to read.

        We disclaim any duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the filing of this report to conform our prior statements to actual results or
revised expectations and we do not intend to do so. These forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any date
subsequent to the filing of this report.
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  Item 1.    Business 

        Investment Technology Group, Inc. was formed as a Delaware corporation on July 22, 1983. Its principal subsidiaries include: (1) ITG Inc., AlterNet
Securities, Inc. ("AlterNet") and ITG Derivatives LLC ("ITG Derivatives"), institutional broker-dealers in the United States ("U.S."), (2) ITG Canada Corp.
("ITG Canada"), an institutional broker-dealer in Canada, (3) Investment Technology Group Limited ("ITG Europe"), an institutional broker-dealer in Europe,
(4) ITG Australia Limited ("ITG Australia"), an institutional broker-dealer in Australia, (5) ITG Hong Kong Limited ("ITG Hong Kong"), an institutional
broker-dealer in Hong Kong, (6) ITG Software Solutions, Inc., our intangible property, software development and maintenance subsidiary in the U.S., and
(7) ITG Solutions Network, Inc., a holding company for ITG Analytics, Inc., a provider of pre- and post-trade analysis, fair value and trade optimization
services, ITG Investment Research, Inc. ("ITG Investment Research"), a provider of independent data-driven investment research, and ITG Platforms Inc., a
provider of trade order and execution management technology and network connectivity services for the financial community.

        ITG is an independent execution and research broker that partners with global portfolio managers and traders to provide unique data-driven insights
throughout the investment process. From investment decision through to settlement, ITG helps clients understand market trends, improve performance,
mitigate risk and navigate increasingly complex markets. A leader in electronic trading since launching the POSIT crossing network in 1987, ITG takes a
consultative approach in delivering the highest quality institutional liquidity, execution services, analytical tools and proprietary research. The firm is
headquartered in New York with offices in North America, Europe, and the Asia Pacific region.

        ITG's business is organized into four reportable operating segments (see Note 22, Segment Reporting, to the consolidated financial statements):

• U.S. Operations 

• Canadian Operations 

• European Operations 

• Asia Pacific Operations

        These four operating segments offer a wide range of solutions for asset managers and broker-dealers in the areas of electronic brokerage; research, sales
and trading; platforms and analytics. These offerings include trade execution services and solutions for portfolio management, as well as investment research,
pre-trade analytics and post-trade analytics and processing, summarized below.

Electronic Brokerage

        ITG electronic brokerage services include self-directed trading by clients using algorithms, smart routing and matching in cash equities through POSIT
(including single stocks and portfolio lists), futures and options.

ITG Algorithms and ITG Smart Router

        ITG Algorithms and ITG Smart Router offer portfolio managers and traders a way to trade orders quickly, comprehensively and cost-efficiently from any
ITG Execution Management System ("EMS") or ITG Order Management System ("OMS") and most third-party trading platforms. The algorithms execute
orders anonymously and discreetly, thereby potentially lowering market impact costs and improving overall performance. ITG Algorithms help users pursue
best execution through two suites: ITG Single-Stock Algorithms and ITG List-Based Algorithms.
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        ITG Smart Router offers a solution for routing trades that can help capture liquidity with a combination of speed and confidentiality. These routers
continuously scan markets for liquidity with an emphasis on trading without displaying the order. ITG Smart Router uses proprietary techniques to quickly
execute at the best available prices.

POSIT

        POSIT was launched in 1987 as a point-in-time electronic crossing network. Today, POSIT operates as an Alternative Trading System ("ATS"), providing
anonymous continuous and scheduled crossing of non-displayed (or dark) equity orders and price improvement opportunities within the National Best Bid
and Offer ("NBBO").

        POSIT Alert is a block crossing mechanism within POSIT. POSIT Alert scans uncommitted shares from participating clients. When a crossing opportunity
is detected, POSIT Alert notifies the relevant buy-side users that a matching opportunity exists.

        POSIT Marketplace provides access to POSIT liquidity, the dark pools of other ATSs, and certain exchange dark order types. POSIT Marketplace is a
dark pool aggregator that provides clients with access to a large range of non-displayed liquidity destinations. POSIT Marketplace uses advanced
quantitative techniques in an effort to interact with quality liquidity while protecting clients from gaming.

ITG Derivatives

        ITG Derivatives provides electronic listed futures and options trading, including algorithmic trading and direct market access. ITG Derivatives offers
advanced options features for traders employing volatility-neutral or delta-neutral strategies and also provides low-latency application programming
interfaces.

Commission Management Services

        ITG offers guidance, administration, and consolidation of client commission arrangements across a wide range of our clients' preferred brokerage and
research providers through ITG Commission Manager, a robust, multi-asset, web-based commission management portal.

Securities Lending Services

        Through stock borrow and stock loan transactions, ITG facilitates shortened or extended settlement periods to help clients meet their internal cash flow
needs. ITG can also borrow securities to help reduce failures to deliver stock.

Research, Sales & Trading

ITG Investment Research

        ITG provides differentiated, unbiased, data-driven equity research through its ITG Investment Research subsidiary. This offering has expanded ITG's
client relationships beyond the trading desk to chief investment officers, portfolio managers and analysts. Through the use of innovative data mining and
analysis and exclusive data partnerships, as well as detailed analysis of energy asset plays, ITG Investment Research identifies key metrics that may influence
a company's future performance. ITG Investment Research currently provides research on approximately 300 companies. We also provide our syndicated
research products to, and perform custom analyses for, corporations and our energy research team provides transaction advisory services to potential
purchasers of energy-related investments.
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ITG Market Research

        ITG Market Research offers market research capabilities to corporate clients within the healthcare and telecom industries. The healthcare market research
practice combines survey results with proprietary empirical data to deliver innovative syndicated and custom reporting capabilities. The telecom research
practice uses multiple data sources to provide insights into the mobile handset market in North America.

High-Touch Trading

        ITG provides high-touch sales trading and portfolio trading for institutional clients. ITG's high-touch trading desk is staffed with experienced trading
professionals who provide ITG clients with execution expertise and also convey trading ideas based on ITG Investment Research's research and analysis.

Platforms

Execution Management and Order Management

        ITG EMSs are designed to meet the needs of disparate trading styles. Triton is ITG's award-winning, multi-asset and broker-neutral EMS, which brings a
complete set of integrated execution and analytical tools to the user's desktop for global list-based and single-stock trading, as well as futures and options
capabilities and a fully integrated and supported financial services communications network (ITG Net). Triton Derivatives is a broker-neutral, direct-access
EMS that provides traders with access to scalable, low-latency, multi-asset trading opportunities.

        ITG OMS combines portfolio management, compliance functionality (ITG Compliance Monitoring System), and a fully integrated and supported
financial services communications network (ITG Net) with a consolidated, outsourced service for global trade matching and settlement (ITG Trade Operations
Outsourcing) that provides connectivity to the industry's post-trade utilities, as well as support for multiple, flexible settlement communication methods and
a real-time process monitor.

        ITG Position Manager ("PM") is a multi-prime, broker-neutral order management system, offering full support and real-time profit-and-loss information
for multiple currencies, strategies, asset types and portfolios. ITG PM is fully integrated with Triton Black, ITG's next generation multi-broker global EMS
built to deliver efficient workflows for the most demanding traders, as well as ITG Net to deliver a robust product suite engineered specifically for hedge
funds.

ITG Net

        ITG Net is a global financial communications network that provides secure, reliable and fully supported connectivity between buy-side and sell-side
firms for multi-asset order routing and indication-of-interest messages with ITG and third-party trading platforms. ITG Net supports more than 8,500 billable
connections to more than 350 unique brokerage firms and execution venues worldwide. ITG Net also integrates the trading products of third-party brokers
and ATSs into our OMS and EMS platforms.

ITG RFQ-hub

        In July 2014, ITG acquired ID's, a Paris-based company that operates RFQ-hub, a multi-asset platform for global-listed and over-the-counter ("OTC")
financial instruments. ITG RFQ-hub, as it is now known, connects buy-side trading desks and portfolio managers with a large network of sell-side market
makers, allowing these trading desks to place requests-for-quotes in OTC-negotiated equities, futures, options, swaps, convertible bonds, structured products
and commodities. ITG RFQ-hub is available as a stand-alone platform and is also integrated with Triton.
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ITG Single Ticket Clearing

        ITG's commitment to best execution platforms also extends to broker-neutral operational services to help ensure that trades clear and settle efficiently,
and to significantly lower the transaction costs associated with trade tickets. ITG Single Ticket Clearing is a broker-neutral service that aggregates executions
across multiple destinations for settlement purposes. ITG Single Ticket Clearing helps reduce the number of trade tickets and resulting charges imposed by
custodians, reducing the costs of trade processing due to market fragmentation.

Analytics

ITG Trading Analytics

        The ITG Smart Trading Analytics suite enables portfolio managers and traders to improve execution performance before the trade happens (pre-trade) and
during trading (real-time) by providing reliable trading analytics and risk models that help them perform predictive analyses, manage risk, change strategy
and reduce trading costs. Trading costs are affected by multiple factors, such as execution strategies, time horizon, volatility, spread, volume and order size.
ITG Smart Trading Analytics gauges the effects of these factors and aids in the understanding of the trade-off between market impact and opportunity cost.

        ITG Transaction Cost Analysis ("TCA") offers unique measurement and reporting capabilities to analyze costs and performance across the trading
continuum. ITG TCA assesses trading performance and implicit costs under various market conditions so users can adjust strategies and potentially reduce
costs and boost investment performance. ITG TCA is also available for foreign exchange transactions (ITG TCA for FX).

        ITG Alpha Capture Reporting measures cost at every point of the investment process and provides portfolio managers with quarterly analytical reviews,
written interpretations and on-site consultative recommendations to enhance performance.

ITG Portfolio Analytics

        ITG provides market-leading tools to assist asset managers with portfolio decision-making tasks from portfolio construction and optimization to the
enterprise challenge of global, real-time portfolio performance monitoring.

        ITG Portfolio Fair Value Service helps mutual fund managers meet their obligations to investors and regulators to fairly price the securities within their
funds, and helps minimize the impact of market timing.

        ITG Portfolio Optimization System allows portfolio managers to develop new portfolio construction strategies and solve complex optimization
problems. ITG Portfolio Optimization System allows users to accurately model tax liability, transaction costs and long/short objectives, while adhering to
diverse portfolio-specific constraints.

Non-U.S. Operations

        ITG has established a strong and growing presence in key financial centers around the world to serve the needs of global institutional investors. In
addition to its New York headquarters and its Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles and San Francisco offices in the U.S., ITG has offices in Canada in Toronto and
Calgary. In Europe, ITG has offices in London, Dublin and Paris. In the Asia Pacific region, ITG has offices in Sydney, Melbourne, Hong Kong and
Singapore. Local representation in regional markets provides an important competitive advantage for ITG. ITG also provides electronic and high-touch
trading for Latin American equities from its New York headquarters, including
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algorithms for Brazil, Mexico and Chile, and POSIT Alert in Brazil and Mexico, as well as, high-touch trading access into Colombia and Peru.

Canadian Operations

        ITG Canada was founded in 2000 and ranks in the Top 10 investment dealers in Canada. ITG Canada provides electronic brokerage services, including
ITG Algorithms, ITG Smart Router and MATCH Now, as well as high-touch agency execution and portfolio trading services. In addition, ITG Canada
provides Triton, Triton Derivatives, connectivity services, ITG Single Ticket Clearing, ITG Portfolio Optimization System, ITG Smart Trading Analytics, ITG
TCA and investment research services. ITG Canada also engages in principal trading activities. ITG Canada's customers primarily consist of asset and
investment managers, broker-dealers and hedge funds.

        In July 2007, ITG Canada launched MATCH Now, an alternative marketplace for Canadian-listed equities, operated by ITG's wholly-owned subsidiary,
TriAct Canada Marketplace LP ("TriAct"). MATCH Now is a leading anonymous crossing system in Canada, offering continuous execution opportunities
within a fully confidential non-displayed book at the mid-point of the Canadian NBBO.

European Operations

        ITG Europe was established as a broker-dealer in 1998. Today, ITG Europe focuses on trading European, Middle Eastern and African equities as well as
providing ITG's technologies to its clients. ITG Europe provides electronic brokerage services including ITG Algorithms, ITG Smart Router, and the POSIT
suite, as well as high-touch agency execution services, portfolio trading services and commission management services. In Europe, ITG provides Triton, ITG
OMS, connectivity services, ITG Single Ticket Clearing, ITG RFQ-hub, ITG TCA, ITG Alpha Capture Reporting, ITG Smart Trading Analytics and ITG
Portfolio Fair Value Service.

Asia Pacific Operations

Australia

        In 1997, ITG launched ITG Australia, an institutional brokerage firm specializing in execution and analytics for Australia equities. ITG provides
institutional investors with a range of products and services including trade execution, trade execution management through Triton, connectivity services
and pre- and post-trade analysis through ITG TCA and ITG Smart Trading Analytics. Trade execution services include electronic brokerage products such as
ITG Algorithms and the POSIT suite, as well as high-touch agency trading.

Hong Kong

        In 2001, ITG formed ITG Hong Kong, an institutional broker-dealer focused on developing and applying ITG's technologies across the Asian markets.
Execution services are provided through electronic brokerage products such as ITG Algorithms and the POSIT suite and through an experienced high-touch
agency trading services team. Other trading and analytical tools provided by ITG Hong Kong include Triton, connectivity services, ITG TCA and ITG Smart
Trading Analytics.

Singapore

        In 2010, ITG Singapore Pte Limited ("ITG Singapore") obtained a Capital Markets Services License from the Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS").
ITG Singapore provides institutional investors in Singapore with a range of ITG's products and services including trade execution management through
Triton and trading analysis through ITG TCA and ITG Smart Trading Analytics.
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Competition

        The financial services industry generally, and the institutional securities brokerage business in which we operate, are extremely competitive, and we
expect them to remain so for the foreseeable future. Our full suite of products does not directly compete with a particular firm; however, individual products
compete with various firms and consortia:

• Our trading and portfolio analytics compete with offerings from several sell-side-affiliated and independent companies. 

• POSIT competes with various national and regional securities exchanges, ATSs, Electronic Communication Networks, Multilateral Trading
Facilities ("MTFs"), and systematic internalizers for trade execution services. These venues have proliferated in recent years. 

• Our EMSs, OMSs and connectivity services compete with offerings from independent vendors, agency-only firms and other sell-side firms. 

• Our algorithmic and smart routing products, as well as our high-touch agency execution and portfolio trading services, compete with agency-
only and other sell-side firms. 

• Our ITG Investment Research offering competes with the research divisions of large and regional investment banks and brokerages as well as a
number of independent research firms.

Regulation

        Certain of our subsidiaries are subject to various securities regulations and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange
authorities of the countries in which they operate. In the U.S., the SEC is the federal agency responsible for the administration of the federal securities laws,
with the regulation of broker-dealers primarily delegated to self-regulatory organizations ("SROs"), principally the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
("FINRA") as well as other national securities exchanges. In addition to federal and SRO oversight, securities firms are also subject to regulation by state
securities administrators in those states in which they conduct business. Furthermore, our non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to regulation by central banks and
regulatory bodies in those jurisdictions where each subsidiary is authorized to do business, as further discussed below. The SROs, central banks and
regulatory bodies conduct periodic examinations of our broker-dealer subsidiaries in accordance with the rules they have adopted and amended from time to
time.

        ITG's principal regulated subsidiaries are listed below. The principal self-regulator of all our U.S. broker-dealers is FINRA.

• ITG Inc. is a U.S. broker-dealer registered with the SEC, FINRA, The NASDAQ Stock Market ("NASDAQ"), New York Stock Exchange, NYSE
Arca, Inc. ("ARCA"), NYSE MKT LLC ("NYSE MKT"), BATS Y-Exchange, Inc. ("BYX"), BATS Z-Exchange, Inc. ("BZX"), Chicago Stock
Exchange Inc., EDGA Exchange, Inc. ("EDGA"), EDGX Exchange, Inc. ("EDGX"), NASDAQ OMX BX, Inc. ("NASDAQ BX"), NASDAQ OMX
PHLX, Inc. ("NASDAQ OMX PHLX"), National Futures Association ("NFA"), Ontario Securities Commission ("OSC"), all 50 states, Puerto Rico
and the District of Columbia. 

• ITG Derivatives is a U.S. broker-dealer registered with the SEC, FINRA, NYSE MKT, ARCA, BYX, BZX, BOX Options Exchange LLC, CBOE,
C2 Options Exchange Incorporated, International Securities Exchange, ISE Gemini, LLC, NASDAQ, NASDAQ BX, NASDAQ OMX PHLX,
Commodities and Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC"), Miami International Stock Exchange, the NFA and 28 states. 

• AlterNet is a U.S. broker-dealer registered with the SEC, FINRA, NASDAQ, EDGA, EDGX and 14 states.
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• ITG Canada is a Canadian broker-dealer registered as an investment dealer with the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada
("IIROC"), the OSC, the Autorité Des Marchés Financiers in Quebec, Alberta Securities Commission, British Columbia Securities Commission,
Manitoba Securities Commission, New Brunswick Securities Commission, Nova Scotia Securities Commission and Saskatchewan Financial
Services Commission. ITG Canada is also registered as a Futures Commission Merchant in Ontario and Manitoba and Derivatives Dealer in
Quebec. ITG Canada is a member of the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX"), TSX Venture Exchange, the Canadian National Stock Exchange
and the Montreal Exchange. TriAct operates MATCH Now, an ATS under National Instrument 21-101, and is registered as an investment
dealer with IIROC, the OSC and the Alberta Securities Commission. 

• Our European operations include ITG Ventures Limited, ITG Europe, ITG Europe's wholly-owned broker-dealer subsidiary Investment
Technology Group Europe Limited ("ITGEL") and AlterNet (UK) Limited a U.K. broker ("AlterNet UK"). ITG Europe and ITGEL are authorized
and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland under the European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) Regulations 2007. ITG
Europe is a member of the main national European exchanges, including the London Stock Exchange, Deutsche Börse and Euronext, as well
as most of the European-domiciled MTFs. It also operates the POSIT crossing system in Europe as a MTF under the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive ("MiFID"). ITGEL's London Branch is registered with the Prudential Regulation Authority and the Financial Conduct
Authority ("FCA") and ITGEL's Paris branch is registered with the Banque de France. AlterNet UK is also registered with the FCA. 

• ITG Australia is a market participant of the Australian Securities Exchange ("ASX") and Chi-X Australia Limited. It is also a holder of an
Australian Financial Services License issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("ASIC"). ITG Australia's principal
regulators are the ASX and ASIC. 

• ITG Hong Kong is a participating organization of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and a holder of a securities dealer's license issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong ("SFC"), with the SFC acting as its principal regulator. 

• ITG Singapore is a holder of a Capital Markets Services License from the MAS, with the MAS acting as its principal regulator.

        Broker-dealers are subject to regulations covering all aspects of the securities trading business, including sales methods, trade practices, investment
research distribution, use and safekeeping of clients' funds and securities, capital structure, record keeping and conduct of directors, officers and employees.
Additional legislation or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules may directly affect the mode of operation and profitability of
broker-dealers. The SEC, SROs, state securities commissions and foreign regulatory authorities may conduct administrative proceedings or commence
judicial actions, which can result in censure, fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer, its directors,
officers or employees.

        ITG Inc., AlterNet, and ITG Derivatives are required by law to belong to the Securities Investor Protection Corporation ("SIPC"). In the event of a U.S.
broker-dealer's insolvency, the SIPC fund provides protection for client accounts up to $500,000 per customer, with a limitation of $250,000 on claims for
cash balances. ITG Canada and TriAct are required by Canadian law to belong to the Canadian Investors Protection Fund ("CIPF"). In the event of a Canadian
broker-dealer's insolvency, CIPF provides protection for client accounts up to CAD $1 million per customer. ITG Europe and ITGEL are required to be
members of the Investor Compensation Protection Schemes which provides compensation to retail investors in the event of certain stated defaults by an
investment firm. ITG Hong Kong is regulated by the SFC. The SFC operates the Investor Compensation Fund which provides compensation to retail investors
in the event of a default by a regulated financial institution.
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ITG Australia is obligated to contribute to the ACH Clearing Fund and/or the National Guarantee Fund if and when requested by ASIC. In the past twelve
months, no such requests have been made of ITG Australia.

Regulation ATS

        Regulation ATS permits "alternative trading systems" such as POSIT to match orders submitted by buyers and sellers without having to register as a
national securities exchange. Accordingly, POSIT is not registered with the SEC as an exchange. We continue to review and monitor POSIT's systems and
procedures to ensure compliance with Regulation ATS.

Net Capital Requirement

        ITG Inc., AlterNet and ITG Derivatives are subject to the Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15c3-1) under the Exchange Act, which requires the
maintenance of minimum net capital.

        ITG Inc. has elected to use the alternative method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that ITG Inc. maintain minimum net capital equal to the
greater of $1.0 million or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from customer transactions. AlterNet and ITG Derivatives have elected to use the basic
method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that they maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of 62/3% of aggregate indebtedness or
$100,000, and in the case of ITG Derivatives, $1 million, which is due to the fact that ITG Derivatives is a registered Futures Commission Merchant pursuant
to CFTC Regulation 1.17.

        For further information on our net capital position, see Note 16, Net Capital Requirement, to the consolidated financial statements.

Research and Product Development

        We devote a significant portion of our resources to the development and improvement of technology-based services. Important aspects of our research
and development efforts include enhancements of existing software, the ongoing development of new software and services and investment in technology to
enhance our efficiency.

        The amounts expensed for research and development costs, excluding routine maintenance, for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are
estimated at $35.8 million, $41.7 million and $45.4 million, respectively.

Intellectual Property

        Patents and other proprietary rights are important to our business. We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations, and
licensing opportunities to maintain and improve our competitive position.

        We own a portfolio of patents that principally relate to financial services. Patents for individual products extend for varying periods according to the
date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in the various countries where patent protection is obtained. We also own and maintain a portfolio
of trademarks. The extent and duration of trademark rights are dependent upon national laws and use of the trademarks.

        While we consider our patents and trademarks to be valued assets, we do not believe that our competitive position is heavily dependent on patent or
trademark protection or that our operations are dependent upon any single patent or group of related patents.

        It is our practice to enter into confidentiality and intellectual property ownership agreements with our clients, employees, independent contractors and
business partners, and to control access to, and distribution of, our intellectual property.
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Clients

        For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no single client accounted for more than 5% of our consolidated revenue.

Employees

        On December 31, 2014, the Company employed 1,087 staff globally, of whom 753, 88, 133 and 113 staff were employed by the U.S., Canadian,
European and Asia Pacific Operations, respectively.

Website and Availability of Public Reports

        Our website can be found at http://www.itg.com. From time to time, we may use our website as a channel of distribution of material company information.
Financial and other material information is routinely posted and accessible on the investor relations section of our corporate website, investor.itg.com. We are
not including the information contained on our website as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

        We are required to file reports and other information with the SEC. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current
Reports on Form 8-K, together with any amendments to those reports are available without charge on our website at http://investor.itg.com. We make this
information available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such information with, or furnish it to, the SEC. A copy of
these filings is also available at the SEC's website (www.sec.gov). Additionally, you may read and copy any documents filed by us at the SEC's Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference
Room.

  Item 1A.    Risk Factors 

Certain Factors That May Affect Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations

        We face risks and uncertainties that may affect our financial condition and results of operations. The following risk factors should be considered in
evaluating our business and growth outlook and may be important to understanding any statement in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These risk factors
should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the
consolidated financial statements and related notes in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K.

Decreases in equity trading activity by active fund managers and declining securities prices could harm our business and profitability.

        Declines in the trading activity of active fund managers generally result in lower revenues from our trading solutions, which generate the majority of our
revenues globally. In addition, securities' price declines adversely affect our non-North American trading commissions, which are based on the value of
transactions. The demand for our trading solutions is directly affected by factors such as economic, regulatory and political conditions that may lead to
decreased trading activity and prices in the securities markets in the U.S. and in all of the foreign markets we serve. Significant flows of funds out of actively-
managed equity funds has curtailed their trading activity, which has weighed heavily on our buy-side trading volumes and the use of our higher value
services. Volatility levels also impact the amount of trading activity. Sustained periods of low volatility brought on from the quantitative easing programs of
central banks can result in lower levels of trading activity. In addition, trading activity in periods following extreme levels of volatility tends to decline.
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Decreases in our commission rates and other transactional revenues could adversely affect our operating results.

        Commission rates on institutional trading activity have declined historically and we anticipate a continuation of the competitive pricing environment
for the foreseeable future. In addition, reduced activity from our active fund manager clients has resulted in a shift in the mix of our business to include an
increased portion from higher-turnover lower-rate clients, particularly sell-side firms. A decline in commission rates or revenue capture from future mix shifts
or from rate reductions within client segments could materially reduce our margins and harm our financial condition and operating results.

Our fixed costs may result in reduced profitability or losses.

        We incur significant operating and capital expenditures to support our business that do not vary directly, at least in the short term, with fluctuations in
executed transaction volumes or revenues. In addition, changes in market practices have required us, and may require us in the future, to invest in additional
infrastructure to increase capacity levels without a corresponding increase in revenues. To ensure that we have the capacity to process projected increases in
trade orders and executed transaction volumes, we have historically made substantial infrastructure investments in advance of such projected increases,
including during periods of low revenues. We have also made substantial investments in our research products to attract additional trade flows from our buy-
side clients. In the event of reductions in trade executions and/or revenues, we may not be able to reduce such expenses quickly and, as a result, we could
experience reduced profitability or losses. If the growth in our executed volumes does not occur or we are not able to successfully implement and monetize
our investments, including by failing to accurately forecast the demand for new products, effectively deploy new products or decommission legacy products,
the expenses related to such investments could cause reduced profitability or losses.

A failure in the design, operation or configuration of our technology could adversely affect our profitability and reputation.

        A technological failure or error of one or more of our products or systems, including but not limited to POSIT, our algorithms, smart routers, and order
and execution management systems, could result in lost revenues and/or significant market losses. We operate complex trading systems, algorithms and
analytical products that may fail to correctly model interacting or conflicting trading objectives, unusual market conditions, available trading venues and
other factors, which may cause unintended results. Similarly, the operation and configuration of our systems can be quite complex and departure from
standard procedures can result in adverse trading outcomes. Such problems could cause us to incur trading losses, lose clients or experience other
reputational harm resulting in lost revenues and profits. Our quality assurance testing cannot test for all potential scenarios or ensure that the technology will
function as designed and intended in all cases.

Failure to keep up with rapid changes in technology while continuing to seek to provide leading products and services to our customers could negatively
impact our results of operations.

        The institutional brokerage industry is subject to rapid technological change and evolving industry standards. Our customers' demands become greater
and more sophisticated as the dissemination of products and information to customers increases. If we are unable to anticipate and respond to the demand for
new services, products and technologies, innovate in a timely and cost-effective manner and adapt to technological advancements and changing standards,
we may be unable to compete effectively, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Many of our competitors have significantly greater
resources than we do to fund such technological advances. Moreover, the development of technology-based services is a complex and time-consuming
process. New products and enhancements
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to existing products can require long development and testing periods. Budgetary constraints on funding new product initiatives related to our core business
or strategic initiatives in the current environment, significant delays in new product releases, failure to meet key deadlines, or significant problems in creating
new products could negatively impact our revenues and profits.

Insufficient system capacity, system operating failures, or disasters could materially harm our reputation, financial position and profitability.

        The success of our business is dependent on the computer and communications systems supporting our operations, which must monitor, process and
support a large volume of transactions across numerous execution venues in many countries and multiple currencies. As our business continues to expand, we
will need to continue to expand our systems to accommodate an increasing volume of transactions across a larger client base and more geographical
locations. In addition, certain changes in market practices may require us to invest in infrastructure to increase capacity levels. Unexpectedly high volumes or
times of unusual market volatility could cause our systems to operate slowly, decrease output or even fail for periods of time, as could general power or
telecommunications failures, hardware failures, software errors, human error, computer viruses, acts of vandalism, natural disasters, terrorist activities,
cybersecurity breaches or other business disruptions. System failure or degradation could adversely affect our ability to effectuate transactions and lead our
customers to file formal complaints with industry regulatory organizations, initiate regulatory inquiries or proceedings, file lawsuits against us, trade less
frequently through us or cease doing business with us. In turn, we could incur financial loss, liability to clients, regulatory intervention or reputational
damage.

        Our corporate headquarters and largest concentration of employees and technology is in the New York metropolitan area. Our other offices are also
located in major cities around the globe. If a business system disruption were to occur, especially in New York, for any reason, including widespread health
emergencies, natural disasters or terrorist activities, and we were unable to execute our disaster recovery plan, or our disaster recovery plan proves
insufficient, it could have a material effect on our business. Moreover, we have varying levels of disaster recovery plan coverage among our non-U.S.
subsidiaries.

        Any system capacity or operational failure or business system disruption could result in regulatory or legal claims. We could incur significant costs in
defending such regulatory or legal claims, even those without merit. Moreover, such failures could result in the need to remediate issues and repair or expand
our networks and systems. Any obligation to expend significant resources to defend claims or repair and expand infrastructure could have an adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our systems and those of our third-party service providers may be vulnerable to cybersecurity risks.

        Our business relies on the secure collection, storage, processing and transmission of proprietary information, including our clients' confidential data, in
our internal systems and through our vendor networks and communications infrastructure. Increased cybersecurity threats pose a risk to this information, in
addition to our and our third party service providers' systems and networks. While we have not been the victim of cyber-attacks that have had a material
impact on our operations or financial condition, we have experienced cyber security incidents such as denial of service attempts, malware infections,
phishing attempts, and other attempts at compromising our information technology that are typical for a company of our size that operates in the global
financial marketplace. Despite our efforts to implement industry-standard security measures, we face the risk that our security measures may prove insufficient
as attacks have resulted in material breaches against other financial services companies with significant security controls. Successful security breaches of our
systems or the systems of certain of our vendors could expose us to a risk of misappropriation of our or our clients' confidential information, the corruption or
deletion of data, and the disruption of our services to our
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clients. These outcomes could result in reputational damage, loss of clients, lower trading volumes, a negative impact on our competitive position,
significant expense in implementing future security measures, litigation, and regulatory inquiries or proceedings, all of which could adversely impact our
financial results.

We are dependent on certain third party vendors for key services.

        We depend on a number of third parties to supply elements of our trading systems, computers, market and research data, data centers, FIX connectivity,
communication network infrastructure, other equipment and related support and maintenance. We cannot be certain that any of these providers will be
willing or able to continue to provide these services in an efficient and cost-effective manner or to meet our evolving needs. Moreover, we are dependent on
our communications network providers for interconnectivity with our clients, markets and clearing agents to service our customers and operate effectively. If
our vendors fail to meet their obligations, provide poor, inaccurate or untimely service, or we are unable to make alternative arrangements for the supply of
these services, we may fail, in turn, to provide our services or to meet our obligations to our customers, and our business, financial condition and our
operating results could be materially harmed.

Our securities business and related clearing operations expose us to material liquidity risk.

        We self-clear equity transactions in the U.S., Hong Kong and Australia. In those markets, we may be required to provide considerable additional funds
with clearing and settlement organizations, such as the National Securities Clearing Corporation or Depository Trust and Clearing Corporation in the U.S.,
especially during periods of high market volatility. In addition, regulatory agencies have recently required these clearing and settlement organizations to
increase the level of margin deposit requirements and they may continue to do so in the future. We rely on our excess cash, certain established credit facilities
and the use of outsourced clearing arrangements to meet those demands. While we have historically met requests for additional margin deposits, there is no
guarantee that our excess cash and our established credit facilities and clearing arrangements will be sufficient for future needs, particularly if there is an
increase in requirements. There is also no guarantee that these established credit facilities will be extended beyond their expiration.

        In addition, each of our broker-dealer subsidiaries worldwide is subject to regulatory capital requirements promulgated by the applicable regulatory and
exchange authorities of the countries in which they operate. Growth in our non-North American trading activity has led, and could continue to lead to, higher
regulatory capital requirements. The failure by any of these subsidiaries to maintain its required regulatory capital may lead to suspension or revocation of its
broker-dealer registration and its suspension or expulsion by its regulatory body. Historically, all regulatory capital needs of our broker-dealers have been
provided by existing cash and cash from operations. However, if existing cash together with cash from operations are not sufficient, we may need to reject
orders from clients and we may ultimately breach regulatory capital requirements.

As a clearing member firm in certain jurisdictions we are subject to significant default risk.

        We are required to finance our clients' unsettled positions from time to time and we could be held responsible for the defaults of our clients. Default by
our clients may also give rise to our incurring penalties imposed by execution venues, regulatory authorities and settlement systems. Although we regularly
review our credit exposure, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that may be difficult to detect or foresee. In addition, concerns about, or a
default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions that could in turn adversely affect us.
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Our equity trading operations in jurisdictions other than the U.S., Hong Kong and Australia are dependent on their clearing agents and any failures by
such clearing agents could materially impact our business and operating results.

        Certain of our international operations are dependent on agents for the clearing and settlement of securities transactions. If our agents fail to properly
facilitate the clearing and settlement of our customer trades, we could be subject to financial, legal and regulatory risks and costs that may impact our
business and operating results. In addition, it could cause our clients to reduce or cease their trading with us, which would adversely affect our revenues and
financial results.

        Moreover, certain of our agreements with clearing agents may be terminated upon short notice. There is no guarantee that we could obtain alternative
services in a timely manner and any interruption of the normal course of our trading and clearing operations could have a material impact on our business and
results of operations.

Our business exposes us to credit risk that could affect our operating results and profitability.

        We are exposed to credit risk from third parties that owe us money, securities or other obligations, including our customers and trading counterparties.
These parties may default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons, and we could be held
responsible for such defaults. In addition, client trading errors which they are unable to cover may cause us to incur financial losses. Volatile securities
markets, credit markets and regulatory changes may increase our exposure to our customers' credit profiles, which could adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results. While our broker-dealer subsidiaries that are not self-clearing have clearing agreements with their clearing agents who review
the credit risk of trading counterparties, we have no assurances that those reviews or our own are adequate to provide sufficient protection from this risk.

We may incur material losses on foreign exchange transactions entered into on behalf of clients and be exposed to material liquidity risk due to
counterparty defaults or errors.

        We enable clients to settle cross-border equity transactions in their local currency through the use of foreign exchange contracts. These arrangements
typically involve the delivery of securities or cash to a counterparty that is not processed through a central clearing facility in exchange for a simultaneous
receipt of cash or securities. We may operate as either a principal or agent in these transactions. As a result, a default by one of our counterparties prior to the
settlement of their obligation could materially impact our liquidity and have a material adverse affect on our financial condition and results of operations.

        In addition, we are exposed to operational risk. Employee and technological errors in executing, recording or reporting foreign exchange transactions
may result in material losses due to the large size of such transactions and the underlying market risk in correcting such errors.

We incur limited principal trading risk in our Canadian Operations.

        A limited portion of our revenues is derived from principal trading in our Canadian Operations, including arbitrage trading and the net spread on foreign
exchange contracts executed to facilitate equity trades by clients in different currencies. As a result of this trading, we may incur losses relating to the
purchase or sale of securities and currencies for our own account. Although we attempt to close out all of our positions by the end of the day, we bear the risk
of market fluctuations and we may incur losses due to changes in the prices of such securities and currencies. Any principal gains or losses resulting from
these positions could have a disproportionate effect, positive or negative, on our revenues and profits, and could also result in reputational damage.
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        Our Canadian Operations also derive a limited portion of its revenues from the principal trading of spot and short-dated forward foreign exchange
contracts with clients, unrelated to equity trades. Although we seek to execute offsetting foreign exchange contracts concurrently with any client trades,
earning a net spread, there can be no assurances that the trades are in fact concurrent (and therefore we bear the risk of market fluctuations). In addition,
foreign exchange contracts are not centrally cleared and therefore we bear counterparty and settlement risk on such trades.

Our Canadian market making activities expose us to the risk of significant losses.

        ITG Canada is registered as a market maker in a limited number of ETFs and inter-listed stocks. In our role as a market maker, we are required to maintain
active bids and offers that may be executed against, resulting in inventory positions that subject us to market risk. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to manage such risk successfully or that we will not experience significant losses from such activities.

Our risk management policies and procedures may not be effective and may leave us exposed to unidentified or unexpected risks.

        We seek to monitor and control our risk exposure through a risk and control framework encompassing a variety of separate but complementary financial,
credit, operational, technological, compliance and legal reporting systems, internal controls, management review processes and other mechanisms that rely
on a combination of technical and human controls and supervision. These policies, procedures and practices used to identify, monitor and control a variety of
risks may fail to be effective. As a result, we face the risk of losses, including, for example, losses resulting from trading errors, customer defaults, fraud and
money laundering.

        Internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations. Therefore, internal control over financial reporting
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and may not prevent or detect all
misstatements. Moreover, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. As such, we could lose investor confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which may have a material adverse effect on our stock price.

The business in which we operate is extremely competitive worldwide.

        Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do, which, among other things, enable
them to compete with the services we provide on the basis of price, including lowering prices for certain of our key services to gain business in their higher
margin areas, and a willingness to commit their firms' capital to service their clients' trading needs on a principal, rather than on an agency basis. In addition,
many of our competitors bundle multiple services as part of their equity trading offering. To the extent we seek to unbundle any of our products or services,
we may lose clients which would also result in a loss of revenues and profits. Many of them offer a wider range of services, have broader name recognition,
and have larger customer bases than we do. Some of our competitors have long-standing, well-established relationships with their clients, and also hold
dominant positions in their trading markets. Moreover, new entrants may enter the market with alternative methods of providing trade execution and related
services, and existing competitors often launch new initiatives. Many of our competitors have undertaken measures to link various electronic trading systems
and platforms in an effort to attract order flow to off-exchange venues and increase internal executions.
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        Although we believe that our products and services have established certain competitive advantages, our ability to maintain these advantages will
require continued enhancements to our products, investment in the development of our services, additional marketing activities and enhanced customer
support services. There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient resources to continue to make this investment, that our competitors will not devote
significantly more resources to competing services or that we will otherwise be successful in maintaining our market position. If competitors offer superior
services, our market share would be affected and this would adversely impact our business and results of operations.

We face certain challenges and risks to our international business that may adversely affect our strategy.

        Global client coverage is a key component of our business plan. We have invested significant resources in our foreign operations and the globalization
of our products and services. However, there are certain risks inherent in the operation of our business outside of the U.S., including, but not limited to,
additional regulatory capital requirements, less developed technology and infrastructure, and higher costs for infrastructure. These risks may limit our ability
to provide services to clients in certain markets. There also may be difficult processes for obtaining regulatory approvals. This could result in delays in our
global business plans, difficulties in staffing foreign operations and adapting our products to foreign markets, practices and languages, exchange rate risks
and the need to meet foreign regulatory requirements. Each of these could force us to alter our operational plans and this may adversely impact our strategy.

We incur risks related to our international business due to currency exchange rate fluctuations that could impact our financial results and financial
position.

        A significant amount of our business is conducted in foreign currencies. Conducting business in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar subjects us to
exchange rate fluctuations. These fluctuations can materially impact our financial results.

We are dependent on certain major customers and a decline in their use of our services could materially impact our revenues.

        Our customers may discontinue their use of our trading services at any time. The loss of any significant customer could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations.

        The chart below sets forth our dependence on our three largest clients individually, as well as on our ten largest clients in the aggregate, expressed as a
percentage of total revenues:

The securities markets and the brokerage industry in which we operate globally are subject to extensive, evolving regulation that could materially impact
our business.

        We currently operate POSIT in the U.S. under Regulation ATS, our European operations are subject to MiFID and we must comply with the requirements
of the U.S. PATRIOT Act and its foreign equivalents for monitoring our customers and suspicious transactions. Moreover, most aspects of our broker-dealer
operations are highly regulated, such as sales and reporting practices, operational compliance, capital requirements and licensure of employees. Accordingly,
we face the risk of
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  % of Total Consolidated Revenue  
  2014  2013  2012  
Largest customer   2.7% 2.4% 2.4%
Second largest customer   2.0% 2.1% 2.1%
Third largest customer   1.7% 1.8% 1.9%
Ten largest customers   16.9% 16.8% 14.9%
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significant intervention by regulatory authorities in all jurisdictions in which we conduct business, such as the SEC and FINRA in the U.S. and their
equivalents in other countries. As we expand our business, we may be exposed to increased and different types of regulatory requirements.

        We are subject to, and in the future, we may become subject to new regulations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing regulations,
which may adversely affect our business. Also, regulatory changes that impact how our customers conduct their business may impact our business and results
of operations. The current U.S. administration and other members of the U.S. federal government and other governments outside of the United States have
implemented new regulatory requirements for the financial services industry and have indicated that there may be more to come. These newly-implemented
rules could cause us to expend more significant compliance, business and technology resources, incur additional operational costs and create additional
regulatory exposure. In addition, we cannot predict the extent to which any future regulatory changes would affect our business.

        On June 24, 2014, the SEC issued an order mandating the U.S. exchanges to implement the National Market System Plan to Implement a Tick Size Pilot
Program (the "Pilot"). The plan for the Pilot was released by 11 national exchanges and FINRA on August 25, 2014 and it was published in the Federal
Register on November 7, 2014. The comment period for the Pilot ended on December 22, 2014 and the plan is pending approval by the SEC. The Pilot will
last for one year and it will change the minimum 'tick sizes' (quoting and trading increments) for 1,200 Regulation NMS common stocks with smaller market
capitalizations. The proposal would also include a 'trade-at' prohibition for 400 of the Regulation NMS stocks covered by the Pilot that would prevent price
matching by a trading center, such as a dark pool, that is not displaying a protected bid or protected offer, subject to certain exceptions. The proposed Pilot is
intended to allow the SEC, SROs, and the public to evaluate and assess the impact of increment conventions on the liquidity and trading of stocks of smaller
capitalization companies. If the Pilot (specifically the trade-at prohibition) is expanded to more securities, the program could impact our U.S. trading volumes
and operational costs. Moreover, the SEC adopted the Consolidated Audit Trail rule ("CAT") in July 2012, which requires SROs to establish an order trail
reporting system that would enable regulators to track, within 24 hours of the trade date, information related to trading orders received and executed across
the securities markets. On September 30, 2014, the exchanges submitted a Regulation NMS plan for implementation of the CAT to the SEC for approval. The
implementation schedule is based on the SEC approval date. Within one year of SEC approval, each exchange will start reporting CAT data to the
established central repository. Non-small industry members and small industry members will start reporting CAT data within two and three years of approval,
respectively.

        On November 19, 2014, the SEC unanimously adopted Regulation Systems Compliance and Integrity ("Regulation SCI"). The regulation became
effective on February 3, 2015 and the compliance date is currently scheduled for November 3, 2015. The rule requires SCI entities (i.e., exchanges, SROs,
clearing and settlement agencies, and certain ATSs—including POSIT) to establish extensive policies, procedures, and/or controls to ensure the capacity,
stability, integrity, and resiliency of their trading and regulatory reporting systems. Regulation SCI, among other things, also requires the reporting of certain
systems issues, testing of business continuity and disaster recovery plans with mandatory participation by customers and members, the establishment of
geographically diverse backup capabilities, the completion of an objective annual review of systems, and the maintenance and preservation of certain books
and records concerning matters covered by the rule.

        In addition, new regulatory obligations have been proposed, adopted or implemented pertaining to markets outside of the United States, which may also
have a material impact upon our business model.

• In Europe, these include MiFID II which is currently in the rulemaking process with implementation planned for January of 2017. In particular,
under MiFID II, multilateral trading
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facilities ("MTF")—the European equivalent to an SEC-registered ATS—that trade in dark cash equity orders would be required to cross such
orders at the midpoint, open, or closing prices of the primary venue (where displayed orders in those securities are traded) and adhere to
volume limits on dark trading. These limits would be set at 4% of all the displayed and dark regulated venue trading volume for any
individual dark venue and 8% of such volume for all dark trading venues in the aggregate. The calculations would be performed at an
individual stock level over a 12-month rolling period. In the event that the relevant limit is breached, the crossing of that particular stock in
the individual dark trading venue or in all such venues (as applicable depending on whether the 4% or 8% threshold is breached) would cease
for the following 6 months. MiFID II provides an exception from these requirements for large sized orders, which may be crossed at any price
point and without regard to the above-mentioned volume limits.

In addition, a financial transaction tax (the "European FTT") is being considered which would include at least ten of the twenty-eight members
of the European Union. In addition to the impact that such tax would have on the affected securities and signatory countries, certain
alternative versions of the proposals could include an extra-territorial scope that may impact the trading activities of entities which are, and
trade entirely outside, the European FTT zone. Ministers from the relevant member states have reiterated that they intend to implement the
European FTT by January 1, 2016.

• Hong Kong is awaiting new regulations related to dark liquidity pools. These regulations are likely to limit access to dark pools to
institutional clients only, require increased monitoring of dark pools, mandatory disclosure of dark pool operations, and increased client
documentation for those accessing dark pools via a Hong Kong broker.

        Compliance with certain of these adopted laws, rules or regulations of the various jurisdictions in which we operate could result in the loss of revenue
and has caused us, and could cause us, to incur significant costs. In addition, if any new regulatory obligations are implemented, ITG could incur significant
costs to establish the appropriate processes, systems, and/or controls. Last, if we fail to comply adequately with any of these laws, rules or regulations, we may
be subject to censure, fines, cease-and-desist orders, suspension of our business, suspensions of personnel, or other sanctions, including revocation of our
exchange or self-regulatory organization memberships or our broker-dealer registrations.

Increased regulatory scrutiny may lead to increased costs for compliance and the potential for monetary penalties, negatively impacting our profitability.

        In the recent past, there has been increased regulatory scrutiny of our industry by regulators and other governmental authorities, including in the areas of
trading risk management controls, undisclosed trading practices and dark pool operations, resulting in an increase in regulatory investigations and reviews.
Such enhanced scrutiny could cause ITG to incur significant costs in light of the legal and compliance resources needed to respond to such investigations
and reviews, in addition to the potential for monetary penalties arising from such investigations and reviews.

If we are unable to obtain sources of data to create our differentiated research product, we could see a reduction in revenues and profitability.

        Our investment research product leverages data derived from, among other sources, industry data providers and web harvesting technology. If there is a
limitation on the availability of data from these sources or if new regulations or laws restrict their use in investment research products, the quality of our
research product could be negatively impacted along with the amount of revenue and profitability we derive from this offering.
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We could be subject to challenges by U.S. and foreign tax authorities that could result in additional taxes and penalties.

        We are subject to income and other taxes in each jurisdiction in which we operate. We are also subject to reviews and audits by U.S. and foreign tax
authorities. Our determination of our tax obligations in each jurisdiction requires us and our advisers to make judgment calls and estimations. Our
determination may differ, even materially, from the judgment of the tax authorities and therefore cause us to incur additional taxes and related interest and
penalties, which could impact our financial results.

Inability to protect our intellectual property may result in increased competition, loss of business or other negative results on our business and financial
condition.

        Our success is dependent, in part, upon our proprietary intellectual property. We generally rely upon patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets to
establish and protect our rights in our proprietary technology, methods, products and services. We cannot assure that any of the rights granted under any
patent, copyright or trademark that we may obtain will protect our competitive advantages. A third party may still try to challenge, invalidate or circumvent
the protective mechanisms that we select. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of
the U.S., so we cannot predict our ability to properly protect our intellectual property in those jurisdictions. Third parties operating in jurisdictions in which
we have not filed for protection may obtain rights in intellectual property that we have protected in the U.S. and other jurisdictions or may be able to
misappropriate our intellectual property with impunity.

        There can be no assurance that we will be able to protect our proprietary intellectual property from improper disclosure or use, or that others will not
develop technologies that are similar or superior to our technology without violating our intellectual property. Violations of our intellectual property by
third parties could have an adverse effect on our competitiveness and business. In addition, the cost of seeking to enforce our intellectual property rights
could have an adverse effect on our financial results.

If we were to unknowingly infringe third party intellectual property or be accused of doing so without merit, we would bear significant costs of defense and
litigation, which could impact our financial results.

        In the past several years, there has been a proliferation of patents applicable to the technology and financial services industries. Under current law, U.S.
patent applications remain secret for 18 months and may, depending on how they are prosecuted, remain secret until the issuance of a patent. In light of these
factors, it is not always possible to determine in advance whether any of our products or services may infringe the present or future patent rights of others.
From time to time, we may receive notices from others of claims or potential claims of intellectual property infringement or we may be called upon to defend
our products, customers, vendees or licensees against such third party claims. Responding to these kinds of claims, regardless of merit, could consume
valuable time and result in costly litigation that could have a material adverse effect on us. Such claims could also result in our entering into royalty or
licensing agreements with the third parties claiming infringement on terms that could have a material impact on our profitability.

Financial and operational problems with our acquisitions and strategic initiatives could have a material impact on our results of operation.

        Over the last several years, we have undertaken several strategic acquisitions, including the acquisitions of RFQ-hub, a multi-asset platform for global-
listed and OTC financial instruments, Majestic Research Corp. and Ross Smith Energy Group, Ltd. (together now ITG Investment Research), as well as
various organic strategic initiatives. We may elect to pursue strategic acquisitions and
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strategic initiatives in the future. Acquisitions entail numerous risks, including but not limited to difficulties in valuing the acquired businesses, combining
personnel and firm cultures, integrating acquired products, services and operations, achieving anticipated synergies that were inherent in our valuation
assumptions, the assumption of unknown material liabilities of acquired companies and the potential loss of key clients or employees of acquired companies.
Similarly, strategic initiatives may be important to our business prospects and we may not be able to successfully execute such initiatives. In either case, we
may have clients with whom we have established trading relationships that seek to negatively bundle our products or services without increasing the amount
of revenue they pay us resulting in lost revenues and profits. If we are unable to successfully complete acquisitions and integrate the acquired businesses,
suffer a material loss due to an acquired business or fail to execute strategic initiatives, we may not achieve appropriate levels of return on these significant
investments, which may have a material effect on our operating results.

Our business could be adversely affected by our inability to attract and retain talented employees, including sales, technology and development
professionals.

        Our business operations require highly specialized knowledge of the financial industry and of technological innovation as it applies to the financial
industry. If we are unable to hire or retain the services of talented management, sales, research, technology and development professionals, we would be at a
competitive disadvantage. In addition, recruitment and retention of qualified staff could result in substantial additional costs.

Misconduct and errors of our employees could cause us reputational and financial harm.

        Employee errors in recording or executing transactions for customers can cause us to enter into transactions that customers may disavow and refuse to
settle. These transactions expose us to risk of loss, which can be material, until we detect the errors in question and unwind or reverse the transactions. As with
any unsettled transaction, adverse movements in the prices of the securities involved in these transactions before we unwind or reverse them can increase this
risk. We may incur losses as a result of these transactions that could materially impact our financial results.

        In addition to trading errors, other employee errors or misconduct could subject us to financial losses or regulatory sanctions and seriously harm our
reputation. It is not always possible to prevent employee errors or misconduct and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not be
effective in all cases. Misconduct by our employees could include hiding unauthorized activities from us, improper or unauthorized activities on behalf of
customers or improper use of confidential information. Such misconduct could result in losses, litigation or other material adverse effects on the Company.

Our business exposes us to the risk of litigation.

        Many aspects of our business, and the businesses of our clients, involve substantial risks of liability. These risks include, among other things, liability
arising from disputes relating to the delay or failure of trade executions, trade settlement terms or the inadequacy or inaccuracy of research products. We
could incur significant legal expenses defending claims, even those without merit. An adverse resolution of any lawsuits or claims against us could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The market price of our common stock could be volatile.

        The market price of our common stock may be volatile and could be significantly affected by any number of factors like volatility in the broader stock
market, changes in analyst earnings estimates, quarterly variations in our results of operations, shifting investor perceptions, a large purchase or sale by a
significant stockholder, the announcement of new products or the occurrence of events described in the other risk factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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  Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments 

        None

  Item 2.    Properties 

U.S.

        Our principal offices are located at One Liberty Plaza, in New York, New York, where we occupy approximately 132,000 square feet of office space
pursuant to a lease agreement expiring in January 2029.

        We maintain a facility in Los Angeles, California where we occupy approximately 54,000 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease agreement
expiring in December 2016. This facility is used primarily for technology research and development and support services.

        We have a regional office in Boston, Massachusetts where we occupy approximately 54,000 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease expiring in
May 2021.

        We also have additional regional offices in Chicago, Illinois where we occupy approximately 10,300 square feet pursuant to a lease agreement expiring
in October 2016, and in San Francisco, California where we occupy approximately 3,900 square feet pursuant to a lease agreement expiring in June 2018.

Canada

        ITG Canada has an office in Toronto where we occupy approximately 19,900 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease expiring in December 2016.
We also have an office in Calgary where we occupy approximately 7,600 square feet pursuant to a lease expiring in February 2016.

Europe

        In Europe, ITG has offices in Dublin, London and Paris where we occupy approximately 6,200, 12,200 and 3,100 square feet of office space, respectively.
The Dublin space is leased pursuant to an agreement that expires in November 2017, the London space is leased pursuant to an agreement that expires in July
2018, and the space in Paris is leased pursuant to an agreement that expires in January 2022.

Asia Pacific

        ITG Australia has offices in Melbourne and Sydney, where we occupy approximately 5,600 and 3,400 square feet of office space, respectively, pursuant
to leases expiring in February 2016 and June 2017.

        ITG Hong Kong occupies approximately 7,500 square feet of office space in Hong Kong pursuant to a lease that expires in September 2015. We also
lease space for our regional office in Singapore.

  Item 3.    Legal Proceedings 

        We are not a party to any pending legal proceedings other than claims and lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition, our broker-
dealers are regularly involved in reviews, inquiries, examinations, investigations and proceedings by government agencies and self-regulatory organizations
regarding our business, which may result in judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. Although there can be no assurances, at this
time, the Company believes, based on information currently available, that the outcome of any such proceeding, review, inquiry, examination and
investigation will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

  Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures 

        Not applicable
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 PART II 

  Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

Common Stock Data

        Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol "ITG".

        The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of the intra-day high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported on the
NYSE.

        On February 23, 2015, the closing price per share for our common stock as reported on the NYSE was $22.04. On February 23, 2015, we believe that our
common stock was held by approximately 5,416 stockholders of record or through nominees in street name accounts with brokers.

        In May 2013, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 4.0 million shares. In October 2014, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase
of an additional 4.0 million shares. Neither of these authorizations has an expiration date. As of December 31, 2014, there were 4.8 million shares remaining
available for repurchase under ITG's stock repurchase program. The specific timing and amount of repurchases will vary based on market conditions and other
factors.

        During 2014, the Company repurchased approximately 3.0 million shares of our common stock at a cost of approximately $54.4 million, which was
funded from our available cash resources. Of these shares, approximately 2.7 million were purchased under our Board of Directors' authorization for a total
cost of $48.2 million (average cost of $18.03 per share). An additional 0.4 million shares ($6.2 million) pertained solely to the satisfaction of minimum
statutory withholding tax upon the net settlement of equity awards.

        The following table sets forth our stock repurchase activity during 2014, including the total number of shares purchased, the average price paid per share,
the number of shares repurchased as part of a publicly announced plan or program, and the number of shares yet to be purchased under the plan or program.
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  High  Low  
2013:        
First Quarter   12.81  9.12 
Second Quarter   14.64  9.82 
Third Quarter   17.89  14.07 
Fourth Quarter   20.87  14.66 

2014:        
First Quarter   20.79  16.07 
Second Quarter   20.80  15.83 
Third Quarter   19.36  15.55 
Fourth Quarter   21.27  14.65 
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ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Period  

Total Number of
Shares (or Units)

Purchased
(a)  

Average
Price Paid per
Share (or Unit)  

Total Number of
Shares (or Units)

Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs  

Maximum Number
of Shares (or Units)

that May Yet
Be Purchased

Under the Plans or
Programs  

From: January 1,
2014              

To: January 31,
2014   — $ —  —  3,447,440 

From:
February 1,
2014              

To: February 28,
2014   869,072  16.80  560,000  2,887,440 

From: March 1,
2014              

To: March 31,
2014   186,214  18.00  183,800  2,703,640 

From: April 1,
2014              

To: April 30,
2014   1,810  19.55  —  2,703,640 

From: May 1,
2014              

To: May 31,
2014   458,952  18.82  458,600  2,245,040 

From: June 1,
2014              

To: June 30,
2014   314,020  18.25  312,237  1,932,803 

From: July 1,
2014              

To: July 31,
2014   2,051  17.55  —  1,912,803 

From: August 1,
2014              

To: August 31,
2014   303,355  17.76  300,000  1,632,803 

From:
September 1,
2014              

To:
September 30,
2014   223,711  17.06  220,000  1,412,803 

From: October 1,
2014              

To: October 31,
2014   263,277  17.39  225,400  5,187,403 

From:
November 1,
2014

             
To:

November 30,
2014   202,975  19.56  199,500  4,987,903 

From:
December 1,
2014              

To:
December 31,
2014   213,567  19.88  212,100  4,775,803 



        We have not paid a cash dividend to stockholders during any period of time covered by this report. Our current policy, which is reviewed continually, is
to retain earnings to finance the operations and expansion of our businesses and to return capital to stockholders through repurchases. As a result, we are not
currently paying cash dividends on common stock.
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Total   3,039,004 $ 17.90  2,671,637    

(a) This column includes the acquisition of 367,367 shares of common stock from employees in order to satisfy minimum statutory
withholding tax requirements upon settlement of equity awards.
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Performance Graph

        The following line graph compares the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock against the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000
Index and the mean of the NASDAQ Other Finance Index and the AMEX Securities Broker/Dealer Index, for the five-year period ended December 31, 2014.
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  Item 6.    Selected Financial Data 

        The selected Consolidated Statements of Operations data and the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition data presented below for each of the
years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2014, are derived from our consolidated financial statements. Such selected financial data should be read in
connection with the consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

  Item 7.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

        The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto.

Overview

        ITG is an independent execution and research broker that partners with global portfolio managers and traders to provide innovative financial technology
and unique data-driven insights throughout the investment process. From investment decision through to settlement, ITG helps clients understand market
trends, improve performance, mitigate risk and navigate increasingly complex markets. A leader in electronic trading since launching the POSIT crossing
network in 1987, ITG takes a consultative approach in delivering the highest quality institutional liquidity, execution services, analytical tools and
proprietary research. The firm is headquartered in New York with offices in North America, Europe, and the Asia Pacific region.

        Our business is organized into four reportable operating segments (see Note 22, Segment Reporting, to the consolidated financial statements):

• U.S. Operations 

• Canadian Operations
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2014  2013  2012  2011  2010  
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
($ in thousands, except per share amounts)            
Total revenues  $ 559,814 $ 530,801 $ 504,436 $ 572,037 $ 570,754 
Total expenses   494,827  487,746  774,891  778,665  521,421 
Income (loss) before income tax expense

(benefit)   64,987  43,055  (270,455) (206,628) 49,333 
Income tax expense (benefit)   14,095  11,970  (22,596) (26,839) 25,353 
Net income (loss)  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $ (247,859)$ (179,789)$ 23,980 
Basic earnings (loss) per share  $ 1.44 $ 0.84 $ (6.45)$ (4.42)$ 0.56 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ 1.40 $ 0.82 $ (6.45)$ (4.42)$ 0.55 
Basic weighted average number of common

shares outstanding (in millions)   35.3  36.8  38.4  40.7  42.8 
Diluted weighted average number of common

shares outstanding (in millions)   36.4  38.1  38.4  40.7  43.5 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition Data:
($ in thousands)            

            
Total assets  $1,350,849 $1,539,472 $1,492,976 $1,604,332 $1,784,083 
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 275,210 $ 261,897 $ 245,875 $ 284,188 $ 317,010 
Short-term bank loans  $ 78,360 $ 73,539 $ 22,154 $ 1,606 $ — 
Term debt  $ 17,781 $ 30,332 $ 19,272 $ 23,997 $ — 
Total stockholders' equity  $ 415,596 $ 417,432 $ 409,770 $ 671,114 $ 870,068 
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• European Operations 

• Asia Pacific Operations

Our four operating segments provide the following types of products and services:

• Electronic Brokerage—includes self-directed trading by clients using algorithms, smart routing and matching through POSIT in cash equities
(including single stocks and portfolio lists), futures and options 

• Research, Sales and Trading—includes (a) differentiated, unbiased, data-driven equity research through the use of innovative data mining and
analysis, as well as detailed analysis of energy asset plays, and (b) portfolio trading and high-touch trading desks providing execution
expertise and trading ideas based on investment research 

• Platforms—includes trade order and execution management software applications in addition to network connectivity 

• Analytics—includes (a) tools enabling portfolio managers and traders to improve pre-trade and real-time execution performance, (b) portfolio
construction and optimization decisions and (c) securities valuation

Sources of Revenues

        Revenues from our products and services are generated from commissions and fees, recurring (subscriptions) and other sources.

        Commissions and fees are derived primarily from (i) commissions charged for trade execution services, (ii) income generated on net executions, whereby
equity orders are filled at different prices within or at the National Best Bid and Offer ("NBBO") and (iii) commission sharing arrangements between ITG Net
(our private value-added FIX-based financial electronic communications network) and third-party brokers and alternative trading systems whose trading
products are made available to our clients on our order management system ("OMS") and execution management system ("EMS") applications in addition to
commission sharing arrangements for our ITG Single Ticket Clearing Service and our RFQ-hub request-for-quote service. Because commissions are earned on
a per-transaction basis, such revenues fluctuate from period to period depending on (a) the volume of securities traded through our services in the U.S. and
Canada, (b) the contract value of securities traded in Europe and the Asia Pacific region and (c) our commission rates. Certain factors that affect our volumes
and contract values traded include: (i) macro trends in the global equities markets that affect overall institutional equity trading activity, (ii) competitive
pressure, including pricing, created by a proliferation of electronic execution competitors and (iii) potential changes in market structure in the U.S. and other
regions. In addition to share volume, revenues from net executions are also impacted by the width of spreads within the NBBO. Trade orders are delivered to
us from our OMS and EMS products and other vendors' products, direct computer-to-computer links to customers through ITG Net and third-party networks
and phone orders from our customers.

        Recurring revenues are derived from the following primary sources: (i) connectivity fees generated through ITG Net for the ability of the sell-side to
receive orders from, and send indications of interest to, the buy-side and for the sell-side to receive requests-for-quotes through RFQ-hub, (ii) subscription
revenue generated from providing research, (iii) software and analytical products and services and (iv) maintenance and customer technical support for our
OMS.

        Other revenues include: (i) income from principal trading in Canada, including arbitrage trading, (ii) the net spread on foreign exchange transactions
executed on a principal basis to facilitate equity trades by clients in different currencies as well as on other foreign exchange transactions unrelated to equity
trades, (iii) the net interest spread earned on securities borrowed and loaned matched book
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transactions, (iv) transaction advisory services provided to potential purchasers of energy-related investments, (v) non-recurring consulting services, such as
one-time implementation and customer training related activities, (vi) investment and interest income, (vii) interest income on securities borrowed in
connection with customers' settlement activities and (viii) market gains/losses resulting from temporary positions in securities assumed in the normal course
of our agency trading business (including errors and accommodations).

Expenses

        Compensation and employee benefits, our largest expense, consist of salaries and wages, incentive compensation, employee benefits and taxes. Incentive
compensation fluctuates based on revenues, profitability and other measures, taking into account the landscape for key talent. Incentive compensation
includes a combination of cash and deferred share-based awards. Only the cash portion, which represents a lesser portion of our total compensation costs, is
expensed in the current period. As a result, our ratio of compensation expense to revenues may fluctuate from period-to-period based on revenue levels.

        Transaction processing expense consists of costs to access various third-party execution destinations and to process, clear and settle transactions. These
costs tend to fluctuate with share and trade volumes, the mix of trade execution services used by clients and the rates charged by third parties.

        Occupancy and equipment expense consists primarily of rent and utilities related to leased premises, office equipment and depreciation and amortization
of fixed assets and leasehold improvements.

        Telecommunications and data processing expenses primarily consist of costs for obtaining market data, telecommunications services and systems
maintenance.

        Other general and administrative expenses primarily include software amortization, consulting, business development, professional fees and intangible
amortization.

        Interest expense consists primarily of costs associated with outstanding debt and credit facilities.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

        To supplement our financial information presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management uses certain "non-GAAP financial measures" as such
term is defined in SEC Regulation G, to clarify and enhance understanding of past performance and prospects for the future. Generally, a non-GAAP financial
measure is a numerical measure of a company's operating performance, financial position or cash flows that excludes or includes amounts that are included in,
or excluded from, the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. For example, non-GAAP measures may
exclude the impact of certain unique and/or non-operating items such as acquisitions, divestitures, restructuring charges, large write-offs or items outside of
management's control. Management believes that the following non-GAAP financial measures described below provide investors and analysts useful insight
into our financial position and operating performance.

        Adjusted expenses and adjusted net income (loss) together with related per share amounts are non-GAAP performance measures that we believe are useful
to assist investors in gaining an understanding of the trends and operating results for our core business. These measures should be viewed in addition to, and
not in lieu of, results reported under U.S. GAAP.

        Reconciliations of adjusted expenses and adjusted net income to expenses and net income (loss) and related per share amounts as determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP for the years ended
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December 31, 2013 and 2012 are provided below. There were no such adjustments during the year ended December 31, 2014.
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 Non-U.S.

 
 

 ITG Consolidated
   

Year Ended December 31, 2013:  U.S.  Canada  Europe  Asia Pacific  
Total expenses  $ 487,746 $ 302,349 $ 63,553 $ 73,686 $ 48,158 

Less:                 
Restructuring charges(1)   75  1,264  348  (1,537)  — 
Duplicate rent expense(2)   (2,568)  (2,568)  —  —  — 
Office move(3)   (3,910)  (3,910)  —  —  — 

Adjusted expenses  $ 481,343 $ 297,135 $ 63,901 $ 72,149 $ 48,158 
Income tax expense  $ 11,970             

Net effect of adjustments(1)   405             
Adjusted income tax expense  $ 12,375             
Net income  $ 31,085             

Net effect of adjustments   5,998             
Adjusted net income  $ 37,083             
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.82             

Net effect of adjustments   0.15             
Adjusted diluted earnings per share  $ 0.97             

     
 Non-U.S.

 
 

 ITG Consolidated
   

Year Ended December 31, 2012:  U.S.  Canada  Europe  Asia Pacific  
Total expenses  $ 774,891 $ 569,480 $ 66,516 $ 91,616 $ 47,279 

Less:                 
Goodwill and other asset impairment

charge(4)   274,285  245,103  —  28,481  701 
Restructuring charges(1)   9,499  6,798  1,145  615  941 
Duplicate rent expense(2)   1,378  1,378  —  —  — 

Adjusted expenses  $ 489,729 $ 316,201 $ 65,371 $ 62,520 $ 45,637 
Net loss  $ (247,859)             

Net effect of adjustments   256,034             
Adjusted net income  $ 8,175             
Diluted loss per share  $ (6.45)             

Net effect of adjustments   6.66             
Adjusted diluted earnings per share  $ 0.21             

(1) In the second quarter of 2013, we incurred a $1.6 million charge to implement a restructuring plan to close our technology research
and development facility in Israel and migrate that function to an outsourced-service-provider model effective January 1, 2014. This
plan primarily focused on reducing costs by limiting our geographic footprint while maintaining the necessary technological
expertise via a consulting arrangement. This restructuring plan triggered the recognition of a tax charge of $1.6 million in the second
quarter of 2013 associated with the anticipated withdrawal of capital from Israel. We also reduced previously-recorded 2012 and 2011
restructuring accruals of $1.6 million to reflect the sub-lease of previously-vacated office space and certain legal and other
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Executive Summary for the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Consolidated Overview

        Our 2014 results reflect the benefits of the targeted investments we have made in our international capabilities and the enhanced operating efficiency we
have established through a focus on the profitability of our products and services. In 2014, we had significant growth in revenues and profitability in Europe,
ended the year with two consecutive quarters of profitability in Asia Pacific and posted record revenues in Canada during the fourth quarter. Our revenues
grew 5% over 2013 to $559.8 million while our costs of $494.8 million were up only 1% compared to expenses and 3% compared to adjusted expenses in
2013 (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures). Our net income for 2014 was $50.9 million, or $1.40 per diluted share compared to net income of $31.1 million,
or $0.82 per diluted share and adjusted net income of $37.1 million, or $0.97 per diluted share in 2013 (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures). Our annualized
return on average equity for the year was 12.2%, compared to a return of 7.6% for 2013.

        Business conditions in the U.S. remained weak for most of 2014. The average daily combined volume of NYSE- and NASDAQ-listed securities for 2014
was up only 3.7% from the multi-year low in 2013. The weakness was also apparent in domestic equity fund flow activity. Following an improved start to the
year, domestic equity funds continued to see outflows, totaling nearly $60 billion during 2014. On the positive side, during the fourth quarter we saw a surge
in volatility as central bank policies from around the world began to diverge, creating movements in currencies and commodities that triggered volatility in
equity prices and increased volumes.

        While the recent period of higher volatility and increased trading volumes has continued into the early part of 2015, it is unclear whether such activity
will be sustainable over the long term. As a result, our strategy is to continue to expand our business across different asset classes and client constituencies
and to grow our international businesses. Our July acquisition of RFQ-hub, a Paris-based request-for-quote technology platform for global listed and over-
the-counter financial instruments is closely aligned with these strategic goals. We continue to focus on the profitability of our products and services as we
strive to improve our operating model and create flexibility for expansion.

Segment Discussions

        In the U.S., the overall combined average daily market volume of NYSE-and NASDAQ-listed securities for 2014 was 3.7% above the low levels of 2013,
benefitting from a rebound in the fourth quarter. Our average daily trading volumes in the U.S. remained under pressure, falling 3.3% compared to 2013.
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employee-related charges deemed unnecessary. During the fourth quarter of 2012, we incurred a $9.5 million charge to implement a
restructuring plan to reduce operating costs by reducing workforce, market data and other general and administrative costs across our
businesses. The charge consisted entirely of employee separation costs.

(2) During the fourth quarter of 2012, we began to build out and ready our new lower Manhattan headquarters while continuing to
occupy our then-existing headquarters in midtown Manhattan and as a result incurred duplicate rent charges through June 2013. 

(3) In the second quarter of 2013, we moved into our new headquarters and incurred a non-operating charge, which included a reserve for
the remaining lease obligation for the previous midtown Manhattan headquarters. 

(4) In the second quarter of 2012, goodwill with a carrying value of $274.3 million in the U.S. Operations and European Operations
reporting segments was deemed impaired and its fair value was determined to be zero, resulting in a full impairment charge.
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        Our overall revenue earned per share remained at $0.0047, despite a higher proportion of volume from our lower-rate sell-side clients. The proportion of
this lower-rate business increased to 52% versus 50% for 2013, adversely impacting our revenue per share. While we saw lower revenue per share from sell-
side clients, we continued to see improvement in the revenue per share from buy-side clients. The higher revenue per share from buy-side clients was driven
by higher rates for clients' use of our POSIT Alert block crossing system and our high-touch and portfolio trading services. These higher rates were
attributable in part to clients paying for research through trading at a bundled rate. During the year, our energy research capabilities also provided additional
sources of revenue in the form of transaction advisory services provided to potential purchasers of energy-related investments.

        For the year, average daily trading volumes on all Canadian markets increased 9% from 2013 while commissions and fees from our Canadian Operations
were 4% higher in U.S. dollar terms and 12% higher in local currency terms. Overall market trading was particularly strong in the fourth quarter when
volumes increased 33% over the fourth quarter of 2013. Our strong performance for the year was driven in part by significantly higher volumes in MATCH
Now, which were up more than 80% from 2013.

        Our European commission and fees grew by 43% compared to 2013, far outpacing the 16% growth in market-wide trading activity in the region due in
large part to higher trading in POSIT. Our success in Europe reflects the investments we have made in our infrastructure and in our global product
capabilities, including POSIT Alert. Our strong revenue growth together with our continued efforts to manage costs led to an 88% increase in pre-tax income
in comparison to 2013. We continued to make targeted strategic investments during the second half of the year through the acquisition of RFQ-hub and the
expansion of our Paris- and London-based sales teams. While these initiatives have not had a material impact on our results thus far, we expect them to
contribute to profitability in 2015 and beyond.

        In the Asia-Pacific region, we achieved two consecutive quarters of profitability in the second half of 2014 despite incurring $0.5 million in employee
termination charges late in the year to lower our local cost base going forward. Though overall market-wide trading activity in the markets in which we
participate decreased 8%, our commissions and fees in the region grew by 3%, benefitting from the growth in commissions from buy-side clients using our
POSIT Alert block crossing system and from higher commission sharing revenues derived from Triton. POSIT Alert continues to be a key source of growth in
Asia Pacific with value traded having increased for six straight quarters.

Capital Resource Allocation

        During 2014, we repurchased 2.7 million shares for $48.2 million, or $18.03 per share. We intend to continue to use share repurchases to offset dilution
from the issuance of stock under employee compensation plans and to opportunistically return capital to stockholders depending on market conditions. We
may elect to conduct future share repurchases through open market purchases, private transactions or automatic share repurchase programs under SEC
Rule 10b5-1.
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Results of Operations Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013

U.S. Operations

        Commissions and fees decreased due to a 3% reduction in our average daily trading volumes. Although our average revenue per share remained
unchanged year over year at $0.0047, the proportion of average daily volumes executed by lower-priced sell-side clients increased to 52% of our volumes
compared to 50% in 2013, adversely impacting our revenue per share. While we also saw lower revenue per share from sell-side clients, we continued to see
improvement in the revenue per share from buy-side clients. The higher revenue per share from buy-side clients was driven by higher rates for clients' use of
our POSIT Alert block crossing system and our high-touch and portfolio trading services. These higher rates were attributed in part to clients paying for
research through trading at a higher, bundled rate.

        Recurring revenues decreased due to the impact of client attrition from our OMS product, resulting in lower OMS subscription revenues and connectivity
fees, partially offset by higher research subscriptions.

        Other revenues increased primarily due to an increase in transaction advisory services revenues generated by our energy research team. This increase
more than offset a reduction in revenues generated by our stock loan matched book business, which included a gain of $2.5 million in 2013 related to
adjustments to historical dividend withholdings.
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Year Ended

December 31,      
$ in thousands  2014  2013  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 220,567 $ 231,140 $ (10,573)  (5)
Recurring   73,807  76,720  (2,913)  (4)
Other   12,559  10,176  2,383  23 

Total revenues   306,933  318,036  (11,103)  (3)
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   135,498  125,672  9,826  8 
Transaction processing   39,178  41,995  (2,817)  (7)
Other expenses   114,156  133,231  (19,075)  (14)
Restructuring charges   —  (1,264)  1,264  — 
Interest expense   2,322  2,715  (393)  (14)

Total expenses   291,154  302,349  (11,195)  (4)
Income before income tax expense  $ 15,779 $ 15,687 $ 92  1 

  
Year Ended

December 31,      
U.S. Operations: Key Indicators*  2014  2013  Change  % Change  
Total trading volume (in billions of shares)   40.9  42.4  (1.5)  (4)
Average trading volume per day (in millions of shares)   162.5  168.1  (5.6)  (3)
Average revenue per share  $ 0.0047 $ 0.0047 $ —  — 
U.S. market trading days   252  252  —  — 

* Excludes activity from ITG Net commission share arrangements.
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        Total expenses in 2014 decreased $11.2 million compared to 2013. In 2013, we incurred $2.6 million of duplicate rent charges associated with the build
out of our new headquarters in lower Manhattan while we still occupied our then-existing headquarters in midtown Manhattan and $3.9 million related to our
office move, including a reserve for the remaining lease obligation. This was partially offset by a $1.3 million reversal of previously-recorded 2012 and 2011
restructuring liabilities as a portion of the space vacated in our Los Angeles office was sub-let and certain legal and other employee-related accruals were
deemed unnecessary. Total expenses declined $6.0 million compared to 2013 excluding these charges (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures).

        Compensation and employee benefits increased as a result of headcount increases and from higher incentive-based compensation to our management
team associated with increased global profitability. Deferred stock-based compensation expense associated with awards granted for the 2014 and 2013 fiscal
years to U.S. employees is expected to increase by approximately $2 million in 2015.

        Transaction processing costs declined more than the decrease in commissions and fees due to lower options volumes, which incur higher costs
proportionally than our cash equity trading and lower execution costs from client use of our algorithm technology. As a percentage of commissions and fees,
transaction processing costs declined to 17.8% from 18.2% during 2013.

        Other expenses decreased $19.1 million, of which $6.5 million represented the impact of the duplicate rent charges and office move expenses incurred
during the prior-year period as described above. In addition, we (a) incurred lower data center, data and connectivity expenses from our cost reduction
initiatives, (b) had lower depreciation, software amortization and consulting fees, (c) reduced our bad debt reserves. There was also a higher credit for research
and development costs charged to other segments. These reductions were partially offset by an increase in employee recruiting and legal fees.

        In the second quarter of 2013, previously-recorded restructuring accruals from 2012 and 2011 were adjusted to reflect our then-current expectations.

        Interest expense primarily relates to interest costs on our term debt and commitment fees relating to our $150 million revolving credit facility, including
debt issuance cost amortization.

Canadian Operations
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2014  2013  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 59,992 $ 57,507 $ 2,485  4 
Recurring   9,575  9,294  281  3 
Other   8,526  8,193  333  4 

Total revenues   78,093  74,994  3,099  4 
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   23,901  25,929  (2,028)  (8)
Transaction processing   9,710  10,691  (981)  (9)
Other expenses   27,753  27,281  472  2 
Restructuring charges   —  (348)  348  100 

Total expenses   61,364  63,553  (2,189)  (3)
Income before income tax expense  $ 16,729 $ 11,441 $ 5,288  46 
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        Currency translation from a weaker Canadian Dollar decreased total Canadian revenues and expenses by $5.2 million and $3.8 million, respectively,
resulting in a decrease of $1.4 million to pre-tax income.

        Canadian commissions and fees increased $2.5 million despite an unfavorable currency translation of $4.0 million, principally due to the growth in
MATCH Now volumes of more than 80%.

        Recurring revenues increased due to a higher number of billable network connections through ITG Net and our billing for market data consumed by
clients.

        Other revenues increased slightly due to an increase in income earned on foreign exchange transactions and principal arbitrage trading, partially offset
by losses on client accommodations and the impact of currency translation.

        Compensation and employee benefits costs decreased 8% primarily due to a decrease in share-based compensation, which fluctuates for legacy awards to
Canadian employees based on the changes in the market price of our stock and the impact of currency translation, partially offset by an increase in incentive-
based compensation related to increased profitability.

        Transaction processing costs decreased due to lower rates for clearing and settlement from contract renegotiation with our clearing provider, lower
execution costs as a higher percentage of our volume was executed in MATCH Now and the impact of currency translation. As a percentage of commission
and fees, transaction processing costs declined to 16.2% from 18.6% in 2013.

        The increase in other expenses was primarily driven by higher charges for historical market data and legal-related expenses, partially offset by lower
connectivity expenses as well as the impact of currency translation.

        In the second quarter of 2013, previously-recorded restructuring accruals from 2012 and 2011 were adjusted to reflect our then-current expectations.

European Operations

        Currency translation from a stronger average British Pound increased European revenues and expenses by $6.8 million and $5.2 million, respectively,
adding $1.6 million to pre-tax income.

        European results include substantially all the RFQ-hub operations since the July 30, 2014 acquisition date, adding $2.0 million in revenues, mostly
recurring, and $2.5 million in expenses.
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2014  2013  Change  % Change  
Revenues              

Commissions and fees  $ 113,989 $ 79,639 $ 34,350  43 
Recurring   13,924  12,508  1,416  11 
Other   (350)  (355)  5  (1)

Total revenues   127,563  91,792  35,771  39 
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   35,977  30,216  5,761  19 
Transaction processing   26,796  19,567  7,229  37 
Other expenses   30,786  22,366  8,420  38 
Restructuring charges   —  1,537  (1,537)  (100)

Total expenses   93,559  73,686  19,873  27 
Income before income tax expense  $ 34,004 $ 18,106 $ 15,898  88 
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        Our European commissions and fees grew 43% in 2014 as compared to 2013, far outpacing the 16% growth in market-wide value traded. We are
continuing to benefit from the investments we have made in our infrastructure and our product suite resulting in increased activity from buy-side and sell-
side clients using our electronic brokerage offerings, including our trading algorithms and POSIT, and from clients using our POSIT Alert block crossing
system. We also saw increased commissions from the use of our high-touch trading services. Commissions and fees also benefitted from $5.9 million in
favorable currency translation.

        Recurring revenues increased primarily from the new connectivity revenue from RFQ-hub.

        Compensation and employee benefits increased due to higher incentive-based compensation related to improved performance, increase in headcount,
including employees from the RFQ-hub acquisition, and the impact of the unfavorable currency translation of $1.7 million. This increase was offset, in part,
by $3.1 million in lower compensation associated with the outsourcing of our research and development facility in Israel to a third-party service provider.
Deferred stock-based compensation expense associated with awards granted for the 2014 and 2013 fiscal years to European employees is expected to increase
by approximately $2 million in 2015.

        Transaction processing costs increased due to the significant increase in value traded. However, transaction processing costs declined as a percentage of
commissions and fees to 23.5% from 24.6% in 2013 due to the impact of a higher percentage of our value traded crossed in POSIT, including our POSIT Alert
block crossing system, and our initiatives to reduce settlement and clearing costs.

        Other expenses increased due to higher charges for (a) global research and development costs, (b) historical market data, (c) consulting costs, net of
capitalization, attributable to the outsourcing of our research and development facility in Israel to a third-party service provider, (d) marketing costs and due
to the additional costs added by RFQ-hub.

Asia Pacific Operations

        Currency translation from a weaker Australian Dollar decreased total Asia Pacific revenues and expenses both by $1.3 million, resulting in no impact on
our pre-tax loss.

        Asia Pacific commissions and fees increased despite a reduction in market-wide trading activity and unfavorable currency translation due to the growth
in commissions from clients using our POSIT Alert block crossing system and algorithmic trading capabilities as well as from higher commission-sharing
revenues.
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2014  2013  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 41,624 $ 40,333 $ 1,291  3 
Recurring   6,488  5,650  838  15 
Other   (887)  (4)  (883)  NA 

Total revenues   47,225  45,979  1,246  3 
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   20,382  19,437  945  5 
Transaction processing   10,716  11,539  (823)  (7)
Other expenses   17,652  17,182  470  3 

Total expenses   48,750  48,158  592  1 
Loss before income tax benefit  $ (1,525) $ (2,179) $ 654  (30)
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        The growth in recurring revenues primarily reflects growth in the number of billable network connections through ITG Net and the decrease in other
revenues is due to higher client trade accommodations, which totaled $1.2 million in 2014, compared to $0.3 million in 2013.

        Compensation and employee benefits increased due to increases in headcount and employee termination charges, partially offset by higher capitalized
compensation for software development and favorable currency translation.

        Transaction processing costs decreased due to a reduction in value traded and our efforts to reduce execution and settlement costs. As a percentage of
commissions and fees, transaction processing costs declined to 25.7% from 28.6% in 2013.

        The increase in other expenses reflects higher charges for historical market data and global research and development, as well as increases in hardware
and software maintenance and connectivity, partially offset by reductions in market data costs and lower foreign exchange transaction losses.

Consolidated income tax expense

        Our effective tax rate was 21.7% for 2014 compared to 27.8% for 2013. The low rate in both periods is the result of a significantly higher proportion of
our pre-tax income arising from our European Operations, which is taxed at a lower rate. Additionally, in the U.S. we recorded a $2.7 million tax benefit in
2014 for the net impact of settling multi-year tax return positions and establishing additional reserves for other tax positions. In 2013, our effective tax rate
was favorably impacted by the resolution of a tax contingency in Europe and the recognition of the full-year 2012 research and experimentation credit in the
U.S. during the first quarter of 2013 due to the timing of tax legislation. Our consolidated effective tax rate can vary from period to period depending on,
among other factors, the geographic and business mix of our earnings.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012

U.S. Operations

        Commissions and fees remained flat as a 7% reduction in our average daily trading volumes was offset by a 7% increase in our average revenue per share
to $0.0047. The increase in our average revenue per share was primarily attributable to increased use of our POSIT Alert block crossing system
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2013  2012  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 231,140 $ 231,197 $ (57)  — 
Recurring   76,720  82,766  (6,046)  (7)
Other   10,176  7,416  2,760  37 

Total revenues   318,036  321,379  (3,343)  (1)
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   125,672  128,458  (2,786)  (2)
Transaction processing   41,995  45,225  (3,230)  (7)
Other expenses   133,231  141,354  (8,123)  (6)
Goodwill and other asset impairment   —  245,103  (245,103)  (100)
Restructuring charges   (1,264)  6,798  (8,062)  (119)
Interest expense   2,715  2,542  173  7 

Total expenses   302,349  569,480  (267,131)  (47)
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)  $ 15,687 $ (248,101) $ 263,788  106 
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as well as more clients paying for research through trading at a higher bundled rate. The proportion of our average daily volume from sell-side clients
remained relatively constant at 50% for both 2013 and 2012.

        Recurring revenues decreased 7% reflecting the impact of client attrition from our OMS product, which resulted in lower OMS subscription revenues and
connectivity fees, as well as lower research subscription revenues.

        Other revenues increased 37% due primarily to an increase in revenues generated by our stock loan matched book business, which included a gain of
$2.5 million related to adjustments to historical dividend withholdings.

        Total expenses for 2013 of $302.3 million include duplicate rent charges of $2.6 million associated with the build out of our new headquarters in lower
Manhattan while we still occupied our then-current headquarters in midtown Manhattan, $3.9 million related to our office move and a $1.3 million reversal
of previously-recorded 2012 and 2011 restructuring liabilities. Total expenses for 2012 of $569.5 million include a goodwill impairment charge of
$245.1 million, restructuring charges of $6.8 million and duplicate rent charges of $1.4 million. Excluding these items, adjusted expenses decreased 6% in
2013 to $297.1 million compared to $316.2 million in 2012 (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures).

        Compensation and employee benefits decreased from a reduction in headcount largely attributable to our restructuring in 2012, partially offset by higher
incentive-based compensation costs associated with improved profitability in 2013.

        Transaction processing costs decreased due to the lower level of trading volumes. As a percentage of commissions and fees, transaction processing costs
declined due primarily to the increased revenue per share described above.

        Other expenses decreased $8.1 million despite an increase of $1.2 million in duplicate rent charges associated with the build-out of our new headquarters
in lower Manhattan and the $3.9 million charge we incurred upon completion of the move, which includes a reserve for the remaining lease obligations at our
previous headquarters. This decrease was attributable to lower market data and connectivity costs resulting from our cost reduction initiatives, lower
marketing costs due to our 2012 rebranding efforts, lower software amortization and a reduction of bad debt reserves from improved collection efforts. These
reductions were partially offset by a reduced credit for research and development costs charged to other regional segments.

        In 2012, we recorded goodwill impairment charges of $245.1 million, reflecting the weakness in institutional trading volumes which resulted in lower
estimated future cash flows of the U.S. Operations reporting segment, and a decline in industry market multiples (see Critical Accounting Estimates).

        In the second quarter of 2013, previously-recorded 2012 and 2011 restructuring accruals were reduced to reflect the sub-lease of previously-vacated
office space in Los Angeles and certain legal and other employee-related charges deemed unnecessary.
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Year Ended

December 31,      
U.S. Operations: Key Indicators*  2013  2012  Change  % Change  
Total trading volume (in billions of shares)   42.4  45.4  (3.0)  (7)
Average trading volume per day (in millions of shares)   168.1  181.6  (13.5)  (7)
Average revenue per share  $ 0.0047 $ 0.0044 $ 0.0003  7 
U.S. market trading days   252  250  2  1 

* Excludes activity from ITG Derivatives and ITG Net commission-sharing arrangements.
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        Interest expense incurred in 2013 and 2012 primarily relates to interest cost on our term debt and commitment fees relating to the three-year,
$150 million revolving credit agreement we entered into in January 2011, including debt issuance cost amortization.

Canadian Operations

        Currency translation decreased total Canadian revenues and expenses by $2.1 million and $1.8 million, respectively, resulting in a $0.3 million
reduction to pre-tax income.

        Canadian commissions and fees declined 7%, primarily due to lower revenue from high-touch desk trading services and from unfavorable currency
translation, offset in part by an increase in activity from clients using our electronic brokerage services.

        Recurring revenues increased slightly due to an increase in the number of billable connections through ITG Net and from our billing for market data
consumed by clients, offset by lower research subscription revenues.

        Other revenues increased as a result of additional income earned on foreign exchange transactions and on principal trading, as well as from lower trading
errors and client trade accommodations.

        Compensation and employee benefits costs increased primarily due to an increase in share-based compensation, partially offset by a decrease from
reduced headcount. The increase in share-based compensation related to the impact of an increase in the price of our stock on legacy awards settled in cash.

        Transaction processing costs decreased due to the impact of lower execution costs on lower volumes and the elimination of an accrual for sales tax on
exchange fees due to the resolution of a contingency, offset in part by higher clearing and settlement charges due to an increase in the number of trade tickets
settled.

        The decrease in other expenses was primarily driven by lower data-center-related costs following our migration to a new location, lower consulting and
market data costs from our cost reduction efforts and lower research and development costs.

        In the second quarter of 2013, previously-recorded restructuring accruals were adjusted to reflect our current expectations. Restructuring charges in 2012
include costs related to employee separation.
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2013  2012  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 57,507 $ 61,776 $ (4,269)  (7)
Recurring   9,294  9,117  177  2 
Other   8,193  6,020  2,173  36 

Total revenues   74,994  76,913  (1,919)  (2)
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   25,929  22,795  3,134  14 
Transaction processing   10,691  11,584  (893)  (8)
Other expenses   27,281  30,992  (3,711)  (12)
Restructuring charges   (348)  1,145  (1,493)  (130)

Total expenses   63,553  66,516  (2,963)  (4)
Income before income tax expense  $ 11,441 $ 10,397 $ 1,044  10 
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European Operations

        Currency translation decreased total European revenues and expenses by $1.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, resulting in a $0.8 million
reduction to pre-tax income.

        European commissions and fees increased 46%, far outpacing the 9% growth in market-wide trading activity due primarily to the impact from the
investments we made in our infrastructure and our products helping us expand our client base. This has led to increased activity from buy-side and sell-side
clients using our electronic brokerage offerings, including our trading algorithms and POSIT, and from clients using our POSIT Alert block crossing system.

        Recurring and other revenue declined due to the cancellation of OMS subscriptions and an increase in trading errors and client trade accommodations,
which totaled $0.5 million in 2013, compared to $0.4 million in 2012.

        Compensation and employee benefits expense increased due primarily to increased incentive-based compensation related to improved performance.

        Transaction processing costs increased 29% due to the significantly higher value traded in 2013, but fell as a percentage of commissions and fees due to
the impact of a higher percentage of our value traded crossed in POSIT and our initiatives to reduce settlement and clearing costs.

        Other expenses increased 5% due primarily to increases in market data costs and facility costs relating to our new London office and London data center
partially offset by lower research and development costs.

        In the second quarter of 2012, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $28.5 million reflecting the continued weakness in institutional trading
activity experienced in 2012, which resulted in lower estimated future cash flows for the European Operations reporting segment (see Critical Accounting
Estimates).

        In the second quarter of 2013, we implemented a restructuring plan to close our technology research and development facility in Israel and outsource
that function to a third-party service provider effective January 1, 2014. Restructuring charges in 2012 include costs related to employee separation.
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2013  2012  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 79,639 $ 54,390 $ 25,249  46 
Recurring   12,508  12,971  (463)  (4)
Other   (355)  (95)  (260)  (274)

Total revenues   91,792  67,266  24,526  36 
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   30,216  26,085  4,131  16 
Transaction processing   19,567  15,156  4,411  29 
Other expenses   22,366  21,279  1,087  5 
Goodwill and other asset impairment   —  28,481  (28,481)  (100)
Restructuring charges   1,537  615  922  150 

Total expenses   73,686  91,616  (17,930)  (20)
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)  $ 18,106 $ (24,350) $ 42,456  174 
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Asia Pacific Operations

        Currency translation decreased total Asia Pacific revenues and expenses by $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, resulting in a $0.1 million
increase to our pre-tax loss.

        Asia Pacific commissions and fees increased 20% over the prior year period primarily due to strong order flow by U.S. clients and local Asian clients
trading into Japan, Korea and Hong Kong.

        The growth in recurring revenues primarily reflects growth in the number of billable network connections through ITG Net. The decrease in other
revenues is due primarily to lower investment income and higher trading errors and client trade accommodations, which totaled $0.3 million in 2013,
compared to $0.2 million in 2012.

        Compensation and employee benefits increased slightly due to an increase in incentive-based compensation related to improved performance.

        Transaction processing costs increased due to the higher value of securities traded and a higher proportion of our trades executed in Japan where costs
are higher.

        The slight increase in other expenses reflects the additional connectivity and market data fees related to business growth and higher rental expenses for
our Hong Kong office, partially offset by lower research and development costs.

        In the second quarter of 2012, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $0.7 million reflecting the continued weakness in institutional trading
volumes (see Critical Accounting Estimates). Restructuring charges in 2012 primarily include costs related to employee separation.

Consolidated Income Tax Expense

        Our effective tax rate was 27.8% on our pre-tax income in 2013 compared to 8.4% on our pre-tax loss in 2012. In 2013, our low effective tax rate was
favorably impacted by a higher proportion of earnings coming from our European Operations, where we incur lower tax rates, together with the resolution of a
tax contingency in Europe and the recognition of the full year 2012 research and experimentation credit in the U.S. during the first quarter of 2013 due to the
timing of tax legislation. These reductions to our effective tax rate were partially offset by increases associated with the lack of a deduction on the
restructuring charge related to closing the Israel technology research and development facility and the tax charges associated with the anticipated withdrawal
of capital from Israel. The low rate in 2012 was primarily attributable to the significant impairment charges in the U.S.,
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  Year Ended December 31,      
$ in thousands  2013  2012  Change  % Change  
Revenues:              

Commissions and fees  $ 40,333 $ 33,613 $ 6,720  20 
Recurring   5,650  4,913  737  15 
Other   (4)  352  (356)  (101)

Total revenues   45,979  38,878  (7,101)  18 
Expenses:              

Compensation and employee benefits   19,437  19,024  413  2 
Transaction processing   11,539  9,208  2,331  25 
Other expenses   17,182  17,405  (223)  (1)
Goodwill and other asset impairment   —  701  (701)  (100)
Restructuring charges   —  941  (941)  (100)

Total expenses   48,158  47,279  879  2 
Loss before income tax expense  $ (2,179) $ (8,401) $ 6,222  74 
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Europe and Asia Pacific, which were either partially or fully non-deductible. Furthermore, 2012 was favorably impacted by a net benefit recorded of
$0.9 million following the resolution in the U.S. of a state tax contingency.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

        Our primary source of liquidity is cash provided by operations. Our liquidity requirements result from our working capital needs, which include clearing
and settlement activities, as well as our regulatory capital needs. A substantial portion of our assets is liquid, consisting of cash and cash equivalents or assets
readily convertible into cash. Cash is principally invested in U.S. government money market mutual funds and other money market mutual funds. At
December 31, 2014, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaled $275.2 million. Included in this amount is $122.3 million of cash and cash equivalents
held by subsidiaries outside the United States. Due to our current capital structure, we currently do not foresee a need to repatriate funds from certain foreign
subsidiaries to the U.S. by way of dividends. Should we need to do so in the future, our effective tax rate may increase.

        As a self-clearing broker-dealer in the U.S., we are subject to cash deposit requirements with clearing organizations that may be large in relation to total
liquid assets and may fluctuate significantly based upon the nature and size of customers' trading activity and market volatility. At December 31, 2014, we
had interest-bearing security deposits totaling $36.4 million with clearing organizations in the U.S. for the settlement of equity trades. In the normal course of
our U.S. settlement activities, we may also need to temporarily finance customer securities positions from short settlements or delivery failures. These
financings may be funded from existing cash resources, borrowings under stock loan transactions or short-term bank loans under our committed facility. In
January 2014, we entered into a new $150 million two-year revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of banks and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as
administrative agent to finance these temporary positions and to satisfy temporary spikes in clearing margin requirements.

        We self-clear equity trades in Hong Kong and Australia and maintain restricted cash deposits of $25.8 million to support overdraft facilities. In Europe,
we maintain $31.7 million in restricted cash deposits primarily supporting working capital facilities in the form of overdraft protection for our European
clearing and settlement needs.

Capital Resources

        Capital resource requirements relate to capital purchases, as well as business investments, and are generally funded from operations. When required, as in
the case of a major acquisition, our strong cash generating ability has historically allowed us to access U.S. capital markets.
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Operating Activities

        The table below summarizes the effect of the major components of operating cash flow.

        The cash flow provided by operating activities for 2014 was driven by an increase in net income, an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
primarily from the build-up of accrued bonuses and a decrease in deposits held by clearing organizations. These increases to cash were offset by an increase
in cash used for settlement activities. The decrease in deposits with clearing organizations was offset by a $35.0 million repayment in short-term bank loans
in the U.S., while the increase in cash used in settlement activities was offset by an increase of $39.8 million in international short-term bank loans. The net
change of $4.8 million in short-term bank loan financing is included in financing activities below.

        In the normal course of our clearing and settlement activities worldwide, cash is typically used to fund restricted or segregated cash accounts (under
regulations and other), broker and customer fails to deliver/receive, securities borrowed, deposits with clearing organizations and net activity related to
receivables/payables from/to customers and brokers. The cash requirements vary from day to day depending on volume transacted and customer trading
patterns.

Investing Activities

        Net cash used in investing activities of $61.1 million includes our acquisition of RFQ-hub, investments in software development projects, computer
hardware and software and a minority interest investment.

Financing Activities

        Net cash used in financing activities of $62.0 million primarily reflects repurchases of ITG common stock, shares withheld for net settlements of share-
based awards and repayments of long-term debt, offset by net proceeds from short-term bank borrowings that are used to support our settlement activities.

        On January 31, 2014, ITG Inc. as borrower, and Investment Technology Group, Inc. as guarantor entered into a new $150 million two-year revolving
credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with a syndicate of banks and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The Credit Agreement
includes an accordion feature that allows for potential expansion of the facility up to $225 million. The terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement are
substantially the same as the initial Credit Agreement that matured on January 31, 2014.

        During 2014, the Company repurchased approximately 3.0 million shares of our common stock at a cost of approximately $54.4 million, which was
funded from our available cash resources. Of these shares, approximately 2.7 million were purchased under our Board of Directors' authorization for a total
cost of $48.2 million (average cost of $18.03 per share). An additional 0.4 million shares ($6.2 million) pertained solely to the satisfaction of minimum
statutory withholding tax upon the net
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  Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)  2014  2013  2012  
Net income (loss)  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $ (247,859)
Non-cash items included in net income (loss)   62,478  78,220  321,199 
Effect of changes in receivables/payables from/to customers and brokers   (34,627)  (25,274)  (32,563)
Effect of changes in other working capital and operating assets and liabilities   63,797  (38,839)  (13,985)
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 142,540 $ 45,192 $ 26,792 
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settlement of equity awards. On October 15, 2014, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 4.0 million shares, bringing the total
number of shares available for repurchase at that time to 5.4 million shares. This additional authorization has no expiration date. As of December 31, 2014,
the total remaining number of shares currently available for repurchase under ITG's stock repurchase program was 4.8 million. The specific timing and
amount of repurchases will vary based on market conditions and other factors. We may elect to conduct future share repurchases through open market
purchases, private transactions or automatic share repurchase programs under SEC Rule 10b5-1.

Regulatory Capital

        ITG Inc., AlterNet and ITG Derivatives are subject to the SEC's Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15c3-1), which requires the maintenance of minimum net
capital. ITG Inc. has elected to use the alternative method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that ITG Inc. maintain minimum net capital equal to the
greater of $1.0 million or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from customer transactions, as defined. AlterNet and ITG Derivatives have elected to use the
basic method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that they each maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of 62/3% of aggregate indebtedness
or $100,000 and $1.0 million, respectively. Dividends or withdrawals of capital cannot be made if capital is needed to comply with regulatory requirements.

        Net capital balances and the amounts in excess of required net capital at December 31, 2014 for the U.S. Operations are as follows (dollars in millions):

        As of December 31, 2014, ITG Inc. had $10.1 million of cash in a Special Reserve Bank Account for the benefit of customers under the Customer
Protection Rule pursuant to SEC Rule 15c3-3, Computation for Determination of Reserve Requirements and $1.0 million under agreements for proprietary
accounts of broker-dealers.

        In addition, the Company's Canadian, European and Asia Pacific Operations have subsidiaries with regulatory capital requirements. The regulatory net
capital balances and amount of regulatory capital in excess of the minimum requirements applicable to each business at December 31, 2014, is summarized in
the following table (dollars in millions):

Liquidity and Capital Resource Outlook

        Historically, our working capital, stock repurchase and investment activity requirements have been funded from cash from operations and short-term
loans, with the exception of strategic acquisitions, which at times have required long-term financing. We believe that our cash flow from operations,
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U.S. Operations  Net Capital  Excess  
ITG Inc.  $ 99.8 $ 98.8 
AlterNet   5.5  5.3 
ITG Derivatives   2.4  1.4 

Canadian Operations  Net Capital  Excess  
Canada  $ 36.8 $ 36.4 

European Operations        
Ireland   63.2  39.0 
U.K.   3.9  3.0 

Asia Pacific Operations        
Australia   12.3  8.2 
Hong Kong   26.8  14.1 
Singapore   0.4  0.2 
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existing cash balances and our available credit facilities will be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating cash and regulatory capital needs, while also
complying with the terms of our Credit Agreement. However, our ability to borrow additional funds may be inhibited by financial lending institutions' ability
or willingness to lend to us on commercially acceptable terms.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations

        We are a member of various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and clearing houses that trade and clear, respectively, equities and/or derivative contracts.
Associated with our membership, we may be required to pay a proportionate share of financial obligations of another member who may default on its
obligations to the exchanges or the clearing house. While the rules governing different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general, our
guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange had previously exhausted its resources. The maximum potential payout under these memberships
cannot be estimated. We have not recorded any contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these agreements and believe that any
potential requirement to make payments under these agreements is remote.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

        As of December 31, 2014, our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments amounted to $190.5 million in the aggregate and consisted of
the following (dollars in millions):

        The above information excludes $14.4 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits discussed in Note 9, Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial
statements because it is not possible to estimate the time period when, or if, it might be paid to tax authorities.

        As part of the $150 million, two-year credit agreement we entered into on January 31, 2014, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.50% on any
unborrowed amounts.

New Accounting Pronouncements

        In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, ("ASU 2014-09"),
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The standard provides companies with a single model for use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers and supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific revenue guidance. The core principle of the model is to
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Application of the new guidance involves five steps: (1) identifying contracts with customers;
(2) identifying the separate performance obligations within the contracts; (3) determining the transaction price; (4) allocating the
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  Payments due by period  

Contractual obligations  Total  
Less than

1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  
More than

5 years  
Purchase of goods and services  $ 42,292 $ 32,957 $ 9,335 $ — $ — 
Long-term debt   2,653  2,653  —  —  — 
Capital lease obligations   15,128  6,167  5,692  3,269  — 
Operating lease obligations   125,056  17,214  24,779  17,618  65,445 
Minimum payments under certain employment

arrangements(a)   5,363  5,231  28  28  76 
Total  $ 190,492 $ 64,222 $ 39,832 $ 20,915 $ 65,521 

(a) Pursuant to employment arrangements, in the event of termination of employment without cause on December 31, 2014, we would be
obligated to pay separation payments totaling $5.4 million.
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transaction price to the separate performance obligations; and (5) recognizing revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied. ASU 2014-09
applies to all contracts with customers except those that are within the scope of other topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The standard
will also require significant additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures describing the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenues. The new
guidance is effective for annual reporting periods (including interim periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2016 for public companies.
Early adoption is not permitted. Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or modified approach to adopt ASU 2014-09. We are currently
evaluating the new guidance and have not yet selected a transition method nor have we determined the impact of adoption on our financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

        Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. In
many instances, the application of such principles requires management to make estimates or to apply subjective principles to particular facts and
circumstances. A change in the estimates or a variance in the application, or interpretation of accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. could yield
a materially different accounting result. Below is a summary of our critical accounting estimates where we believe that the estimations, judgments or
interpretations that we made, if different, would have yielded the most significant differences in our consolidated financial statements. In addition, for a
summary of all of our significant accounting policies see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Goodwill Impairment: Testing Methodology and Valuation Considerations

        We obtained goodwill and intangible assets as a result of the acquisitions of subsidiaries. Goodwill represents the excess of the cost over the fair market
value of net assets acquired. We are required to periodically assess whether any of our goodwill is impaired. In order to do this, we apply judgment in
determining our reporting units, which represent our business segments. Our annual goodwill impairment assessment involves assessing qualitative factors to
determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less
than its carrying amount. If the results of our qualitative analysis suggests that the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, additional steps
are required to calculate a potential impairment loss using a two-step impairment test. The two-step impairment testing process is as follows:

• Step one—the fair value of each reporting unit is compared to its carrying value in order to identify potential impairment. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of its net assets, goodwill is not considered impaired and no further testing is required. If the carrying
value of the net assets exceeds the fair value of a reporting unit, potential impairment is indicated at the reporting unit level and step two of
the impairment test is performed in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill and measure the potential
impairment loss. 

• Step two—when potential impairment is indicated in step one, we compare the implied fair value of goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. Determining the implied fair value of goodwill requires a valuation of the reporting unit's tangible and (non-goodwill) intangible
assets and liabilities in a manner similar to the allocation of the purchase price in a business combination. Any excess in the value of a
reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is referred to as the implied fair value of goodwill. If the carrying amount
of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that
excess.
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Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

        Intangible assets with definite useful lives are subject to amortization and are evaluated for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that an intangible asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. If such an event or
change occurs, we estimate cash flows directly associated with the use of the intangible asset to test its recoverability and assess its remaining useful life. The
projected cash flows require assumptions related to revenue growth, operating margins and other relevant market, economic and regulatory factors. If the
expected undiscounted future cash flows from the use and eventual disposition of a finite-lived intangible asset or asset group are not sufficient to recover the
carrying value of the asset, we then compare the carrying amount to its current fair value. We estimate the fair value using market prices for similar assets, if
available, or by using a discounted cash flow model. We then recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its fair
value. While we believe our assumptions are reasonable, changes in these assumptions may have a material impact on our financial results.

Share-Based Compensation

        In accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, share-based payment transactions require the application of a fair value
methodology that involves various assumptions. The fair value of options awarded is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model that uses the following assumptions: expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility of our common stock price and expected
dividend yield. We estimate the expected life of the options using historical data and the volatility of our common stock is estimated based on a combination
of the historical volatility and the implied volatility from traded options. The fair value of restricted share awards with a market condition is estimated on the
date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. A Monte Carlo simulation is an iterative technique designed to estimate future payouts by taking into
account our current stock price, the volatility of our common stock, risk-free rates, and a risk-neutral valuation methodology.

        Although both models meet the requirements of ASC 718, the fair values generated by the model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of the
underlying awards, as it does not consider other factors important to those share-based compensation awards, such as continued employment, periodic
vesting requirements and limited transferability.

Fair Value

        Securities owned, at fair value, and securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition are carried at
fair value or amounts that approximate fair value, with the related unrealized gains or losses recognized in our results of operations. The fair value of these
instruments is the amount at which these instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced liquidation.
Where available, we use the prices from independent sources such as listed market prices or broker/dealer quotations. For investments in illiquid and
privately held securities that do not have readily determinable fair values, we use estimated fair values as determined by management.

Income Taxes and Uncertain Tax Positions

        ASC 740, Income Taxes, establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for the effect of income taxes. The objectives of accounting for income
taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of
events that have been recognized in an entity's financial statements or tax returns. A valuation allowance may be recorded against deferred tax assets if it is
more likely than not that those
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assets will not be realized. Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or
tax returns. Fluctuations in the actual outcome of these future tax consequences could materially impact our financial position or results of operations.

        We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by
the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured
based on the largest benefit for each such position that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. We consider
many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax benefits. Such estimates involve interpretations of regulations, rulings, case law, etc.
and are inherently complex. Our estimates may require periodic adjustments and may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes as resolution of income tax
treatments in individual jurisdictions typically would not be known for several years after completion of any fiscal year. The impact of our reassessment of
uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 did not have a material impact on the results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

  Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

        Market risk refers to the potential for adverse changes in the value of a company's financial instruments as a result of changes in market conditions. We
are exposed to market risk associated with changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and equity prices. We do not hold financial instruments
for trading purposes on a long-term basis. We continually evaluate our exposure to market risk and oversee the establishment of policies, procedures and
controls to ensure that market risks are identified and analyzed on an ongoing basis.

        We have performed sensitivity analyses on different tests of market risk as described in the following sections to estimate the impacts of a hypothetical
change in market conditions on the U.S. Dollar value of non-U.S. Dollar-based revenues associated with our Canadian, European and Asia Pacific Operations.
Estimated potential losses assume the occurrence of certain adverse market conditions. Such estimates do not consider the potential effect of favorable
changes in market factors and also do not represent management's expectations of projected losses in fair value. We do not foresee any significant changes in
the strategies we use to manage interest rate risk, foreign currency risk or equity price risk in the near future.

Interest Rate Risk

        Our exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to interest-sensitive financial instruments in our investment portfolio and our revolving credit facility
as well as our variable rate term debt. Given that our $150 million credit facility is specifically earmarked for limited short-term borrowings to support U.S.
brokerage clearing operations, the impact of any adverse change in interest rates on this facility should not be material. Similarly, because only a small
portion of our term debt is subject to a variable rate, the impact of any adverse change in interest rates should not be material. Interest-sensitive financial
instruments in our investment portfolio will decline in value if interest rates increase. Our interest-bearing investment portfolio primarily consists of short-
term, high-credit-quality money market mutual funds. The aggregate fair market value of our portfolio including restricted cash was $321.8 million and
$320.0 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Our interest-bearing investments are not insured and, because of the short-term high quality
nature of the investments, are not likely to fluctuate significantly in market value.

Foreign Currency Risk

        We currently operate and continue to expand globally, principally through our operations in Canada, Europe and Asia Pacific as well as through the
development of specially tailored versions of
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our services to meet the needs of our clients who trade in international markets. Our investments and development activities in these countries expose us to
currency exchange rate fluctuations primarily between the U.S. Dollar and the British Pound Sterling, Euro, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar and Hong
Kong Dollar. When the U.S. Dollar strengthens against these currencies, the U.S. Dollar value of non-U.S. Dollar-based revenue decreases. To the extent that
our international activities recorded in local currencies increase in the future, our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will correspondingly
increase. We have not engaged in derivative financial instruments as a means of hedging this financial statement risk. Non-U.S. Dollar cash balances held
overseas are generally kept at levels necessary to meet current operating and capitalization needs. At times, we may hedge small amounts of the Non-U.S.
Dollar cash balances to mitigate exposure.

        Approximately 45% and 40% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, were denominated in non-U.S. Dollar
currencies. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, we estimate that a hypothetical 10% adverse change in the above mentioned
foreign exchange rates would have resulted in a decrease in net income of $4.5 million and $2.5 million, respectively.

Equity Price Risk

        Equity price risk results from exposure to changes in the prices of equity securities on positions held due to trading errors, including client errors and our
own errors, and from principal trading activities, primarily on an intra-day basis. Equity price risk can arise from liquidating all such principal positions.
Accordingly, we maintain policies and procedures regarding the management of our principal trading accounts, which require review by a supervisory
principal. It is our policy to attempt to trade out of all positions by the end of the day. However, at times, we hold positions overnight if we are unable to trade
out of positions during the day. In addition, certain positions may be liquidated over a period of time in an effort to minimize market impact, and we may
incur losses relating to such positions. We may also have positions in exchange-traded funds ("ETFs") with offsetting positions in the underlying securities as
part of an ETF creation and redemption service that we provide to clients.

        We manage equity price risk associated with open positions through the establishment and monitoring of trading policies and through controls and
review procedures that ensure communication and timely resolution of trading issues. In addition, our operations and trading departments review all trades
that are open at the end of the day.

Cash Management Risk

        Our cash management strategy seeks to optimize excess liquid assets by preserving principal, maintaining liquidity to satisfy capital requirements,
minimizing risk and maximizing our after-tax rate of return. Our policy is to invest in high quality credit issuers, limit the amount of credit exposure to any
one issuer and invest in tax efficient strategies. Our first priority is to reduce the risk of principal loss. We seek to preserve our invested funds by limiting
default risk, market risk, and re-investment risk. We attempt to mitigate default risk by investing principally in U.S. government money market mutual funds
and other short-term government debt-based instruments.

        For working capital purposes, we invest only in money market instruments. Cash balances that are not needed for normal operations may be invested in a
tax efficient manner in instruments with appropriate maturities and levels of risk to correspond to expected liquidity needs. To the extent that we invest in
equity securities, we ensure portfolio liquidity by investing in marketable mutual fund securities with active secondary or resale markets. We do not use
derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and mutual fund
securities owned were $279.1 million and $266.4 million, respectively.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Investment Technology Group, Inc.:

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Investment Technology Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Investment
Technology Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Investment Technology
Group, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 13, 2015, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

New York, New York
March 13, 2015
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/s/ KPMG LLP
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition 

(In thousands, except share amounts) 

   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  December 31,  
  2014  2013  
Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 275,210 $ 261,897 
Cash restricted or segregated under regulations and other   69,738  71,202 
Deposits with clearing organizations   36,424  74,771 
Securities owned, at fair value   12,073  7,436 
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   646,330  866,271 
Receivables from customers   107,935  72,660 
Premises and equipment, net   60,306  66,171 
Capitalized software, net   38,333  37,892 
Goodwill, net   12,803  — 
Intangibles, net   31,595  31,201 
Income taxes receivable   105  54 
Deferred taxes   37,209  34,130 
Other assets   22,788  15,787 
Total assets  $ 1,350,849 $ 1,539,472 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity        
Liabilities:        
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 199,211 $ 175,931 
Short-term bank loans   78,360  73,539 
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   600,041  807,320 
Payables to customers   11,132  16,797 
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value   8,253  2,953 
Income taxes payable   19,772  14,805 
Deferred taxes   703  363 
Term debt   17,781  30,332 

Total liabilities   935,253  1,122,040 
Commitments and contingencies        

Stockholders' Equity:        
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding   —  — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 52,229,962 and 52,158,374

shares issued at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively   522  522 
Additional paid-in capital   240,135  240,057 
Retained earnings   487,462  436,570 
Common stock held in treasury, at cost; 18,000,756 and 16,005,500 shares at December 31,

2014 and 2013, respectively   (306,629)  (268,253)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax)   (5,894)  8,536 

Total stockholders' equity   415,596  417,432 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 1,350,849 $ 1,539,472 
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2014  2013  2012  
Revenues:           

Commissions and fees  $ 436,172 $ 408,619 $ 380,976 
Recurring   103,794  104,172  109,767 
Other   19,848  18,010  13,693 

Total revenues   559,814  530,801  504,436 
Expenses:           

Compensation and employee benefits   215,758  201,254  196,362 
Transaction processing   86,400  83,792  81,173 
Occupancy and equipment   59,811  69,022  62,637 
Telecommunications and data processing services   51,187  53,607  59,850 
Other general and administrative   79,349  77,431  88,543 
Goodwill and other asset impairment   —  —  274,285 
Restructuring charges   —  (75)  9,499 
Interest expense   2,322  2,715  2,542 

Total expenses   494,827  487,746  774,891 
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)   64,987  43,055  (270,455)
Income tax expense (benefit)   14,095  11,970  (22,596)
Net income (loss)  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $ (247,859)
Income (loss) per share:           
Basic  $ 1.44 $ 0.84 $ (6.45)
Diluted  $ 1.40 $ 0.82 $ (6.45)
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding   35,349  36,788  38,418 
Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding   36,365  38,114  38,418 
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

(In thousands) 

   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Year Ended December 31,  
  2014  2013  2012  
Net income (loss)  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $ (247,859)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:           

Currency translation adjustment   (14,430)  (3,338)  3,533 
Other comprehensive (loss) income   (14,430)  (3,338)  3,533 
Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 36,462 $ 27,747 $ (244,326)
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

(In thousands, except share amounts) 

  
Preferred

Stock  
Common

Stock  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Retained
Earnings  

Common
Stock

Held in
Treasury  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)  

Total
Stockholders'

Equity  
Balance at

December 31,
2011   —  519  249,469  653,344  (240,559)  8,341  671,114 

Net loss   —  —  —  (247,859)  —  —  (247,859)
Other

comprehensive
income   —  —  —  —  —  3,533  3,533 

Issuance of
common stock
for restricted
share awards
(670,933
shares) and
employee
stock unit
awards
(71,580
shares),
including tax
benefit
shortfall and
award
cancellations
of
$4.1 million   —  —  (16,306)  —  13,722  —  (2,584)

Awards
reclassified to
liability for
cash
settlement
(259,840
shares)   —  —  (2,838)  —  —  —  (2,838)

Issuance of
common stock
for the
employee
stock purchase
plan (137,782
shares)   —  1  1,130  —  —  —  1,131 

Purchase of
common stock
for treasury
(2,470,000
shares)   —  —  —  —  (23,457)  —  (23,457)

Shares withheld
for net
settlements of
share-based
awards
(270,467
shares)   —  —  —  —  (2,817)  —  (2,817)

Share-based
compensation   —  —  13,547  —  —  —  13,547 

Balance at
December 31,
2012  $ — $ 520 $ 245,002 $ 405,485 $ (253,111) $ 11,874 $ 409,770 

Net income   —  —  —  31,085  —  —  31,085 
Other

comprehensive
loss   —  —  —  —  —  (3,338)  (3,338)

Issuance of
common stock
for restricted
share awards
(1,029,623
shares),
including tax
benefit
shortfall and
award
cancellations
of
$1.5 million

  —  —  (19,774)  —  17,559  —  (2,215)



   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Issuance of
common stock
for the
employee
stock purchase
plan (121,363
shares)   —  2  933  —  —  —  935 

Purchase of
common stock
for treasury
(2,005,200
shares)   —  —  —  —  (28,169)  —  (28,169)

Shares withheld
for net
settlements of
share-based
awards
(352,051
shares)   —  —  —  —  (4,532)  —  (4,532)

Share-based
compensation   —  —  13,896  —  —  —  13,896 

Balance at
December 31,
2013  $ — $ 522 $ 240,057 $ 436,570 $ (268,253) $ 8,536 $ 417,432 

Net income   —  —  —  50,892  —  —  50,892 
Other

comprehensive
loss   —  —  —  —  —  (14,430)  (14,430)

Issuance of
common stock
in connection
with the
employee
stock option
plan (14,228
shares) and for
restricted share
awards
(1,029,520
shares),
including net
excess tax
benefit of
$0.6 million   —  —  (16,244)  —  16,020  —  (224)

Issuance of
common stock
for the
employee
stock purchase
plan (71,587
shares)   —  —  963  —  —  —  963 

Purchase of
common stock
for treasury
(2,671,637
shares)   —  —  —  —  (48,165)  —  (48,165)

Shares withheld
for net
settlements of
share-based
awards
(367,367
shares)   —  —  —  —  (6,231)  —  (6,231)

Share-based
compensation   —  —  15,359  —  —  —  15,359 

Balance at
December 31,
2014  $ — $ 522 $ 240,135 $ 487,462 $ (306,629) $ (5,894) $ 415,596 
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(In thousands) 

   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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  Year ended December 31,  
  2014  2013  2012  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:           
Net income (loss)  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $(247,859)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:           
Depreciation and amortization   49,384  53,606  56,493 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)   (4,979)  3,051  (27,156)
Provision for doubtful accounts   (801)  (405)  1,401 
Share-based compensation   18,874  20,861  15,628 
Fixed asset disposal   —  649  — 
Non-cash restructuring charges, net   —  357  548 
Goodwill and other asset impairment   —  101  274,285 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:           
Cash restricted or segregated under regulations and other   (616)  (9,491)  11,700 
Deposits with clearing organizations   38,347  (45,622)  (3,611)
Securities owned, at fair value   (5,489)  2,445  (4,689)
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   211,491  43,612  (163,605)
Receivables from customers   (37,238)  (63,376)  4,261 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   23,868  2,614  (22,905)
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations   (203,805)  (48,338)  125,919 
Payables to customers   (5,075)  42,828  862 
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value   6,162  (2,086)  4,695 
Income taxes receivable/payable   6,194  12,148  (1,459)
Excess tax benefit   (1,278)  (510)  — 
Other, net   (3,391)  1,663  2,284 
Net cash provided by operating activities   142,540  45,192  26,792 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:           
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates   (2,669)  (474)  — 
Acquisition of subsidiaries and minority interests, net of cash acquired   (18,293)  —  — 
Capital purchases   (13,798)  (33,549)  (33,424)
Capitalization of software development costs   (26,331)  (22,579)  (24,635)

Net cash used in investing activities   (61,091)  (56,602)  (58,059)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:           
Repayments of term loans   (12,551)  (9,505)  (7,185)
Proceeds of short-term bank loans, net   4,821  51,385  20,548 
Proceeds from interim funding facility   —  —  605 
Proceeds from sales-lease back transactions   —  20,565  1,855 
Excess tax benefit   1,278  510  — 
Debt issuance costs   (1,200)  —  — 
Common stock issued   96  177  2,674 
Common stock repurchased   (48,165)  (28,169)  (23,457)
Shares withheld for net settlements of share-based awards   (6,231)  (4,532)  (2,817)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (61,952)  30,431  (7,777)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (6,184)  (2,999)  731 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   13,313  16,022  (38,313)
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of year   261,897  245,875  284,188 
Cash and cash equivalents—end of year  $ 275,210 $261,897 $ 245,875 
Supplemental cash flow information:           

Interest paid  $ 3,979 $ 3,343 $ 2,673 
Income taxes paid (refunded)  $ 11,909 $ (4,079) $ 5,495 
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INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(1)   Organization and Basis of Presentation

        Investment Technology Group, Inc. was formed as a Delaware corporation on July 22, 1983. Its principal subsidiaries include: (1) ITG Inc., AlterNet
Securities, Inc. ("AlterNet") and ITG Derivatives LLC ("ITG Derivatives"), institutional broker-dealers in the United States ("U.S."), (2) ITG Canada Corp., an
institutional broker-dealer in Canada, (3) Investment Technology Group Limited, an institutional broker-dealer in Europe, (4) ITG Australia Limited, an
institutional broker-dealer in Australia, (5) ITG Hong Kong Limited, an institutional broker-dealer in Hong Kong, (6) ITG Software Solutions, Inc., our
intangible property, software development and maintenance subsidiary in the U.S., and (7) ITG Solutions Network, Inc., a holding company for ITG
Analytics, Inc., a provider of pre- and post-trade analysis, fair value and trade optimization services, ITG Investment Research, Inc., a provider of independent
data-driven investment research, and ITG Platforms Inc., a provider of trade order and execution management technology and network connectivity services
for the financial community.

        ITG is an independent execution and research broker that partners with global portfolio managers and traders to provide unique data-driven insights
throughout the investment process. From investment decision through to settlement, ITG helps clients understand market trends, improve performance,
mitigate risk and navigate increasingly complex markets. A leader in electronic trading since launching the POSIT crossing network in 1987, ITG takes a
consultative approach in delivering the highest quality institutional liquidity, execution services, analytical tools and proprietary research. The firm is
headquartered in New York with offices in North America, Europe, and the Asia Pacific region.

        The Company's business is organized into four reportable operating segments (see Note 22, Segment Reporting, to the consolidated financial
statements):

• U.S. Operations 

• Canadian Operations 

• European Operations 

• Asia Pacific Operations

        The four operating segments offer a wide range of solutions for asset managers and broker-dealers in the areas of electronic brokerage; research, sales and
trading; platforms; and analytics. These offerings include trade execution services and solutions for portfolio management, as well as investment research,
pre-trade analytics and post-trade analytics and processing.

        The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
("U.S. GAAP"). All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements reflect all
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for the fair presentation of results.

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

        The Company has changed its accounting for receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, receivables from customers, payables to
brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and payables to customers which resulted in revisions to the prior year balances to conform to the current
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period accounting to reflect the Company's agent capacity for executing transactions on behalf of clients in the Europe and Asia-Pacific regions. As a result,
prior year receivables and payables related to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and customer balances were reduced by $670 million respectively.

(2)   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements represent the consolidation of the accounts of ITG and its subsidiaries in conformity with U.S. GAAP. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in unconsolidated companies (generally 20 to 50 percent
ownership), in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence but neither has a controlling interest nor is the primary beneficiary, are
accounted for under the equity method. Investments in entities in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are
accounted for under the cost method. Under certain criteria indicated in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 810, Consolidation, a partially-owned
affiliate would be consolidated when it has less than a 50% ownership if the Company was the primary beneficiary of that entity. At the present time, there are
no interests in variable interest entities.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts represents management's estimate of the amount of potential credit losses in existing accounts receivable, as determined from a review of past due
balances and other specific account data.

Revenue Recognition

        Transactions in securities, commissions and fees and related expenses are recorded on a trade date basis. Commissions and fees are derived primarily from
(1) commissions charged for trade execution services, (2) income generated from net executions, whereby equity orders are filled at different prices within or
at the National Best Bid and Offer and (3) commission sharing arrangements.

        Recurring revenues are derived from the following primary sources: (1) connectivity fees, (2) investment and market research services, (3) software and
analytical products and services and (4) maintenance and customer technical support for the Company's order management system.

        Substantially all of the Company's recurring revenue arrangements do not require significant modification or customization of the underlying software.
Accordingly, the vast majority of software revenue is recognized pursuant to the requirements of ASC 985, Software. Specifically, revenue recognition from
subscriptions, maintenance, customer technical support and professional services commences when all of the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive
evidence of a legally binding arrangement with a customer exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the fee is deemed fixed or determinable and free of
contingencies or significant uncertainties and (4) collection is probable. Where software is provided under a hosting arrangement, revenue is accounted for as
a service arrangement since the customer does not have the contractual right to take possession of the software at any time during the hosting period without
significant penalty (or it is not feasible for the customer to run the software on either its own hardware or third party hardware).
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        Subscription agreements for software products generally include provisions that, among other things, allow customers to receive unspecified future
software upgrades for no additional fee, as well as the right to use the software products with maintenance for the term of the agreement, typically one to three
years. Under these agreements, once all four of the above noted revenue recognition criteria are met, revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the
subscription agreement. If a subscription agreement includes an acceptance provision, revenue is not recognized until the earlier of the receipt of written
acceptance from the customer or, if not notified by the customer to cancel the license agreement, the expiration of the acceptance period.

        Revenues for investment research and analytical products sold on a subscription basis are recognized when services are rendered provided that
persuasive evidence of a legally binding arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.

        Other revenues include: (1) income from principal trading in our Canadian Operations, including arbitrage trading, (2) the net spread on foreign
exchange transactions executed on a principal basis to facilitate equity trades by clients in different currencies, as well as on other foreign currency
transactions unrelated to equity trading, (3) the net interest spread earned on securities borrowed and loaned matched book transactions, (4) transaction
advisory services provided to potential purchasers of energy-related investments, (5) non-recurring consulting services, such as one-time implementation and
customer-training-related activities, (6) investment and interest income, (7) interest income on securities borrowed in connection with customers' settlement
activities and (8) market gains/losses resulting from temporary positions in securities assumed in the normal course of agency trading (including client errors
and accommodations).

        Revenues from professional services, which are sold as a multiple-element arrangement with the implementation of software, are deferred until go-live (or
acceptance, if applicable) of the software and recognized in the same manner as the subscription over the remaining term of the initial contract. Professional
services that are not connected with the implementation of software are recognized on a time and material basis as incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        Substantially all of the Company's financial instruments are carried at fair value or amounts approximating fair value. Cash and cash equivalents,
securities owned and securities sold, not yet purchased and certain payables are carried at market value or estimated fair value.

Securities Transactions

        Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations include amounts receivable for fails to deliver, cash deposits for securities borrowed, the net
amounts receivable on open transactions from clearing organizations and non-U.S. broker-dealers and billed amounts for commissions and fees and balance
transfers on client commission arrangements, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations include
amounts payable for fails to receive, securities loaned and execution cost payables. Receivables from customers consist of fails to deliver, the net amounts
receivable on open transactions from non-U.S. customers, as well as prepaid research and billed amounts for commissions and fees and research services, net
of an allowance for doubtful
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accounts. Payables to customers primarily consist of fails to receive. Commissions and fees and related expenses for all securities transactions are recorded on
a trade date basis.

        Securities owned, at fair value consist of common stock and mutual funds. Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value consist of common stock.
Marketable securities owned are valued using market quotes from third parties. Unrealized gains and losses are included in other revenues in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Securities Borrowed and Loaned

        Securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions are reported as collateralized financings. Securities borrowed transactions require the Company to
deposit cash, letters of credit, or other collateral with the lender. With respect to securities loaned, the Company receives collateral in the form of cash or other
collateral in amounts generally in excess of the fair value of securities loaned. The Company monitors the fair value of securities borrowed and loaned on a
daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded as necessary. Securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions are recorded at the amount of
cash collateral advanced or received, adjusted for additional collateral advanced or received.

        The Company engages in securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions as part of its U.S. self-clearing process primarily to facilitate customer
transactions, including shortened or extended settlement activities and for failed settlements. On these transactions, interest income for securities borrowed is
recorded in other revenue while interest expense from securities loaned is recorded in transaction processing expense on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

        The Company also operates a matched book business where securities are borrowed from one party for the express purpose of loaning such securities to
another party, generating a net interest spread. The Company records the net interest earned on these transactions in other revenue on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Client Commission Arrangements

        Institutional customers are permitted to allocate a portion of their gross commissions to pay for research products and other services provided by third
parties and the Company's subsidiaries. The amounts allocated for those purposes are commonly referred to as client commission arrangements. The cost of
independent research and directed brokerage arrangements is accounted for on an accrual basis. Commission revenue is recorded when earned on a trade date
basis. Payments relating to client commission arrangements are netted against the commission revenues. Prepaid research, including balance transfer
receivables due from other broker-dealers, net of an allowance is included in receivables from customers and receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations, while accrued research payable is classified as accounts payable and accrued expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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        Client commissions allocated for research and related prepaid and accrued research balances for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were
as follows (dollars in millions):

Capitalized Software

        Software development costs are capitalized when the technological feasibility of a product has been established. Technological feasibility is established
when all planning, designing, coding and testing activities have been devised to ensure that the product can be produced to meet its design specifications,
including functions, features, and technical performance requirements. All costs incurred to establish technological feasibility are expensed as incurred.
Capitalized software costs are amortized using the straight-line method over a three-year period beginning when the product is available for general release to
customers.

Research and Development

        All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs, which are primarily included in other general and
administrative expenses and compensation and employee benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, are estimated at $35.8 million,
$41.7 million and $45.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Business Combinations, Goodwill and Other Intangibles

        Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values on the date of acquisition. The cost to be allocated in a business combination
includes consideration paid to the sellers, including cash and the fair values of assets distributed and the fair values of liabilities assumed. Both direct
(e.g., legal and professional fees) and indirect costs of the business combination are expensed as incurred. Certain agreements to acquire entities include
potential additional consideration that is payable, contingent on the acquired company maintaining or achieving specified earnings levels in future periods.
The fair value of any contingent consideration is recognized on the acquisition date with subsequent changes in that fair value reflected in income. The
consolidated financial statements and results of operations reflect an acquired business from the date of acquisition.

        An intangible asset is recognized as an asset apart from goodwill if it arises from contractual or other legal rights or if it is separable (i.e., capable of being
separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged). Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of each
acquired entity over the amounts assigned to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

        The judgments that are made in determining the estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as asset
lives, can materially impact net income in periods following a business combination. Traditional approaches used to determine fair value include
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  2014  2013  2012  
Client commissions  $ 119.4 $ 123.0 $ 112.1 
Prepaid research, gross  $ 4.3 $ 4.5 $ 5.1 
Allowance for prepaid research   —  (0.2)  (0.4)
Prepaid research, net of allowance  $ 4.3 $ 4.3 $ 4.7 
Accrued research payable  $ 56.7 $ 52.0 $ 38.6 
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the income, cost and market approaches. The income approach presumes that the value of an asset can be estimated by the net economic benefit to be
received over the life of the asset, discounted to present value. The cost approach presumes that an investor would pay no more for an asset than its
replacement or reproduction cost. The market approach estimates value based on what other participants in the market have paid for reasonably similar assets.
Although each valuation approach is considered in valuing the assets acquired, the approach or combination of approaches ultimately selected is based on
the characteristics of the asset and the availability of information.

        Any goodwill is assessed no less than annually for impairment. The guidance for goodwill impairment testing allows an entity to assess qualitative
factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount or to proceed directly to performing the two-step impairment test. The fair values used in the Company's two-step
impairment testing are determined by the discounted cash flow method (an income approach) and where appropriate, a combination of the discounted cash
flow method and the guideline company method (a market approach). An impairment loss is indicated if the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less
than its net book value. In such a case, the impairment loss is calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.
In determining the fair value of each of the Company's reporting units, the discounted cash flow analyses employed require significant assumptions and
estimates about the future operations of each reporting unit. Significant judgments inherent in these analyses include the determination of appropriate
discount rates, the amount and timing of expected future cash flows and growth rates. The cash flows employed in the Company's discounted cash flow
analyses are based on financial budgets and forecasts developed internally by management. The Company's discount rate assumptions are based on a
determination of its required rate of return on equity capital.

        Other intangibles with definite lives are amortized over their useful lives. All other intangibles are assessed at least annually for impairment. If
impairment is indicated, an impairment loss is calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of an intangible asset exceeds its estimated fair value.

Premises and Equipment

        Furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets
(generally three to seven years). Leasehold improvements are carried at cost and are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated
useful lives of the related assets or the non-cancelable lease term.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is generally based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the
use of the asset and its eventual disposition, as well as specific appraisal in certain instances. Measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets that
management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset as estimated using a cash flow model. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are
reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

59



 Table of Contents

INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Income Taxes

        Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. Contingent income tax
liabilities are recorded when the criteria for loss recognition have been met. An uncertain tax position is recognized based on the determination of whether or
not a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination based upon the technical merits of the position. If this recognition threshold is
met, the tax benefit is then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.

Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities

        Taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are directly imposed on a revenue producing transaction between the Company and its customers,
including but not limited to sales, use, value added and some excise taxes are presented in the consolidated financial statements on a net basis (excluded
from revenues).

Earnings per Share

        Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing earnings by the average number of shares of common stock outstanding, while diluted earnings per
share is determined by dividing earnings by the average number of shares of common stock adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents by
application of the treasury stock method. Common stock equivalents are excluded from the diluted calculation if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Share-based Compensation

        Share-based compensation expense requires measurement of compensation cost for share-based awards at fair value and recognition of compensation
cost over the vesting period, net of estimated forfeitures. For awards with graded vesting schedules that only have service conditions, the Company
recognizes compensation cost evenly over the requisite service period for the entire award using the straight-line attribution method. For awards with service
conditions as well as performance or market conditions, the Company recognizes compensation cost on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period
for each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in-substance, multiple awards.

        The fair value of stock options granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which considers, among other factors, the expected
term of the award and the expected volatility of the Company's stock price. Although the Black-Scholes model meets the requirements of ASC 718,
Compensation—Stock Compensation, the fair values generated by the model may not be indicative of the actual fair values of the underlying awards, as it
does not consider other factors important to those share-based compensation awards, such as continued employment, periodic vesting requirements and
limited transferability.
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        The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The
expected option life is based on historical experience of employee exercise behavior. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility, implied volatility,
price observations taken at regular intervals and other factors deemed appropriate. Expected dividend is based upon the current dividend rate. No options
were granted during the three years ended December 31, 2014.

        The fair value of restricted share awards is based on the fair value of the Company's common stock on the grant date.

        Certain restricted stock awards granted have both service and market conditions. Awards with market conditions are valued based on (a) the grant date
fair value of the award for equity-based awards or (b) the period-end fair value for liability-based awards. Fair value for market condition based awards is
determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model to simulate a range of possible future stock prices for the Company's common stock. Compensation costs
for awards with market conditions are recognized for each separately vesting portion of the award over the estimated service period calculated by the Monte
Carlo simulation model.

        Phantom stock awards are settled in cash and are therefore classified as liability awards. The fair value of the liability is remeasured at each reporting date
until final settlement using the fair value of the Company's common stock on that date.

        Cash flows related to income tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized on share-based awards exercised during the period presented
(excess tax benefit) are classified in financing cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Foreign Currency Translation

        Assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currencies are translated at rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition, and revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange during the fiscal year. Gains or losses on translation of the
financial statements of a foreign operation, where the functional currency is other than the U.S. Dollar, together with the after-tax effect of exchange rate
changes on intercompany transactions of a long-term investment nature, are reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in
stockholders' equity. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are included in other general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Common Stock Held in Treasury, at Cost

        The purchase of treasury stock is accounted for under the cost method with the shares of stock repurchased reflected as a reduction to stockholders'
equity and included in common stock held in treasury, at cost, in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. When treasury shares are reissued,
they are recorded at the average cost of the treasury shares acquired. The Company held 18,000,756 and 16,005,500 shares of common stock in treasury as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

        In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740),
Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carrryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. These
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provisions require unrecognized tax benefits to be presented as a decrease in a net operating loss, similar tax loss or tax credit carryforward if certain criteria
are met. The adoption of these provisions did not have a material impact on ITG's consolidated financial statements.

        In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which amends
certain provisions in FASB ASC 220, Comprehensive Income. These provisions require the disclosure of significant amounts that are reclassified out of other
comprehensive income into net income in their entirety during the reporting period. These provisions are effective for fiscal and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2012. The adoption of these provisions did not have a material impact on ITG's consolidated financial statements.

        In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities, which amends certain provisions in ASC Topic
210, Balance Sheet. Subsequently in January 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-01, Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and
Liabilities, which amends the scope of ASU 2011-11. ASU 2013-01 clarifies that ASU 2011-11 applies only to derivatives, repurchase agreements and reverse
purchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are either offset in accordance with specific criteria contained in ASC
Topics 210 and 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or subject to a master netting arrangement or similar agreement. These provisions require additional
disclosures for the abovementioned financial instruments and are effective for fiscal and interim periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The adoption
of these provisions did not have a material impact on ITG's consolidated financial statements.

        In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02, Testing Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets for Impairment, an update to existing guidance on the
impairment assessment of indefinite-lived intangibles. This update simplifies the impairment assessment of indefinite-lived intangibles by allowing
companies to consider qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than
its carrying amount. This option is in lieu of performing a quantitative fair value assessment. The Company elected to early adopt this update effective for the
interim reporting period, which began on October 1, 2012. The adoption of this update did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

        In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing Goodwill for Impairment, in an effort to
simplify goodwill impairment testing. The amendments permit companies to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill
impairment test described in Topic 350. The more-likely-than-not threshold is defined as having a likelihood of more than 50%. This standard became
effective for the Company on January 1, 2012, the adoption of which changed the process and procedures for the Company's goodwill impairment testing,
but did not have an impact on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

        In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-5, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220). Companies now have two choices of how to present items of net
income, comprehensive income and total comprehensive income. Companies can create one continuous statement of comprehensive income or two separate
consecutive statements. This standard became effective for the Company on January 1, 2012, the adoption of which changed the presentation of its
comprehensive income, but did not have an impact on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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(3)   Fair Value Measurements

        Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. In determining fair value, various methods are used including market, income and cost approaches. Based on these approaches, certain
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability are used, including assumptions about risk and/or the risks inherent in the
inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market-corroborated, or generally unobservable firm inputs. Valuation techniques
that are used maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Based on the observability of the inputs used in the
valuation techniques, fair value measured financial instruments are categorized according to the fair value hierarchy prescribed by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

• Level 1: Fair value measurements using unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2: Fair value measurements using correlation with (directly or indirectly) observable market-based inputs, unobservable inputs that are
corroborated by market data, or quoted prices in markets that are not active. 

• Level 3: Fair value measurements using inputs that are significant and not readily observable in the market.

        Level 1 consists of financial instruments whose value is based on quoted market prices such as exchange-traded mutual funds and listed equities.

        Level 2 includes financial instruments that are valued based upon observable market-based inputs.

        Level 3 is comprised of financial instruments whose fair value is estimated based on internally developed models or methodologies utilizing significant
inputs that are generally less readily observable.

        Fair value measurements for those items measured on a recurring basis are as follows (dollars in thousands):
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December 31, 2014  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets              
Cash and cash equivalents:              

Tax free money market mutual funds  $ 33 $ 33 $ — $ — 
Money market mutual funds   6,965  6,965  —  — 

Securities owned, at fair value:              
Corporate stocks-trading securities   8,160  8,160  —  — 
Mutual funds   3,913  3,913  —  — 

Total  $ 19,071 $ 19,071 $ — $ — 

Liabilities              
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value:              

Corporate stocks-trading securities   8,253  8,253  —  — 
Total  $ 8,253 $ 8,253 $ — $ — 
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        Cash and cash equivalents other than bank deposits are measured at fair value and primarily include U.S. government money market mutual funds and
other money market mutual funds.

        Securities owned, at fair value and securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value include corporate stocks, equity index mutual funds and bond mutual
funds, all of which are exchange traded.

        Certain of the Company's assets and liabilities are carried at contracted amounts that approximate fair value. Assets and liabilities that are recorded at
contracted amounts approximating fair value consist primarily of receivables from and payables to brokers, dealers, clearing organizations and customers.
These receivables and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations are short-term in nature, and following December 31, 2014, substantially all
have settled at the contracted amounts.

        The Company believes the carrying amounts of its term-debt obligations at December 31, 2014 and 2013 approximate fair value because the interest
rates on these instruments change with, or approximate, market interest rates.

(4)   Restructuring Charges

2013 Restructuring

        In the second quarter of 2013, the Company implemented a strategic plan to close its technology research and development facility in Israel and
outsource that function to a third party service provider effective January 1, 2014. The Company incurred a charge of $1.6 million related to this
restructuring, substantially all of which was for employee separation costs. During 2014, $0.3 million of this charge was reversed as actual payments made
were less than originally estimated.
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December 31, 2013  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Assets              
Cash and cash equivalents:              

Tax free money market mutual funds  $ 33 $ 33 $ — $ — 
Money market mutual funds   2,695  2,695  —  — 

Securities owned, at fair value:              
Corporate stocks-trading securities   2,894  2,894  —  — 
Mutual funds   4,542  4,542  —  — 

Total  $ 10,164 $ 10,164 $ — $ — 

Liabilities              
Securities sold, not yet purchased, at fair value:              

Corporate stocks-trading securities   2,953  2,953  —  — 
Total  $ 2,953 $ 2,953 $ — $ — 
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        Activity and liability balances recorded as part of the 2013 restructuring plan through December 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2012 Restructuring

        In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company implemented a restructuring plan to reduce annual operating costs. The Company incurred a charge of
$9.5 million related to this restructuring, entirely for employee separation costs. During 2014 and 2013, the Company reversed $0.1 million and $0.8 million
of this expense, respectively, as actual payments made were less than originally estimated.

        Activity and liability balances recorded as part of the 2012 restructuring plan through December 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2011 Restructuring

        In the second and fourth quarters of 2011, the Company implemented restructuring plans to improve margins and enhance stockholder returns. The
restructuring charges consisted of employee separation costs and lease abandonment costs. During 2013, the Company reversed $0.7 million of these charges
as the Company sub-let vacated office space and actual payments made were less than originally estimated.

        Activity and liability balances recorded as part of the 2011 restructuring plan through December 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

        The payment of the remaining accrued costs related to the vacated leased facilities will continue through December 2016.
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Employee

separation costs  

Consolidation
of leased
facilities  Total  

Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 235 $ 100 $ 335 
Cash payments   (37)  —  (37)
Other   (198)  (100)  (298)
Balance at December 31, 2014  $ — $ — $ — 

  
Employee

separation costs  
Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 75 

Utilized—cash   (23)
Other   (52)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ — 

  
Employee

separation costs  

Consolidation
of leased
facilities  Total  

Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 7 $ 1,567 $ 1,574 
Utilized—cash   (7)  (734)  (741)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ — $ 833 $ 833 
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2010 Restructuring

        In the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company closed its Westchester, NY office and relocated the staff, primarily sales traders and support, to its New York
City office.

        Activity and liability balances recorded as part of the 2010 restructuring plan through December 31, 2014 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

        The payment of the remaining accrued costs related to the vacated leased facilities will continue through December 2016.

(5)   Acquisitions

ID'S

        On July 30, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of ID'S for $22.5 million, including acquired cash of $4.2 million. ID'S is a Paris-based company that
operates RFQ-hub, a multi-asset platform for global-listed and over-the-counter ("OTC") financial instruments. RFQ-hub connects buy-side trading desks and
portfolio managers with a large network of sell-side market makers, allowing these trading desks to place requests-for-quotes in OTC-negotiated equities,
futures, options, swaps, convertible bonds, structured products and commodities. The platform will remain available on a standalone basis and will also be
integrated into ITG's Triton execution management system.

        The results of ID'S have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements since its acquisition date. At closing, $22.5 million was paid.
Contingent payments of approximately $4.8 million are available to the sellers if certain revenue targets are achieved in 2015, of which $3.8 million would
be expensed as compensation due to required service conditions through 2017. None of the contingent payments have been recognized as of December 31,
2014.

        The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands):
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Consolidation
of leased
facilities  

Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 1,784 
Utilized—cash   (393)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 1,391 

Cash consideration  $ 22,499 
Total purchase price  $ 22,499 

Cash  $ 4,206 
Accounts receivable, net   1,035 
Customer related intangible asset   2,674 
Computer software   2,273 
Trade Name   160 
Deferred Tax Liability   (1,650)
Goodwill   13,801 

Total purchase price  $ 22,499 
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        The above purchase price allocation is based upon preliminary calculations and valuations and our estimates and assumptions are subject to change as
we obtain additional information for our estimates during the measurement period.

        The goodwill and intangibles assets were assigned to the European Operations segment. The acquired customer relationships and internal developed
software are amortized over 15 and 5 years, respectively. The trade name has an indefinite life. The goodwill and intangible assets are not deductible for tax
purposes.

        The Company incurred professional fees related to this transaction of $0.8 million, which has been included in other general and administrative expenses
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(6)   Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill

        The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2014 (dollars in
thousands):

Other Intangible Assets

        Acquired other intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in thousands):

        At December 31, 2014, indefinite-lived intangibles not subject to amortization amounted to $8.9 million, of which $8.4 million related to the POSIT
trade name.

        Amortization expense for definite-lived intangibles was $4.3 million, $4.0 million and $5.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. These amounts are included in other general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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European

Operations  Total  
Balance at December 31, 2013  $ — $ — 
2014 Activity:        
Acquisition of ID'S   13,801  13,801 
Currency translation adjustment   (998)  (998)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 12,803 $ 12,803 

  2014  2013    

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Useful
Lives

(Years)  
Trade name  $ 8,545 $ — $ 8,400 $ —  — 
Customer-related intangibles   30,272  11,210  27,851  8,923  13.3 
Proprietary software   23,558  19,959  21,501  17,921  6.3 
Trading rights   339  —  243  —  — 
Other   50  —  50  —  — 
Total  $ 62,764 $ 31,169 $ 58,045 $ 26,844    
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        During the year ended December 31, 2014, no intangibles were deemed impaired, and accordingly, no adjustment was required.

        The Company's estimate of future amortization expense for acquired other intangibles that exist at December 31, 2014 is as follows (dollars in
thousands):

(7)   Cash Restricted or Segregated Under Regulations and Other

        Cash restricted or segregated under regulations and other represents (a) funds on deposit for the purpose of securing working capital facilities for clearing
and settlement activities in Hong Kong, (b) a special reserve bank account for the exclusive benefit of customers ("Special Reserve Bank Account")
maintained by ITG Inc. in accordance with Rule 15c3-3 of the Exchange Act ("Customer Protection Rule") or agreements for proprietary accounts of broker
dealers ("PABs"), (c) funds on deposit for Canadian and European trade clearing and settlement activity, (d) segregated balances under a collateral account
control agreement for the benefit of certain customers, and (e) funds relating to the securitization of bank guarantees supporting the Company's Australian
lease.

(8)   Securities Owned and Sold, Not Yet Purchased

        The following is a summary of securities owned and securities sold, not yet purchased (dollars in thousands):

        Trading securities owned and sold, not yet purchased primarily consists of temporary positions obtained in the normal course of agency trading
activities, including positions held in connection with the creation and redemption of exchange-traded funds on behalf of clients.
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Year  
Estimated

Amortization  
2015  $ 3,252 
2016   3,252 
2017   3,102 
2018   2,891 
2019   2,891 
Thereafter   7,273 

Total  $ 22,661 

  Securities Owned  
Securities Sold, Not Yet

Purchased  
  2014  2013  2014  2013  
Corporate stocks—trading securities  $ 8,160 $ 2,894 $ 8,253 $ 2,953 
Mutual funds   3,913  4,542  —  — 

Total  $ 12,073 $ 7,436 $ 8,253 $ 2,953 
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(9)   Income Taxes

        Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following components (dollars in thousands):

        Income (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
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  2014  2013  2012  
Current:           

Federal  $ 4,802 $ 2,628 $ 416 
State   4,823  1,634  782 
Foreign   9,449  4,657  3,362 

  19,074  8,919  4,560 
Deferred:           

Federal   (4,701)  1,606  (19,423)
State   1,026  992  (7,565)
Foreign   (1,304)  453  (168)

  (4,979)  3,051  (27,156)
Total  $ 14,095 $ 11,970 $ (22,596)

  2014  2013  2012  
U.S.  $ 15,779 $ 15,687 $ (248,101)
Foreign   49,208  27,368  (22,354)
Total  $ 64,987 $ 43,055 $ (270,455)
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        Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences in reporting certain items. The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the net
deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

        The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities detailed above are presented on a net basis on the accompanying Statements of Financial Condition by
tax jurisdictions in which the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to. At December 31, 2014, the Company believes that it is more likely than
not that future reversals of its existing taxable temporary differences and the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the
deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance. The Company's valuation allowance is primarily the result of historical operating losses in the Asia Pacific
entities, where we maintain a full valuation for all deferred tax assets and net operating losses, and on certain tax credits taken in the U.S.

        Net operating loss carry forwards expire as follows (dollars in thousands):
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  2014  2013  
Deferred tax assets:        

Compensation and benefits  $ 17,252 $ 12,844 
Net operating loss and capital loss carryover   16,949  17,121 
Share-based compensation   7,719  6,959 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   452  889 
Tax benefits on uncertain tax positions   3,507  2,697 
Goodwill and other intangibles   16,256  21,138 
Other   8,568  9,757 

Total deferred tax assets   70,703  71,405 
Less: valuation allowance   20,400  20,541 

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance   50,303  50,864 
Deferred tax liabilities:        

Depreciation   (1,575)  (3,916)
Capitalized software   (11,870)  (12,838)
Other   (352)  (343)

Total deferred tax liabilities   (13,797)  (17,097)
Net deferred tax assets  $ 36,506 $ 33,767 

  Amount  Years remaining
Hong Kong and Australia  $ 74,937 Indefinite

 $ 74,937  
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        The effective tax rate varied from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate due to the following:

        The excess tax benefits realized on the exercises of stock options and the vesting of employee restricted share awards reduced current taxes payable by
$1.1 million (net of $0.2 million of tax shortfalls) during 2014. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the tax benefits realized on the exercises of
stock options and the vesting of employee restricted share awards were less than the deferred benefits that were recorded based on grant date fair values. The
resulting net tax shortfalls on these awards, along with the impact of cancelled awards reduced additional paid-in capital by $1.5 million and $4.1 million in
2013 and 2012, respectively. For further discussion, see Note 19, Employee and Non-Employee Director Stock and Benefit Plans.

Tax Uncertainties

        Under ASC 740, Income Taxes, a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the
largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.

        During 2014, the Company (a) amended certain prior-year tax returns in the U.S. for deductions in those years not previously taken, (b) resolved
uncertain tax positions in the U.S. for fiscal years 2007 through 2010, reducing tax reserves, (c) revised estimates for certain tax positions for other prior years,
increasing tax reserves and (d) adjusted accruals for prior year returns. The net effect was a decrease in tax expense of $2.7 million.

        During 2013, uncertain tax positions in the U.S. were resolved for the 2003-2006 and 2008-2010 fiscal years resulting in a decrease in the recorded
liability of $0.5 million and the related deferred tax asset of $0.2 million. Also, in 2013, an uncertain tax position in Europe for the 2011 year was resolved,
resulting in a decrease in the recorded liability of $0.9 million. As a result of these resolutions, the Company recognized a tax benefit of $1.2 million.
Additionally, we reduced reserves related to prior years following the resolution of tax contingencies primarily in Europe.
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  2014  2013  2012  
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate   35.0%  35.0%  35.0%
State and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax effect   5.5  3.9  1.8 
Foreign tax impact, net   (12.8)  (6.4)  (3.6)
Non-deductible costs *   0.9  1.0  (24.3)
Other, net   (6.9)  (5.7)  (0.5)
Effective income tax rate   21.7%  27.8%  8.4%

* Non-deductible costs in 2012 include goodwill impairment charges.
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        A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in thousands):

        Included in the balance at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, are $12.7 million, $11.9 million, and $12.4 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax
benefits (net of federal benefits) which, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate.

        With limited exception, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local or foreign income tax audits by taxing authorities for years
preceding 2008. The Internal Revenue Service is currently examining the Company's U.S. federal income tax returns for 2008 through 2011. Certain state and
local returns are also currently under various stages of audit. The Company does not anticipate a significant change to the total of unrecognized tax benefits
within the next twelve months.

        At December 31, 2014, interest expense of $4.6 million, gross of related tax effects of $1.9 million, was accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits. As a
continuing policy, interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits is recorded as income tax expense. During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company
recognized $0.8 million, $0.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively, of tax-related interest expense. No penalties were incurred during 2014, 2013 or 2012.

(10) Receivables and Payables

Receivables from, and Payables to, Brokers, Dealers and Clearing Organizations

        The following is a summary of receivables from, and payables to, brokers, dealers and clearing organizations at December 31 (dollars in thousands):
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Uncertain Tax Benefits  2014  2013  2012  
Balance, January 1  $ 13,074 $ 13,726 $ 14,542 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year   309  404  568 
Additions based on tax positions of prior years   3,681  434  857 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years   (84)  (148)  (2,024)
Reductions due to settlements with taxing authorities   (1,108)  (124)  (217)
Reductions due to expiration of statute of limitations   (1,477)  (1,218)  — 
Balance, December 31  $ 14,395 $ 13,074 $ 13,726 

  Receivables from  Payables to  
  2014  2013  2014  2013  
Broker-dealers  $ 148,956 $ 119,268 $ 51,615 $ 66,733 
Clearing organizations   1,447  5,725  39,433  2,798 
Securities borrowed   496,596  742,307     — 
Securities loaned   —  —  508,993  737,789 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (669)  (1,029)  —  — 

Total  $ 646,330 $ 866,271 $ 600,041 $ 807,320 
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Receivables from, and Payables to, Customers

        The following is a summary of receivables from, and payables to, customers at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

        The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon an estimate of the amount of potential credit losses in existing accounts
receivable, as determined from a review of past due balances, historical collection experience and other specific account data. Account balances are written
off against the allowance when we determine the receivable is uncollectible. The allowance was decreased by $0.8 million in 2014 and $0.4 million in 2013
and was increased by $1.4 million in 2012. The decrease in 2014 included a $1.0 million reduction from revising the allowance estimation methodology
after evaluating historical trends, the number of days invoices were outstanding, client patterns and the Company's write-off history.

Securities Borrowed and Loaned

        As of December 31, 2014, securities borrowed as part of the Company's matched book operations with a fair value of $481 million were delivered for
securities loaned. The gross amounts of interest earned on cash provided to counterparties as collateral for securities borrowed, and interest incurred on cash
received from counterparties as collateral for securities loaned, and the resulting net amount included in other revenue on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for 2014, 2013 and 2012 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

        Interest earned in 2013 includes a gain of $2.5 million related to adjustments to historical dividend withholdings on securities borrowed.

        Deposits paid for securities borrowed and deposits received for securities loaned are recorded at the amount of cash collateral advanced or received.
Deposits paid for securities borrowed transactions require the Company to deposit cash with the lender. With respect to deposits received for securities
loaned, the Company receives collateral in the form of cash in an amount generally in excess of the market value of the securities loaned. The Company
monitors the market value of the securities borrowed and loaned on a daily basis, with additional collateral obtained or refunded, as necessary.

        The Company's securities borrowing and lending is generally done under industry standard agreements ("Master Securities Lending Agreements") that
may allow, following an event of default by either party, the prompt close-out of all transactions (including the liquidation of securities held) and
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  Receivables from  Payables to  
  2014  2013  2014  2013  
Customers  $ 108,518 $ 73,795 $ 11,132 $ 16,797 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (583)  (1,135)  —  — 

Net  $ 107,935 $ 72,660 $ 11,132 $ 16,797 

  2014  2013  2012  
Interest earned  $ 15,072 $ 17,756 $ 19,242 
Interest incurred   (10,218)  (10,786)  (14,589)
Net  $ 4,854 $ 6,970 $ 4,653 
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the offsetting of obligations to return cash or securities, as the case may be, by the non-defaulting party. Events of default under the Master Securities
Lending Agreements generally include, subject to certain conditions: (a) failure to timely deliver cash or securities as required under the transaction, (b) a
party's insolvency, bankruptcy, or similar proceeding, (c) breach of representation, and (d) a material breach of the agreement. The counterparty that receives
the securities in these transactions generally has unrestricted access in its use of the securities. For financial statement purposes, the Company does not offset
securities borrowed and securities loaned.

        The following table summarizes the transactions under certain Master Securities Lending Agreements that may be eligible for offsetting if an event of
default occurred and a right of offset was legally enforceable (dollars in thousands):

(11) Premises and Equipment

        The following is a summary of premises and equipment at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

        Depreciation and amortization expense relating to premises and equipment amounted to $19.2 million; $21.0 million and $19.5 million during the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and are included in occupancy and equipment expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. During 2014, premises and equipment costs and related accumulated depreciation and amortization were reduced by $2.5 million and
$2.4 million, respectively, for assets that are no longer in use.
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Gross Amounts
of

Recognized
Assets/

(Liabilities)  

Gross Amounts
Offset in the
Consolidated
Statement of

Financial
Condition  

Net Amounts
Presented in the

Consolidated
Statement of

Financial
Condition  

Collateral
Received or

Pledged
(including

Cash)  
Net

Amount  
As of

December 31,
2014:                 

Deposits paid
for securities
borrowed  $ 496,596 $ — $ 496,596 $ 496,374 $ 222 

Deposits
received for
securities
loaned   (508,993)  —  (508,993)  (497,462)  (11,531)

As of
December 31,
2013:                 

Deposits paid
for securities
borrowed  $ 742,307 $ — $ 742,307 $ 742,083 $ 224 

Deposits
received for
securities
loaned   (737,789)  —  (737,789)  (721,821)  (15,968)

  2014  2013  
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  $ 152,885 $ 145,226 
Leasehold improvements   49,951  49,554 

  202,836  194,780 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   142,530  128,609 

Total  $ 60,306 $ 66,171 
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(12) Capitalized Software

        The following is a summary of capitalized software costs at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

        Software costs totaling $26.3 million and $22.6 million were capitalized in 2014 and 2013, respectively, related to the continued development of new
features and functionalities across the entire ITG product line. During 2014, capitalized software costs and related accumulated amortization were each
reduced by $34.8 million for fully amortized costs that are no longer in use.

        As of December 31, 2014, capitalized software costs of $0.6 million were not subject to amortization as the underlying products were not yet available
for release. As of December 31, 2013, capitalized software costs of $0.2 million were not subject to amortization as the underlying products were not yet
available for release. Other general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations included $25.8 million, $28.5 million and
$32.1 million related to the amortization of capitalized software costs in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(13) Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

        The following is a summary of accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

(14) Borrowings

Short-term Bank Loans

        The Company's international securities clearing and settlement activities are funded with operating cash or with short-term bank loans in the form of
overdraft facilities. At December 31, 2014, there was $78.4 million outstanding under these facilities at a weighted average interest rate of approximately
1.5% associated with international settlement activities.

        In the U.S., securities clearing and settlement activities are funded with operating cash, securities loaned or with short-term bank loans under the Credit
Agreement described below.
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  2014  2013  
Capitalized software costs  $ 79,966 $ 88,912 
Less: accumulated amortization   41,633  51,020 

Total  $ 38,333 $ 37,892 

  2014  2013  
Accrued research payables  $ 56,736 $ 52,015 
Accrued compensation and benefits   62,271  47,622 
Accrued rent   19,169  19,938 
Trade payables   19,547  15,222 
Deferred revenue   13,836  12,533 
Deferred compensation   3,918  4,552 
Accrued restructuring   2,224  3,768 
Accrued transaction processing   2,981  2,972 
Other   18,529  17,309 

Total  $ 199,211 $ 175,931 
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        On January 31, 2014, ITG Inc., as borrower, and Investment Technology Group, Inc., as guarantor (the "Parent Company"), entered into a $150 million
two-year revolving credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with a syndicate of banks and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The
Credit Agreement includes an accordion feature that allows for potential expansion of the facility up to $225 million. Under the Credit Agreement, interest
accrues at a rate equal to (a) a base rate, determined by reference to the federal funds rate plus (b) a margin of 2.50%. Available but unborrowed amounts
under the Credit Agreement are subject to an unused commitment fee of 0.50%. The purpose of this credit line is to provide liquidity for the Company's U.S.
brokerage operations to satisfy clearing margin requirements and to finance temporary positions from delivery failures or non-standard settlements. As a
result, the Parent Company will have additional flexibility with its existing cash and future cash flows from operations to selectively invest in growth
initiatives and to return capital to stockholders. Depending on the borrowing base, availability under the Credit Agreement is limited to either (i) a
percentage of the clearing deposit required by the National Securities Clearing Corporation, or (ii) a percentage of the market value of temporary positions
pledged as collateral. Among other restrictions, the terms of the Credit Agreement include (a) negative covenants related to liens, (b) financial covenant
requirements for maintaining a consolidated leverage ratio (as defined) and a liquidity ratio (as defined), as well as requirements for maintaining minimum
levels of tangible net worth (as defined) and regulatory capital (as defined), and (c) restrictions on investments, dispositions and other restrictions customary
for financings of this type.

        The events of default under the Credit Agreement include, among others, payment defaults, cross defaults with certain other indebtedness, breaches of
covenants, loss of collateral, judgments, and changes in control and bankruptcy events. In the event of non-payment, the Credit Agreement requires ITG Inc.
to pay incremental interest at the rate of 2.0%. In the event of a default and depending on the nature thereof, the commitments will either automatically
terminate and all unpaid amounts immediately become due and payable, or the lenders may in their discretion terminate their commitments and declare due
all unpaid amounts outstanding.

        At December 31, 2014, there were no amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2013, there was $35.0 million outstanding
under the committed credit agreement that immediately preceded, and was substantially similar to, the Credit Agreement.

Term Debt

        At December 31, term debt is comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

        On June 1, 2011, Parent Company as borrower, entered into a $25.5 million Master Loan and Security Agreement ("Term Loan Agreement") with Banc of
America Leasing & Capital, LLC ("Bank of America"). The four-year term loan established under this agreement ("Term Loan") is secured by a security
interest in existing furniture, fixtures and equipment owned by the Parent Company and certain U.S. subsidiaries as of June 1, 2011. The primary purpose of
this financing was to provide capital for strategic initiatives. The events of default under the Term Loan Agreement include, among others, cross default on
the Credit Agreement, default on payment, failure to maintain required equipment insurance, certain negative judgments and bankruptcy events. In the event
of a default, the terms of the
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  2014  2013  
Term Loan  $ 2,653 $ 9,020 
Obligations under capital lease   15,128  21,312 

Total  $ 17,781 $ 30,332 
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Term Loan Agreement require the Parent Company to pay additional interest at a rate of 3.0% and, the lender may in its discretion terminate the loan
agreement and declare all unpaid amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable.

        The Term Loan is payable in monthly principal installments of $530,600 through May 2015 and accrues interest at 3.0% plus the average one month
London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") for dollar deposits.

        Along with the Term Loan Agreement, Parent Company entered into a $5.0 million master lease facility with Bank of America ("Master Lease
Agreement"), under which purchases of new equipment may be financed. Each equipment lease under the Master Lease Agreement is structured as a capital
lease and has a separate 48-month term from its inception date, at the end of which Parent Company may purchase the underlying equipment for $1. Each
lease under the Master Lease Agreement requires principal repayment on a monthly schedule and accrues interest at the same rate prescribed for the Term
Loan.

        In September 2011, $2.6 million was drawn on the lease facility to finance purchased assets that had a fair value of $2.4 million on the date of financing,
resulting in the recording of a principal balance of $2.4 million and deferred gain of $0.2 million. In June 2012, $1.9 million was drawn on the lease facility
to finance purchased assets that had a fair value slightly under $1.9 million on the date of financing, resulting in the recording of a principal balance of
nearly $1.9 million and a negligible deferred gain. The leases are payable in straight-line monthly installments plus interest at the average one month LIBOR
for dollar deposits plus 3.0%. The reductions to the remaining principal balance applying the interest method to the estimated minimum lease payments are
as follows (dollars in thousands):

        On August 10, 2012, Parent Company entered into a $25.0 million master lease facility with BMO Harris Equipment Finance Company ("BMO") to
finance equipment and construction expenditures related to the build-out of the Company's new headquarters in lower Manhattan. The original amount
borrowed of $21.2 million has a 3.39% fixed-rate term financing structured as a capital lease with a 48-month term, at the end of which Parent Company may
purchase the underlying assets for $1. At December 31, 2014, there was $14 million outstanding under the BMO facility. The reductions to the remaining
principal balance applying the interest method to the estimated minimum lease payments are as follows (dollars in thousands):

        The Term Loan Agreement, Master Lease Agreement and the BMO facility all require compliance with the financial covenants of the Credit Agreement.
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Year  
Aggregate
Amount  

2015  $ 893 
2016   237 

 $ 1,130 

Year  Amount  
2015  $ 5,274 
2016   5,455 
2017   3,269 

 $ 13,998 



Table of Contents

INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

        Interest expense on the Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, the Master Lease Agreement and the BMO facility, including commitment fees and
the amortization of debt issuance costs totaled $2.3 million, $2.7 million and $2.5 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

(15) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

        The components and allocated tax effects of other comprehensive income for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 are as
follows (dollars in thousands):

        Deferred taxes have not been provided on the cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries or the cumulative translation adjustment related
to those investments since there is currently no need to repatriate funds from certain foreign subsidiaries to the U.S. by way of dividends.

(16) Net Capital Requirement

        ITG Inc., AlterNet and ITG Derivatives are subject to the SEC's Uniform Net Capital Rule (Rule 15c3-1), which requires the maintenance of minimum net
capital. ITG Inc. has elected to use the alternative method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that ITG Inc. maintain minimum net capital equal to the
greater of $1.0 million or 2% of aggregate debit balances arising from customer transactions, as defined. AlterNet and ITG Derivatives have elected to use the
basic method permitted by Rule 15c3-1, which requires that they each maintain minimum net capital equal to the greater of 62/3% of aggregate indebtedness
or $100,000 and $1.0 million, respectively. Dividends or withdrawals of capital cannot be made if capital is needed to comply with regulatory requirements.

        Net capital balances and the amounts in excess of required net capital at December 31, 2014 for the U.S. Operations are as follows (dollars in millions):

        As of December 31, 2014, ITG Inc. had $10.0 million of cash in a Special Reserve Bank Account for the benefit of customers under the Customer
Protection Rule pursuant to SEC Rule 15c3-3, Computation for Determination of Reserve Requirements and $1.0 million under PABs.

        In addition, the Company's Canadian, European and Asia Pacific Operations have subsidiaries with regulatory capital requirements. The regulatory net
capital balances and amount of regulatory capital in
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Before Tax

Effects  Tax Effects  
After Tax

Effects  
December 31, 2014           
Currency translation adjustment  $ (5,894) $ — $ (5,894)

Total  $ (5,894) $ — $ (5,894)

December 31, 2013           
Currency translation adjustment  $ 8,536 $ — $ 8,536 

Total  $ 8,536 $ — $ 8,536 

  Net Capital  Excess  
U.S. Operations        
ITG Inc.  $ 99.8 $ 98.8 
AlterNet   5.5  5.3 
ITG Derivatives   2.4  1.4 
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excess of the minimum requirements applicable to each business at December 31, 2014, is summarized in the following table (dollars in millions):

(17) Stockholders' Equity

        The Company's current policy, which is reviewed continually, is to retain earnings to finance the operations and expansion of its businesses and to return
capital to stockholders through repurchases. As a result, the Company is not currently paying dividends on common stock.

Stock Repurchase Program

        To facilitate its stock repurchase program, designed to return value to stockholders and minimize dilution from stock issuances, the Company
repurchases shares in the open market. The table below summarizes the Company's share repurchases beginning January 1, 2010 under its Board of Directors'
authorizations:

        The Company also repurchased approximately 0.4 million, 0.4 million and 0.3 million shares of common stock during 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, to satisfy the minimum statutory employee withholding tax upon the net settlement of equity awards.

(18) Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

        The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges and clearing houses that trade and clear, respectively, equities and/or derivative
contracts. Associated with the Company's membership, the Company may be required to pay a proportionate share of financial obligations of another member

79

  Net Capital  Excess (Deficit)  
Canadian Operations        
Canada  $ 36.8 $ 36.4 

European Operations        
Ireland   63.2  39.0 
U.K.   3.9  3.0 

Asia Pacific Operations        
Australia   12.3  8.2 
Hong Kong   26.8  14.1 
Singapore   0.4  0.2 

   

 

Amount
Authorized
by Board
(Shares in
millions)

  

 

Shares
Remaining

Under Board
Authorization

(millions)

 

Shares Repurchased
Under Board
Authorization

 
   

 

Total
Shares

Repurchased
(millions)

 
 

 
Expiration

Date

 

Repurchase Program Authorization Date  2014  2013  2012  
October 2011  none   4.0  4.0  —  —  1.5  2.5 
May 2013  none   4.0  3.2  0.8  2.7  0.5  — 



October 2014  none   4.0  —  4.0  —  —  — 


Total shares repurchased under authorization   2.7  2.0  2.5 



Cost (millions)  $ 48.2 $ 28.2 $23.5 


Average share price  $18.03 $14.05 $9.50 
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who may default on its obligations to the exchanges or the clearing house. While the rules governing different exchange or clearing house memberships vary,
in general, the Company's obligations would arise only if the exchanges and clearing houses had previously exhausted other remedies. The maximum
potential payout under these memberships cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the consolidated financial
statements for these agreements and believes that any potential requirement to make payments under these agreements is remote. In the ordinary course of
business, the Company guarantees obligations of subsidiaries which may arise from third-party clearing relationships and trading counterparties. The
activities of the subsidiaries covered by these guarantees are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

        The Company's customer financing and securities settlement activities may require the Company to pledge customer securities as collateral in support of
various secured financing transactions such as bank loans. In the event the counterparty is unable to meet its contractual obligation to return customer
securities pledged as collateral, the Company may be exposed to the risk of acquiring the securities at prevailing market prices in order to satisfy its customer
obligations. The Company controls this risk by monitoring the market value of securities pledged on a daily basis and by requiring adjustments of collateral
levels in the event of excess market exposure.

        Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, securities owned at
fair value, receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and receivables from customers. Cash and cash equivalents and securities owned, at
fair value are deposited with high credit quality financial institutions.

        The Company loans securities temporarily to other brokers in connection with its securities lending activities. The Company receives cash as collateral
for the securities loaned. Increases in security prices may cause the market value of the securities loaned to exceed the amount of cash received as collateral.
In the event the counterparty to these transactions does not return the loaned securities, the Company may be exposed to the risk of acquiring the securities at
prevailing market prices in order to satisfy its client obligations. The Company controls this risk by requiring credit approvals for counterparties, by
monitoring the market value of securities loaned on a daily basis, and by requiring additional cash as collateral or returning collateral when necessary.

        The Company borrows securities temporarily from other brokers in connection with its securities borrowing activities. The Company deposits cash as
collateral for the securities borrowed. Decreases in security prices may cause the market value of the securities borrowed to fall below the amount of cash
deposited as collateral. In the event the counterparty to these transactions does not return collateral, the Company may be exposed to the risk of selling the
securities at prevailing market prices. The Company controls this risk by requiring credit approvals for counterparties, by monitoring the collateral values on
a daily basis, and by depositing additional collateral with counterparties or receiving cash when deemed necessary.

        The Company may at times maintain inventories in equity securities on both a long and short basis. Whereas long inventory positions represent the
Company's ownership of securities, short inventory positions represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified securities at a contracted price, which
may differ from market prices prevailing at the time of completion of the transaction. Accordingly, both long and short inventory positions may result in
losses or gains to the Company as market values of securities fluctuate. To mitigate the risk of losses, long and short positions are marked to market daily and
are continuously monitored by the Company.

80



Table of Contents

INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(19) Employee and Non-Employee Director Stock and Benefit Plans

        The 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the "2007 Plan") was approved by the Company's stockholders and became effective on May 8, 2007
(the "Effective Date") and was last amended and restated effective February 5, 2014. As of the Effective Date, the Amended and Restated Investment
Technology Group, Inc. Directors' Retainer Fee Subplan (the "Directors' Retainer Fee Subplan") and the Amended and Restated Investment Technology
Group, Inc. Directors' Equity Subplan (the "Directors' Equity Subplan," and collectively with the Directors' Retainer Fee Subplan, the "Subplans") were
merged with and into the 2007 Plan. Since the Effective Date, the Subplans have continued to be, and shall continue to be, in effect as subplans of the 2007
Plan and grants and/or deferrals may continue to be made. In October 2008, the compensation committee adopted the Equity Deferral Award Program,
another subplan under the 2007 Plan. This subplan was last amended and restated on February 3, 2015, is now known as the Variable Compensation Stock
Unit Award Program Subplan, and continues to be a subplan under the 2007 Plan (the "VCSUA Subplan").

        Under the 2007 Plan, 10,468,208 shares of the Company's common stock are authorized. Shares of common stock which are attributable to awards which
have expired, terminated, cash settled or been canceled or forfeited during any calendar year are generally available for issuance or use in connection with
future awards. Options that have been granted under the 2007 Plan are exercisable on dates ranging through February 2019. The 2007 Plan will remain in
effect until May 7, 2017, unless terminated, or extended, by the Board of Directors with the approval of the Company's stockholders. After this date, no
further awards shall be granted pursuant to the 2007 Plan, but previously-granted awards will remain outstanding in accordance with their applicable terms
and conditions.

        In January 2006, the Board of Directors adopted the Directors' Equity Subplan which became effective January 1, 2006 and merged into the 2007 Plan as
referenced above. The Directors' Equity Subplan was amended and restated on February 7, 2008 and more recently on April 30, 2012. The Directors' Equity
Subplan provides for the grant of restricted stock unit awards to non-employee directors of the Company. Under the Directors' Equity Subplan, a newly
appointed non-employee director will be granted restricted stock unit awards valued at $100,000 at, or shortly after, the time of appointment to the Board of
Directors. Such initial restricted stock unit award will vest annually in three equal installments, beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant. In
addition, non-employee directors will be granted restricted stock unit awards valued at $72,000 annually on the day of each of the Company's annual
meetings of stockholders at which directors are elected or reelected by the Company's stockholders. Such annual restricted stock unit awards will vest in full
on the day immediately preceding the Company's next annual meeting of stockholders at which directors are elected or reelected by the Company's
stockholders.

        Under the 2007 Plan, the Company is permitted to grant time-based stock options, in addition to performance-based option awards to employees and
directors, however the Company did not grant any option awards under the 2007 Plan during the three years ended December 31, 2014. Outstanding time-
based option awards vest annually in three equal installments, beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant, if the employee has remained
continuously employed or if the director has continued to serve on the board of directors from the grant date to the applicable vesting date. The Company
recognizes share-based compensation expense (see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) for time-based option awards over the vesting
period.
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        The tables below summarize the Company's outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and changes during the years then
ended:

 

        For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $0.1 million, $0.6 million and
$0.7 million, respectively, related to the Company's outstanding stock options, which was offset by related income tax benefits of less than $0.1 million,
$0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

        The weighted average remaining contractual term of stock options currently exercisable is 2.97 years.

        All of the stock options outstanding at December 31, 2014 were time-based.
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Options Outstanding  
Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
Outstanding at December 31, 2011   526,970 $ 27.27 

Granted   —  — 
Exercised   —  — 
Forfeited   (15,995)  43.15 

Outstanding at December 31, 2012   510,975  26.77 
Granted   —  — 
Exercised   —  — 
Forfeited   (167,649)  46.18 

Outstanding at December 31, 2013   343,326  17.29 
Granted   —  — 
Exercised   (14,228)  14.28 
Forfeited   (22,245)  20.09 

Outstanding at December 31, 2014   306,853 $ 17.23 
Amount exercisable at December 31,        

2014   306,853 $ 17.23 
2013   262,017  17.28 
2012   319,793  32.53 

  Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable  

Range of Exercise Prices  
Number

Outstanding  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
Number

Exercisable  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
$12.17 - 15.82   51,198  1.58 $ 12.17  51,198 $ 12.17 
  15.83 - 17.43   34,447  0.52  16.30  34,447  16.30 
  17.44 - 18.70   28,475  0.48  17.44  28,475  17.44 
  18.71 - 18.71   192,733  4.15  18.71  192,733  18.71 

  306,853  2.97 $ 17.23  306,853 $ 17.23 
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        The provision for income taxes excludes excess current tax benefits related to the exercise of stock options. During 2014, the exercise of 14,228 stock
options did not give rise to an excess current tax benefit, however a tax shortfall occurred on exercises and cancellations totaling $0.1 million was
recognized. During 2013 and 2012, no stock options were exercised and as a result the provision for income taxes did not include current tax benefits related
to the exercise of stock options. A tax shortfall related to cancellations of $0.3 million and $0.1 million was recognized in 2013 and 2012, respectively.
These tax shortfalls are reflected as decreases to additional paid-in capital as a result of the tax deduction being less than the cumulative book compensation
cost.

        The following table summarizes information about stock options at December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

        The total intrinsic value for both outstanding and exercisable stock options at December 31, 2014 was $1.1 million.

        As of December 31, 2014, all costs related to outstanding stock options has been fully recognized.

        Stock option exercises are settled from issuance of shares of the Company's common stock held in treasury to the extent available.

        Under the 2007 Plan, the Company is permitted to grant restricted share awards to employees. Generally, and except for awards granted under the
VCSUA Subplan, restricted share awards granted since 2007 vest in one of the following manners: (a) cliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date so
long as the award recipient is employed on such date, or (b) serial vest on each of the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant so long as the
award recipient is employed on the applicable vesting date and the 90-day average of the Company's common stock price preceding each of the vesting dates
is greater than the 90-day average of the Company's common stock price preceding the grant date (market-based restricted stock units). Accordingly, not all
restricted shares awarded will vest and be delivered. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense (see Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies) over this three-year period or four-year period, as applicable.

        Under the VCSUA Subplan, each eligible participant is granted a number of basic stock units on the date the year-end cash bonus would otherwise be
paid to the participant equal to (i) the amount by which the participant's variable compensation is reduced as determined by the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors, divided by (ii) the fair market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. In addition, each participant is
granted an additional number of matching stock units on the date of grant equal to 10% of the number of basic stock units granted. Basic stock units under
the VCSUA Subplan that are time-based vest in equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant, if the
participant remains continuously employed by the Company on each applicable vesting date. Matching stock units on time-based awards will vest 100% on
the third anniversary of the date of grant, if the participant remains continuously employed by the Company through such vesting date. Basic units under the
VCSUA Subplan that are market-based vest in equal installments on each of the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant so long as the
award recipient is employed on the applicable
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($ in thousands)  2014  2013  2012  
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised  $ 74 $ — $ — 
Weighted average grant date fair value of stock options granted during period, per share   —  —  — 
Cash received from stock option exercises   203  —  — 
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vesting date and the 90-day average of the Company's common stock price preceding each of the vesting dates is greater than the 90-day average of the
Company's common stock price preceding the grant date. Matching stock units on market-based awards will vest 100% on the fourth anniversary of the date
of grant so long as the award recipient is employed on the applicable vesting date and the 90-day average of the Company's common stock price preceding
the vesting date is greater than the 90-day average of the Company's common stock price preceding the grant date. All vested stock units are settled in shares
of ITG common stock within 30 days after the date on which such stock units vest.

        During 2010, in conjunction with the acquisition of Majestic Research Corp. ("Majestic"), the Company granted "employment inducement awards"
under Section 303A.08 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual ("Inducement Awards") to certain Majestic employees. Stock units for
319,674 shares vested in equal installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date of the awards. Stock units for 415,579 shares were
performance-based and vested over the first four anniversaries of the award grant dates, based upon achievement of certain metrics as of the first and second
anniversaries of the award grant dates.

        During 2011, in conjunction with the acquisition of RSEG, the Company granted Inducement Awards to certain RSEG employees. Stock units for
181,623 shares vested in equal installments on December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 and stock units for 181,328 shares vested in equal installments on each of
the first three anniversaries of the grant date of the awards.

        The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $15.0 million, $13.0 million ($0.4 million of which was recorded in restructuring charges),
and $12.4 million ($0.5 million of which was recorded in restructuring charges) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, related
to restricted share awards which were offset by related income tax benefits of approximately $6.0 million, $5.2 million and $5.0 million, respectively.

        A summary of the status of the Company's restricted share awards as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and changes during the years then ended are
presented below:
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Number of Shares
underlying

Performance-Based
or Market-Based
Restricted Stock

Units  

Number of
Shares

underlying
Time-Based
Restricted

Stock Units  

Total
Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2011   792,058  2,263,246  3,055,304 $ 17.49 
Granted   216,740  1,176,006  1,392,746  10.63 
Vested   (86,769)  (963,991)  (1,050,760)  17.99 
Forfeited   (244,198)  (91,757)  (335,955)  26.10 

Outstanding at December 31, 2012   677,831  2,383,504  3,061,335  13.25 
Granted   91,932  898,869  990,801  12.00 
Vested   (64,865)  (1,138,277)  (1,203,142)  14.47 
Forfeited   (246,155)  (197,622)  (443,777)  12.20 

Outstanding at December 31, 2013   458,743  1,946,474  2,405,217  12.31 
Granted   219,644  1,239,029  1,458,673  15.45 
Vested   (145,786)  (977,934)  (1,123,720)  13.63 
Forfeited   (94,579)  (38,089)  (132,668)  12.10 

Outstanding at December 31, 2014   438,022  2,169,480  2,607,502 $ 13.51 
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        At December 31, 2014, 438,022 of the outstanding restricted share awards were market-based restricted stock units.

        As of December 31, 2014, there was $20.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding restricted share awards. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.93 years. During 2014, restricted shares with a fair value of approximately
$18.6 million vested.

        The provision for income taxes excludes excess current tax benefits related to the vesting of restricted share awards. For the year ended December 31,
2014, the excess tax benefits totaled $1.3 million while tax shortfalls from cancellations were $0.4 million. Such tax benefits are reflected as an increase in
additional paid-in capital while tax shortfalls arising from the tax deduction being less than the cumulative book compensation cost is reflected as a decrease
in additional paid-in capital. During 2013 and 2012, there were no such tax benefits, but rather tax shortfalls of $1.2 million and $4.0 million related to the
vesting and cancellation of restricted share awards, respectively.

        Under the 2007 Plan and the VCSUA Subplan, the Company is permitted to grant phantom share awards. Phantom share awards vest like any other award
granted under the 2007 Plan and VCSUA Subplan as described above and are settled in cash. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense
(see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) over the applicable vesting period. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the
Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $3.5 million, $7.3 million and $2.6 million, respectively related to phantom share awards offset by
related tax benefits of $0.9 million, $2.0 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

        A summary of the status of the Company's phantom share awards as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and changes during the years then ended are
presented below:

        At December 31, 2014, 48,751 of the outstanding phantom share awards were market-based.

        As of December 31, 2014, there was $2.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to grants of phantom share awards. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.02 years. The Company discontinued granting phantom share awards effective
January 1, 2014.
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Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2011   397,747 $ 18.47 
Granted   447,353  11.33 
Vested   (135,049)  19.46 
Forfeited   (14,341)  17.21 

Outstanding at December 31, 2012   695,710  13.72 
Granted   249,365  12.01 
Vested   (245,296)  14.52 
Forfeited   (28,017)  14.92 

Outstanding at December 31, 2013   671,762  12.74 
Granted   —  — 
Vested   (310,121)  14.06 
Forfeited   (3,292)  11.73 

Outstanding at December 31, 2014   358,349 $ 11.61 
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ITG Employee and Non-Employee Director Benefit Plans

        All U.S. employees are eligible to participate in the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan ("RSP"). The RSP applies to all eligible
compensation up to the Internal Revenue Service annual maximum which was $260,000 during 2014. Since January 1, 2012, the Company matching
contribution applies to 50% of voluntary employee contributions, on a maximum of 4% of eligible compensation per year. The Company may still make
discretionary contributions based on consolidated profits. Most of the Company's international employees are eligible to participate in similar defined
contribution plans. The costs for these benefits were approximately $4.3 million, $4.6 million and $5.5 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and are
included in compensation and employee benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        Non-employee directors receive an annual retainer fee of $60,000, with the exception of the chairman who receives $160,000 under the Directors'
Retainer Fee Subplan, which was adopted in 2002. This retainer fee is payable, at the election of each director, either in (i) cash, (ii) Company common stock
with a value equal to the retainer fee on the grant date or (iii) under a deferred compensation plan which provides deferred share units with a value equal to
the retainer fee on the grant date which convert to freely sellable shares when the director retires from the Board of Directors. Directors who chose common
stock or deferred share units, in the aggregate, received 18,716 units or shares, 33,010 units or shares, and 39,571 units in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
At December 31, 2014, there were 200,690 deferred share units outstanding. The cost of the Directors' Retainer Fee Subplan was approximately $738,000,
$714,000, and $854,000 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is included in other general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

        In November 1997, the Board of Directors approved the ITG Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"), an employee stock purchase plan qualified under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. The ESPP became effective February 1, 1998 and allows all full-time employees in the U.S. and Canada to
purchase shares of ITG common stock at a 15% discount through automatic payroll deductions. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, the ESPP is
compensatory. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense related to the ESPP of $272,000, $242,000, and $390,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Shares distributed under the ESPP are newly-issued shares.
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(20) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

        The following is a reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

        At December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately 0.4 million and 0.2 million share equivalents (based on the treasury stock method), respectively, were
not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effects would have been anti-dilutive. The impact of all 3.6 million common
stock equivalents in 2012 was anti-dilutive due to the fact that the Company reported a loss.

(21) Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

        The Company is periodically involved in litigation and various legal matters that arise in the normal course of business, including proceedings relating
to regulatory matters. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and outcomes that are not predictable. At the current time, the Company does not
believe that any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its financial position or future results of operations.

Lease Commitments

        The Company has entered into lease and sublease agreements with third parties for certain offices and equipment, which expire at various dates through
2029. Rent expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $12.4 million, $17.6 million and $13.2 million, respectively, and is
recorded in occupancy and equipment expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Rent expense for 2013 includes duplicate rent charges of
$2.6 million while the Company built-out its new headquarters and a charge of $2.3 million recorded in the second quarter of 2013 for the remaining rent
expense at its old headquarters, which was incurred upon completion of the move. Rent expense for 2012 includes duplicate rent charges of $1.4 million. The
Company recognizes rent expense for escalation clauses, rent holidays, leasehold improvement incentives and other concessions using the
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  2014  2013  2012  
Net income (loss) for basic and diluted earnings per share  $ 50,892 $ 31,085 $ (247,859)
Shares of common stock and common stock equivalents:           

Weighted average shares—basic   35,349  36,788  38,418 
Effect of dilutive securities   1,016  1,326  — 
Weighted average shares—diluted   36,365  38,114  38,418 

Earnings (loss) per share:           
Basic  $ 1.44 $ 0.84 $ (6.45)
Diluted  $ 1.40 $ 0.82 $ (6.45)
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straight-line method over the minimum lease term. Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases follow (dollars in thousands):

Other Commitments

        Pursuant to employment arrangements, in the event of termination of employment without cause on December 31, 2014, the Company would be
obligated to pay separation payments totaling $5.4 million.

        Pursuant to contracts expiring through 2017, the Company is obligated to purchase market data, maintenance and other services totaling $42.3 million.

(22) Segment Reporting

        The Company is organized into four geographic operating segments through which the Company's chief operating decision maker manages the
Company's business. The U.S., Canadian, European and Asia Pacific Operations segments provide the following categories of products and services:

• Electronic Brokerage—includes self-directed trading by clients using algorithms, smart routing and matching through POSIT in cash equities
(including single stocks and portfolio lists), futures and options 

• Research, Sales and Trading—includes (a) differentiated, unbiased, data-driven equity research through the use of innovative data mining and
analysis, as well as detailed analysis of energy plays, and (b) portfolio trading and high-touch trading desks providing execution expertise and
trading ideas based on investment research 

• Platforms—includes trade order and execution management software applications in addition to network connectivity 

• Analytics—includes tools enabling portfolio managers and traders to improve pre-trade and real-time execution performance, portfolio
construction and optimization decisions and securities valuation.

        The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The
Company allocates resources to, and evaluates the performance of, its reportable segments based on income or loss before income tax expense. Consistent
with the Company's resource allocation and operating performance evaluation approach, the effects of inter-segment activities are eliminated except in
limited circumstances where certain technology related costs are allocated to a segment to support that segment's revenue producing activities. Commissions
and fees revenue for trade executions and commission share revenues are principally attributed to each segment based upon the location of execution of the
related transaction except that commissions and fees for trade executions by Canadian clients in the U.S. market are attributed to the Canadian
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Year Ending December 31,    
2015  $ 17,214 
2016   15,361 
2017   9,418 
2018   8,835 
2019 and thereafter   74,228 

Total  $ 125,056 
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Operations instead of the U.S. Operations. Recurring revenues are principally attributed based upon the location of the client using the respective service.

        A summary of the segment financial information is as follows (dollars in thousands):
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U.S.

Operations  
Canadian

Operations  
European

Operations  
Asia Pacific
Operations  Consolidated  

2014                 
Total revenues  $ 306,933 $ 78,093 $ 127,563 $ 47,225 $ 559,814 
Income (loss) before income tax

expense   15,779  16,729  34,004  (1,525)  64,987 
Identifiable assets   929,062  105,898  249,702  66,187  1,350,849 
Capital purchases   10,645  1,656  1,114  383  13,798 
Depreciation and amortization   38,659  3,153  6,422  1,150  49,384 
Share-based compensation   11,209  3,795  2,891  979  18,874 
2013                 
Total revenues  $ 318,036 $ 74,994 $ 91,792 $ 45,979 $ 530,801 
(Loss) income before income tax

expense (1) (2) (3)   15,687  11,441  18,106  (2,179)  43,055 
Identifiable assets   1,183,986  88,503  202,015  64,968  1,539,472 
Capital purchases   28,367  1,188  3,323  671  33,549 
Depreciation and amortization   43,017  3,437  6,012  1,140  53,606 
Share-based compensation   10,932  6,852  2,223  854  20,861 
2012                 
Total revenues  $ 321,379 $ 76,913 $ 67,266 $ 38,878 $ 504,436 
(Loss) income before income tax

expense (1) (2) (4)   (248,101)  10,397  (24,350)  (8,401)  (270,455)
Identifiable assets   1,238,822  99,625  108,675  45,854  1,492,976 
Capital purchases   29,159  2,575  923  767  33,424 
Depreciation and amortization   44,585  3,711  6,918  1,279  56,493 
Share-based compensation   10,449  2,543  2,091  545  15,628 

(1) In the second quarter of 2013, the Company incurred $1.6 million to implement a restructuring plan to close its technology research
and development facility in Israel and migrate that function to an outsourced service provider model effective January 1, 2014. This
plan primarily focused on reducing costs by limiting ITG's geographic footprint while maintaining the necessary technological
expertise via a consulting arrangement. The Company also reduced previously-recorded 2012 and 2011 restructuring accruals of
$1.6 million to reflect the sub-lease of previously-vacated office space and certain legal and other employee-related charges deemed
unnecessary. 

(2) During the fourth quarter of 2012, ITG began its build-out of its new lower Manhattan headquarters while continuing to occupy its
then-existing headquarters in midtown Manhattan. As a result, ITG incurred duplicate rent charges of $2.6 million during the first half
of 2013 and $1.4 million in 2012. 

(3) In the second quarter of 2013, ITG moved into its new headquarters and incurred a one-time charge of $3.9 million, which includes a
reserve for the remaining lease obligation at the previous midtown Manhattan headquarters. 

(4) Loss before tax expense in 2012 includes the impact of a $274.3 million goodwill impairment charge. The segment breakdown of this
charge is as follows: U.S. Operations—$245.1 million, European Operations—$28.5 million and Asia Pacific Operations—
$0.7 million.
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        The table below details the total revenues for the categories of products and services provided by the Company (dollars in thousands):

        Long-lived assets, classified by the geographic region in which the Company operates, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

        The Company's long-lived assets primarily consist of premises and equipment, capitalized software, goodwill, other intangibles and debt issuance costs.

(23) Supplementary Financial Information (unaudited)

        The following tables set forth certain unaudited financial data for the Company's quarterly operations in 2014 and 2013. The following information has
been prepared on the same basis as the annual information presented elsewhere in this report and, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the
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  2014  2013  2012  
Revenues:           
Electronic Brokerage  $ 294,529 $ 279,830 $ 250,882 
Research, Sales and Trading   122,042  107,383  106,427 
Platforms   95,926  96,127  99,334 
Analytics   46,012  46,004  46,508 
Corporate (non-product)   1,305  1,457  1,285 

Total Revenues  $ 559,814 $ 530,801 $ 504,436 

  2014  2013  2012  
Long-lived Assets at December 31,           
United States  $ 107,746 $ 116,812 $ 115,726 
Canada   7,070  5,676  7,174 
Europe   29,531  11,413  10,260 
Asia Pacific   2,377  2,046  2,305 

Total  $ 146,724 $ 135,947 $ 135,465 
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information for the quarterly periods presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

        Earnings per share for quarterly periods are based on the weighted average common shares outstanding in individual quarters; thus, the sum of earnings
per share of the quarters may not equal the amounts reported for the full year.
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  (Unaudited) December 31, 2014  (Unaudited) December 31, 2013  
$ in thousands, expect per share
amounts  

Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter  

Total revenues  $148,966 $134,773 $138,466 $137,609 $131,900 $127,558 $139,293 $132,050 
Expenses:                          

Compensation and
employee benefits   59,453  52,408  52,720  51,177  50,839  49,664  51,202  49,549 

Transaction processing   24,234  21,561  20,109  20,496  19,971  19,790  22,499  21,532 
Occupancy and

equipment   14,811  14,937  14,985  15,078  15,940  15,821  20,720  16,541 
Telecommunications and

data processing
services                  12,893  12,942  12,655  12,697  13,142  12,649  13,718  14,098 

Other general and
administrative   19,248  20,281  20,715  19,105  20,544  18,351  19,760  18,776 

Restructuring charges   —  —  —  —  —  —  (75) — 
Interest expense   526  566  594  636  821  593  699  602 

Total expenses   131,165  122,695  121,778  119,189  121,257  116,868  128,523  121,098 
Income before income tax

expense   17,801  12,078  16,688  18,420  10,643  10,690  10,770  10,952 
Income tax expense   4,820  713  3,762  4,800  981  2,975  5,684  2,330 
Net income  $ 12,981 $ 11,365 $ 12,926 $ 13,620 $ 9,662 $ 7,715 $ 5,086 $ 8,622 
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.38 $ 0.32 $ 0.36 $ 0.38 $ 0.27 $ 0.21 $ 0.14 $ 0.23 
Diluted earnings (loss) per

share  $ 0.36 $ 0.32 $ 0.35 $ 0.37 $ 0.26 $ 0.20 $ 0.13 $ 0.22 
Basic weighted average

number of common shares
outstanding   34,521  35,093  35,720  36,081  36,287  36,544  36,956  37,378 

Diluted weighted average
number of common shares
outstanding   35,640  36,026  36,641  37,185  37,685  37,781  38,000  38,615 

  (Unaudited) December 31, 2014  (Unaudited) December 31, 2013  

As a percentage of Total Revenues  
Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter  

Total revenues   100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Expenses:                          
Compensation and employee

benefits   39.9  38.9  38.1  37.2  38.5  38.9  36.8  37.5 
Transaction processing   16.3  16.0  14.5  14.9  15.1  15.5  16.2  16.3 
Occupancy and equipment   9.9  11.1  10.8  11.0  12.1  12.4  14.9  12.5 
Telecommunications and

data processing services   8.7  9.6  9.1  9.2  10.0  9.9  9.8  10.7 
Other general and

administrative   12.9  15.0  15.0  13.9  15.6  14.4  14.2  14.2 
Restructuring charges   —  —  —     —  —  (0.1)  — 
Interest expense   0.4  0.4  0.4  0.4  0.6  0.5  0.5  0.5 
Total expenses   88.1  91.0  87.9  86.6  91.9  91.6  92.3  91.7 
Income before income tax

expense   11.9  9.0  12.1  13.4  8.1  8.4  7.7  8.3 
Income tax expense   3.2  0.5  2.7  3.5  0.7  2.3  4.1  1.8 
Net income   8.7% 8.5% 9.4% 9.9% 7.3% 6.0% 3.7% 6.5%
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  Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

        There were no changes in, or disagreements with, accountants reportable herein.

  Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures 

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Based
on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as
of the end of the period covered by this annual report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        The management of ITG is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. ITG's internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of ITG's chief executive and chief financial officers, and affected by ITG's board of directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of ITG's financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of ITG, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of ITG are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of ITG's management and directors and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of ITG's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate.

        Management assessed the effectiveness of ITG's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework (2013). Based on its assessment and those criteria, management has concluded that ITG maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014.

        The effectiveness of ITG's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 has been audited by KPMG LLP, ITG's independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report on the following page, which expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of ITG's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Investment Technology Group, Inc.:

        We have audited Investment Technology Group, Inc.'s (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        In our opinion, Investment Technology Group, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated statements
of financial condition of Investment Technology Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2014, and our report dated March 13, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York

March 13, 2015
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 Item 9B.    Other Information 

        None

 
 PART III 

 Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

        Information with respect to this item is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

 Item 11.    Executive Compensation 

        Information with respect to this item is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

 Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

        Information with respect to this item is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

 Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

        Information with respect to this item is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

 Item 14.    Principal Accounting Fees and Services 

        Information with respect to this item is contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

 
 PART IV 

 Item 15.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a)(1) Financial Statements

        Included in Part II of this report:

(a)(2)  Schedules

        Schedules are omitted because the required information either is not applicable or is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.
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Exhibits
Number  Description

    3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999).

    3.2  Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November 14, 2014).

    4.1  Form of Certificate for Common Stock of the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1999).

  10.1 + Credit Agreement, dated January 31, 2011 by and among ITG Inc., Investment Technology Group, Inc., the several banks and other
financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto as lenders, Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, Bank of Montreal
as document agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

  10.2  Credit Agreement, dated January 31, 2014 by and among ITG Inc., Investment Technology Group, Inc., the several banks and other
financial institutions or entities from time to time parties thereto as lenders, Bank of America, N.A. and Bank of Montreal, as syndication
agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Amended Annual Report
on Form 10-K/A (Amendment No. 2) for the year ended December 31, 2013).

  10.3  Lease, dated October 4, 1996 between Spartan Madison Corp. and the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.5.3 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

  10.3.1  First Supplemental Agreement, dated as of January 29, 1997 between Spartan Madison Corp. and the Company (incorporated by reference
as Exhibit 10.5.4 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

  10.3.2  Second Supplemental Agreement, dated as of November 25, 1997 between Spartan Madison Corp. and the Company (incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.5.5 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

  10.3.3  Third Supplemental Agreement, dated as of September 29, 1999 between Spartan Madison Corp. and the Company (incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.5.9 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

  10.3.4  Fourth Supplemental Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2006 between TAG 380, LLC and the Company (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.4.17 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

  10.4  Lease, dated as of February 24, 2012, between Brookfield Properties OLP Co. LLC and Investment Technology Group, Inc. (incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.47 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011).

  10.5  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Pay-For-Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.13.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

  10.5.1  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Pay-For-Performance Incentive Plan (2014) (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).
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Number  Description

  10.6  Investment Technology Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated August 5, 2010).

  10.6.1  Investment Technology Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (2014) (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.6.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

  10.7  Form of Investment Technology Group, Inc. Stock Unit Grant Agreement for Employees (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.25 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

  10.7.1  Form of Investment Technology Group, Inc. Stock Unit Grant Agreement for Employees (2014).

  10.8  Investment Technology Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated November 8, 2011).

  10.8.1  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan Variable Compensation Stock Unit
Award Program Subplan (2014) (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.10.2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013).

  10.8.2  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan Variable Compensation Stock Unit
Award Program Subplan (2015) (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 2015).

  10.9  Form of Grant Notice under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan between
the Company and certain employees of the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.43 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2011).

  10.10  Form of KEEP Grant Notice under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan
between the Company and Executive Committee Members of the Company (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.44 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011).

  10.11 * Form of Grant Notice under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan between
the Company and certain employees of the Company (2014).

  10.12  Form of Grant Notice under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan between
the Company and Executive Committee Members of the Company (2014) (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K dated February 3, 2015).

  10.13  Form of Grant Notice (ExCo ROE Awards) under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program
Subplan between the Company and Executive Committee Members of the Company (2015) (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 2015).

  10.14 * Form of Grant Notice (MD ROE Awards) under the Investment Technology Group, Inc. Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program
Subplan between the Company and certain employees of the Company (2015).
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  10.15  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.19 to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

  10.16  Investment Technology Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, dated as of January 1, 1999 (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.4.7
to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

  10.17  Form of Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

  10.18  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Directors' Retainer Fee Subplan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.19.2 to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

  10.19  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Directors' Equity Subplan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.5.3 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

  10.19.1  Amended and Restated Investment Technology Group, Inc. Directors' Equity Subplan (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012).

  10.20  Form of Investment Technology Group, Inc. Stock Unit Grant Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.4 to Form 10-Q dated November 8, 2007).

  10.21  Form of Investment Technology Group, Inc. Stock Unit Grant Agreement (Annual Stock Units) for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated
by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012).

  10.22  Form of Investment Technology Group, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-Q dated November 8, 2007).

  10.23  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated April 20, 2010, between Investment Technology Group, Inc. and Robert C. Gasser
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q dated May 10, 2010).

  10.24  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement between Investment Technology Group, Inc and Robert C. Gasser (incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.36 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007).

  10.25  Offer letter dated December 21, 2009 between Steven R. Vigliotti and Investment Technology Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.40 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009).

  10.26  Amended and Restated Employee Advisor Agreement, dated May 30, 2008, between Investment Technology Group, Inc. and Raymond L.
Killian, Jr. (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q dated August 7, 2008).

  10.27  Retirement Agreement and General Release, effective August 1, 2011 between Christopher Heckman and Investment Technology
Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.30 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012).

  10.28 *^ Agreement, effective December 24, 2012, between David J. Stevens and Investment Technology Group, Inc.
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Number  Description

  21.1 * Subsidiaries of Company.

  23.1 * Consent of KPMG LLP.

  31.1 * Rule 13a-14(a) Certification.

  31.2 * Rule 13a-14(a) Certification.

  32.1 * Section 1350 Certification.

  101.INS * XBRL Report Instance Document.

  101.SCH * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

  101.PRE * XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.

  101.CAL * XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.

  101.LAB * XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.

  101.DEF * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

* Filed herewith. 

+ Portions of this agreement have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed on February 28, 2011. 

^ Portions of this agreement filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 were previously omitted
pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed on March 5, 2013. 

See list of exhibits at Item 15(a)(3) above and exhibits following.
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 SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 13, 2015

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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  INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.

  

By:  /s/ STEVEN R. VIGLIOTTI

Steven R. Vigliotti
Chief Financial Officer and

Duly Authorized Signatory of Registrant

Signature  Title  Date

     
/s/ MAUREEN O'HARA

Maureen O'Hara

 Chairman of Board of Directors  March 13, 2015

/s/ ROBERT C. GASSER

Robert C. Gasser

 Chief Executive Officer, President
and Director

 March 13, 2015

/s/ STEVEN R. VIGLIOTTI

Steven R. Vigliotti

 Managing Director and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)

 March 13, 2015

/s/ ANGELO BULONE

Angelo Bulone

 Managing Director and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

 March 13, 2015

/s/ MINDER CHENG

Minder Cheng  Director  March 13, 2015

/s/ CHRISTOPHER V. DODDS

Christopher V. Dodds  Director  March 13, 2015

/s/ TIMOTHY L. JONES

Timothy L. Jones  Director  March 13, 2015

/s/ T. KELLEY MILLET

T. Kelley Millet  Director  March 13, 2015

/s/ KEVIN J.P. O'HARA

Kevin J.P. O'Hara  Director  March 13, 2015

/s/ STEVEN S. WOOD

Steven S. Wood  Director  March 13, 2015
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United States
 

INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.
 

2007 OMNIBUS EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
VARIABLE COMPENSATION STOCK UNIT AWARD PROGRAM SUBPLAN

 
GRANT NOTICE

 
Investment Technology Group, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to Section 6 of its Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan (the
“Program”), hereby grants to you as a Participant under the Program, Stock Units representing a generally nontransferable right to receive one share of
Company Stock with respect to each underlying Stock Unit at a specified future date together with a right to Dividend Equivalents on Basic Units as
specified in the Program (the “Grant”), subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth herein, the Program and the Investment Technology Group, Inc.
2007 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the “Plan”).(1)  All capitalized terms herein that are not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to
such terms in the Program or Plan, as applicable.
 
Participant:
Date of Grant:
Number of Basic Stock Units subject to Grant:
Number of Matching Stock Units subject to Grant:
 
Vesting Schedule: The Basic Units subject to this Grant shall vest in equal annual installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the Date
of Grant if the Participant remains continuously employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries through, and is in Good Standing (as defined below) on, each
applicable vesting date. The Matching Units granted with respect to the Basic Units subject to this Grant shall vest 100% on the third anniversary of the Date
of Grant if the Participant remains continuously employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries through, and is in Good Standing on, such date.  The
Participant shall receive shares of Company Stock in settlement of the Basic Units and Matching Units in accordance with the terms of the Program, subject
to the collection of applicable taxes in connection with the issuance of Company Stock. For purposes of this Grant, “Good Standing” means the Participant is
actively employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries on the applicable date and has not given a notice of resignation to, or received a notice of termination
from, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to such date.
 
Violation of Code of Conduct; Forfeiture of Unvested Basic Units and Matching Units:  If, prior to the date Basic Units and Matching Units otherwise
become vested in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth above, the Participant materially breaches the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, as such material breach is determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), or any other
committee appointed by the Board to administer the Program (the “Compensation Committee”), in its sole discretion, the Compensation Committee may
determine, in its sole discretion, that the Basic Units and Matching Units shall cease to vest effective as of the date of the Participant’s material breach,
subject to compliance with applicable law.
 
Acknowledgements: You acknowledge receipt of this Grant Notice, the Program, the Plan and the Plan prospectus.(1)  You further acknowledge that this
Grant is made under, and governed by the terms and conditions of, the Plan and the Program and you agree to be bound by such terms.  The Compensation
Committee has the authority to interpret and construe this Grant pursuant to the terms of the Program and the Plan, and its decisions shall be conclusive as to
any questions arising hereunder.
 

(1)   The Plan, Plan prospectus, and Program are available on ITG Exchange.  In addition, paper copies of the Plan, Plan prospectus and Program are available
upon request by contacting the Legal Department of the Company at ITG_Legal.
 



 
Recoupment Policy:  You agree that you will be subject to any compensation clawback or recoupment policies that may be applicable to you as an
employee of the Company or any of its affiliates, as in effect from time to time and as approved by the Board or the Compensation Committee, whether or not
approved before or after the Date of Grant.
 
INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. PARTICIPANT
   
   
By: By:
Name: Name:
Title: Date:
Date:
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United States
 

INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC.
 

2007 OMNIBUS EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
VARIABLE COMPENSATION STOCK UNIT AWARD PROGRAM SUBPLAN

 
20XX GRANT NOTICE (MD ROE AWARDS)

 
Investment Technology Group, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan (the “Program”), hereby
grants to you as a Participant under the Program, Stock Units representing a generally nontransferable right to receive one share of Company Stock with
respect to each underlying Stock Unit at a specified future date together with a right to Dividend Equivalents on Basic Units as specified in the Program (the
“Grant”), subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth herein, the Program and the Investment Technology Group, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Equity
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”).(1) All capitalized terms herein that are not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Program
or Plan, as applicable.
 
Participant:
Date of Grant:
Number of Basic Units subject to Grant:
Number of Matching Units subject to Grant:
Performance Period: January 1, 20XX through December 31, 20XX
Target ROE: %
 
Basic Units Vesting Schedule: The Basic Units subject to this Grant shall be divided into three equal annual installments, and each installment shall vest on
each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the Date of Grant, if the Participant remains continuously employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries
through, and is in Good Standing (as defined below) on, each applicable vesting date.
 
Matching Units Vesting Schedule: The Matching Units granted with respect to the Basic Units subject to this Grant are designated as Performance-Based
Units under the Program. The Matching Units subject to this Grant shall vest, if at all, on the third anniversary of the Date of Grant (the “Vesting Date”) based
on the average of the annual ROE levels (as defined below) achieved during the Performance Period (i.e. the average of the 20XX, 20XX and 20XX ROE), if
the Participant remains continuously employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries through, and is in Good Standing on, such date. The number of Matching
Units set forth above is the number of Matching Units that may vest based on 100% achievement of Target ROE during the Performance Period (calculated
on an average basis) (the “Target Award”).(2)
 
The actual number of Matching Units that vest pursuant to this Grant may be greater or less than the Target Award, or even zero, and will be based on the
average level of ROE achieved during the Performance Period in accordance with the following performance schedule.
 

ROE PERFORMANCE SCHEDULE
 

ROE Performance Level Payout Level
Below Threshold less than X% 0 %
Threshold X% 50 %
Target X% 100 %
Maximum X% or more 150 %

 

(1)   The Plan, Plan prospectus, and Program are available on ITG Exchange. In addition, paper copies of the Plan, Plan prospectus and Program are available
upon request by contacting the Legal Department of the Company at ITG_Legal.
(2)  For example, if the average ROE during the Performance Period is X% and the Target ROE is X%, the number of Matching Units set forth above will vest,
subject to the continued employment and Good Standing requirements noted above.
 



 
If actual ROE performance for the Performance Period is between performance levels, the number of Matching Units that may vest on the Vesting Date will be
interpolated on a straight line basis for pro-rata achievement. Failure to achieve the threshold performance level will result in no Matching Units vesting
pursuant to this Grant and in no event will the number of Matching Units vesting pursuant to this Grant exceed 150% of the Matching Units set forth above.
(3)
 
For purposes of this Grant, (i) “Good Standing” means the Participant is actively employed by the Company or its Subsidiaries on the Vesting Date and has
not given a notice of resignation to, or received a notice of termination from, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to such date and (ii) “ROE” means
the percentage determined by dividing the Company’s net income (adjusted to exclude non-operating or one-time items such as restructuring charges and
asset impairments in accordance with the Company’s historical practices and as determined by the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation
Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”)) for a fiscal year by the Company’s average stockholders’ equity during such fiscal year.
 
Settlement:  The Participant shall receive shares of Company Stock in settlement of the Basic Units and Matching Units in accordance with the terms of the
Program, subject to the collection of applicable taxes in connection with the issuance of Company Stock.
 
Recoupment Policy:  You agree that you will be subject to any compensation clawback and recoupment policies that may be applicable to you as an
employee of the Company or any of its affiliates, as in effect from time to time and as approved by the Board or the Compensation Committee, whether or not
approved before or after the Date of Grant.
 
Violation of Code of Conduct; Forfeiture of Unvested Basic Units and Matching Units:  If, prior to the date Basic Units and Matching Units otherwise
become vested in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth above, the Participant materially breaches the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, as such material breach is determined by the Compensation Committee, or any other committee appointed by the Board to administer the Program, in
its sole discretion, the Compensation Committee may determine, in its sole discretion, that the Basic Units and Matching Units shall cease to vest effective as
of the date of the Participant’s material breach, subject to compliance with applicable law.
 
Acknowledgements: You acknowledge receipt of this Grant Notice, the Program, the Plan and the Plan prospectus.(1)  You further acknowledge that this
Grant is made under, and governed by the terms and conditions of, the Plan and the Program except as otherwise set forth herein and you agree to be bound
by such terms. The Compensation Committee, or any other committee appointed by the Board to administer the Program, has the authority to interpret and
construe this Grant pursuant to the terms of the Program and the Plan, and its decisions shall be conclusive as to any questions arising hereunder.
 
 
INVESTMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. PARTICIPANT
   
   
By: By:
Name: Name:
Title: Date:
Date:
 

(3)  For illustrative purposes only, assume you were granted 10 Matching Units and the Target ROE was X%. If (a) the average ROE for the Performance
Period was X%, 15 Matching Units would vest, (b) the average ROE for the Performance Period was X%, 5 Matching Units would vest and (c) the average
ROE for the Performance Period was X%, no Matching Units would vest.  For the avoidance of doubt, vesting in (a) and (b) is subject to the continued
employment and Good Standing requirements noted above.
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November 30, 2012
 
David James Stevens
[Address]
 
Dear David,
 

This Agreement and General Release (the “Agreement and Release”) sets forth the terms of your mutual separation from employment with
ITG Inc. (“ITG” or the “Company”) effective January 31, 2012 (the “Separation Date”).  You need to remain employed by ITG in good standing through the
Separation Date for the Agreement and Release to be in effect.  If you resign voluntarily, or are terminated for Cause (as defined in the Offer Letter dated as of
September 14, 2011 between you and the Company) prior to the Separation Date, all terms of this Agreement and Release will be null and void.

 
Regardless of whether you sign this Agreement and Release or not, you will receive: (i) a final paycheck which will include a payment for

all unpaid base salary you have earned through the Separation Date, less any applicable deductions and withholdings.  Although your medical coverage will
end on the last day of the month in which your employment terminates, you will be eligible to continue that coverage at your expense pursuant to the
provisions of the law known as COBRA.  We will send you a separate notice detailing your rights under COBRA. All other benefits, including life insurance,
short and long-term disability, will cease upon the Separation Date.

 
1.                                      Additional Payments/Benefits for Signing This Agreement and Release. In exchange for entering into this Agreement and

Release, ITG will provide you with the additional payments and benefits described below following the Effective Date (as defined below) of this Agreement
and Release.  The payments and benefits in Sections 1(a) and (b) below shall become available in accordance with the terms set forth in those Sections,
provided that you have complied with all of your obligations and the terms of this Agreement and Release.

 
(a)                                 Payment.  You will receive a payment in the aggregate amount of GBP 631,911.53 less any applicable deductions and

withholdings which will be paid in six monthly installments (“Payments”).  These Payments shall commence as soon as administratively possible (generally
within ninety (90) calendar days following the Separation Date).  In addition, ITG will pay you GBP 2,527.65 representing the enrollment cost of a private
medical plan in the United Kingdom for 2013.

 
(b)                             Continued Vesting and Payment of Certain Equity Awards.  Subject to your compliance with the covenants in Section 4 below,

you will continue to vest in (i) all Basic Units (“Basic Units”), as defined in the Variable Compensation Stock Unit Award Program Subplan
 



 
(formerly the Equity Deferral Award Program Subplan) (the “Equity Subplan”) and Matching Units, as defined in the Equity Subplan, awarded to you
pursuant to the grant notices related to time-based awards only dated February 23, 2010, February 25, 2011 and February 23, 2012 under the Equity Subplan
as if you continued in employment with the Company through each applicable vesting date set forth in such grant notices and (ii) a portion of the Basic Units
(10,603 units) awarded to you pursuant to the grant notice related to the performance-based awards granted to you on February 23, 2012 under the Equity
Subplan (x) as if you continued in employment with the Company through February 23, 2014, the first vesting date set forth in such grant notice, and
(y) pursuant to the terms and conditions of such grant notice. For the avoidance of doubt, the remaining 21,204 Basic Units and the 3,181 Matching Units
granted to you pursuant to the grant notice related to the performance-based awards granted to you on February 23, 2012 under the Equity Subplan shall be
forfeited on the Separation Date.
 

The Basic Units and Matching Units (as applicable) referenced in this Section 1(b) will be settled on the schedule set forth in Section 7(a)
(i) and (ii) of the Equity Subplan; provided that if (i) a change in control occurs prior to the applicable settlement date and the change in control transaction
constitutes a “change in control event” within the meaning of such term under section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),
or (ii) you incur a Disability (as defined in the Equity Subplan) or die prior to the applicable settlement date, in either case, any remaining Basic Units and
Matching Units referenced in this Section 1(b) that have not yet vested and been settled shall be settled within 30 days following the date of the change in
control, or within 60 days of your Disability or death, as applicable.  If a change in control occurs and the change in control transaction is not a “change in
control event” within the meaning of such term under section 409A of the Code, any remaining Basic Units and Matching Units referenced in this
Section 1(b) that have not yet been settled will not be settled upon the change in control but will continue to be settled according to the schedule set forth in
Section 7(a)(i) and (ii) of the Equity Subplan.  In no event will you, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of settlement.

 
(c)                                  Continued Tax Consultation Services.  The Company will continue to provide you with tax preparation services by a Company-

designated tax services provider for (1) any U.S. tax return that you are required to file as a result of any income, or other distribution, you have received, or
will receive, from the Company as of the date hereof through 2015 and (2) any home country tax filing required as a result of any such U.S. tax return
described in the immediately preceding subsection (1), in each case in a manner consistent with the services provided to you pursuant to your Offer Letter
dated as of September 14, 2011 between you and the Company. These consultation services do not cover personal financial tax planning.

 
2.                                      What You Are Agreeing to Release.
 
(a)  Except as set forth in Section 3 below, which identifies claims expressly excluded from this release, in consideration for the additional

payment and benefits set forth in Section 1, you hereby release ITG and Releasees (as defined below) from any and all claims, grievances, injuries,
controversies, agreements, covenants, promises, debts, accounts, actions, causes of action, suits, arbitrations, sums of money, wages, attorneys’ fees, costs,
damages, each to the extent legally capable of being waived, or any right to any monetary recovery or any other personal relief, whether known or unknown,
in law or in equity, by contract, tort, law of trust or pursuant to federal, state or local (or other equivalent) statute, regulation, ordinance or common law, which
you now have, ever have had, or may hereafter have, based upon or arising from any fact or set of facts, whether known or unknown to you, from the
beginning of time until the date of execution of this Agreement and Release, arising out of or relating in any way to your employment relationship with the
Company or other associations with the Company or any of its affiliates or any termination thereof.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this
waiver, release, and discharge includes any claim or right based upon or arising under any federal, state or local (or other equivalent) fair employment
practices or equal opportunity laws, including, but not limited to the following federal laws and, as applicable, the laws of the country, state and/or city in
which you
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are or have been employed: the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (29 U.S.C. Section 621, et seq.) (“ADEA”), Older Workers’ Benefits Protection Act,
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 1981, Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Pay Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (29 U.S.C. Section 2601, et seq.) (“FMLA”), the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) (including, but not limited to, claims for breach of fiduciary duty under ERISA), the Americans With Disabilities
Act, and, as may be applicable, the New York State Human Rights Law, New York State Constitution, New York Labor Law, New York Civil Rights Law, New
York City Human Rights Law, New York Executive Law, Illinois Human Rights Act, Illinois Equal Pay Laws, Illinois Whistleblower Protection Act, Illinois
Wage Payment and Collection Law, Massachusetts Fair Employment Practices Act, Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, Massachusetts Civil Rights Act,
Massachusetts Privacy Statute, Massachusetts Payment of Wages Laws, Massachusetts Equal Rights Act, and any similar law of any other state or
governmental entity.
 

(b)  You agree that your employment and contractual relationship, if any, with ITG and Releasees is severed as of the Separation Date and
that neither ITG nor Releasees have any obligation to reemploy you.

 
(c)  You hereby acknowledge and agree that, upon receiving the payments set forth above, you will have received all amounts due from the

Company through the Separation Date including, but not limited to, the following: (i) all wages, overtime, on-call pay, lead premiums, shift differentials,
bonuses, incentive compensation, commissions, equity grants, benefits, sick pay, vacation pay, or other compensation or payments or form of remuneration of
any kind or nature, and (ii) reimbursement for all reasonable and necessary business, travel and entertainment expenses incurred on behalf of the Company.

 
(d)  For purposes of this Agreement and Release, the term “ITG and Releasees” includes ITG and its past, present and future direct and

indirect parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, predecessors, successors, assigns, and other related companies, and their respective current and former
officers, directors, shareholders, owners, representatives, agents and employees, in their official and individual capacities, jointly and individually.

 
3.                                      What You Are Not Releasing.  The only claims that you are not waiving and releasing under this Agreement and Release are

claims you may have for: (1) unemployment, state disability, worker’s compensation, and/or paid family leave insurance benefits pursuant to the terms of
applicable state law; (2) continuation of existing participation in ITG-sponsored group health benefit plans, at your full expense, under the federal law known
as “COBRA” and/or under an applicable state law counterpart(s); (3) any benefits entitlements that are vested as of your Separation Date pursuant to the terms
of an ITG-sponsored benefit plan; (4) any claim not waivable by law; (5) any claim or right that may arise after the date you execute this Agreement and
Release; and (6) any claim or right you may have under this Agreement and Release.

 
4.                                      Protecting ITG’s Rights.
 
(a)                                 Return of Company Property.  By signing below, you represent and warrant that you have returned and/or agree to immediately

return to the Company any and all original and duplicate copies of all files, calendars, books, records, notes, manuals, computer disks, diskettes and any other
magnetic and other media materials and any and all Company property and equipment, including, but not limited to, computers and modems you have in
your possession or under your control belonging to ITG or Releasees and containing confidential or proprietary information concerning ITG or Releasees or
their customers or operations.  You also represent and warrant that you have returned, or immediately shall return, your Company keys, credit cards, etc., to
the Company.  By signing this Agreement and Release, you confirm that you have not retained in your possession or under your control any of the
documents or materials described in this section.
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(b)                                 Confidentiality.  You further agree that during the course of your employment with ITG, you have had access to trade secrets,

patents, copyrighted materials, proprietary computer software and programs, and other confidential and proprietary information and materials of or about ITG
and Releasees and their operations and customers (the “Confidential and Proprietary Information and Materials”).  Such Confidential and Proprietary
Information and Materials shall include, without limitation, (i) marketing and business plans, data and strategies, (ii) existing and new or envisioned
financial, investment and trading plans, strategies, products and data, (iii) financial, investment and trading data, strategies, programs and methods, (iv) lists
of actual or prospective customers and customer contracts, (v) Company books and records, and (vi) information and materials developed from the foregoing
information and materials, the disclosure of which to competitors of the Company or others would cause the Company to suffer substantial and irreparable
damage.  Unless you shall first secure the Company’s written consent, you shall not directly or indirectly publish, disclose, market or use, or authorize,
advise, hire, counsel or otherwise solicit or procure any other person or entity, directly or indirectly, to publish, disclose, market or use, any Confidential and
Proprietary Information and Materials, including any Confidential and Proprietary Information and Materials of which you became aware or informed during
your employment with the Company, whether such information is in your memory or embodied in writing or other form.  Such Confidential and Proprietary
Information and Materials are and shall continue to be the exclusive proprietary property of ITG and Releasees.

 
(c)                                  Non-Disparagement.  Except as expressly provided for in Section 5, you will not make any Disparaging (as defined herein)

remarks, comments or statements, whether written or oral, to any third party about ITG or Releasees.  “Disparaging” remarks, comments or statements are
those that, directly or indirectly, impugn the character, honesty, integrity or morality or business acumen or abilities in connection with any aspect of the
operation of business of the individual or entity being disparaged.  In response to inquiries from third parties, you shall state only that you separated from the
Company on mutually acceptable terms.  The Company will not, at any time hereafter, issue or authorize any Disparaging remarks, comments or statements,
whether written or oral, to any third party about you.  The provisions of this Paragraph 4(c) will not impair either party’s right to provide truthful testimony or
other information as required by law or regulatory requirement.

 
(d)                                 Non-Solicitation.  You will not, for the period of time from the Effective Date to the date on which all of the Basic Units and

Matching Units granted to you pursuant to the Equity Subplan are settled in accordance with Section 1(b) above (the “Non-Solicitation Period”), directly or
indirectly:

 
(i)  solicit, recruit, hire, or participate in the solicitation, recruitment, or hiring of any employee, contractor or consultant of ITG or any of its

affiliates employed or retained by ITG or any of its affiliates at any time during the twelve (12) month period prior to the Effective Date and/or at any time
during the Non-Solicitation Period; or

 
(ii)  through the use of ITG trade secrets and confidential information, solicit, recruit, canvas the trade or patronage of, or sell to: (a) any

former or existing client of ITG for which you directly or indirectly provided services to, or had significant responsibility for, at any time during the two
(2) years prior to the Effective Date, or any client about whom you obtained confidential or proprietary information through your employment with ITG;
(b) any person or entity that becomes a client of ITG during the nine (9) months following the Effective Date, and for which you materially contributed to a
proposal to provide services at any time during the two (2) years prior to the Effective Date; and/or (c) any prospective client with whom you had any
substantive contact during your employment with ITG concerning the provision to such person or entity of ITG’s products or services, or any person or entity
the identity of whom you learned by virtue of your prior employment with ITG.
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree and acknowledge that the restrictions set forth in Section 4(d)(ii) above, and the corresponding provisions in
Section 3(ii) of ITG’s Notice and Non-
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Solicitation Policy, shall only apply to the solicitation or recruitment of the clients of ITG and its affiliates through the use of ITG trade secrets and
confidential information.
 

(e)                                  Garden Leave and Non-Competition. You agree that for a period of three (3) months following the Separation Date, you will be
on garden leave and will not in any manner, directly or indirectly, engage or participate in, any business, entity or endeavor other than civic or charitable
activities.  For the period beginning on the first day of the fourth (4) month following your Separation Date through the twelve (12) month anniversary of the
Separation Date, you will not in any manner, directly or indirectly, engage, participate or be interested in any business, entity or endeavor with Bloomberg,
BNY Convergex, Liquidnet or Instinet.  You will be deemed to be directly or indirectly engaged or participating in, a business, entity or endeavor with
Bloomberg, BNY Convergex, Liquidnet or Instinet if you are a principal, agent, stockholder (or other proprietary or financial interest holder), director, officer,
employee, salesperson, sales representative, broker, partner, individual proprietor, lender, consultant or otherwise.
 

(f)                                   Confidentiality of this Agreement.  You will maintain the confidentiality of and not disclose the terms and conditions of this
Agreement and Release to any third parties, other than your attorneys and/or accountants, and you will instruct each of the foregoing not to disclose the
same.  Any person to whom this Agreement and Release is disclosed will be advised of and agree to abide by the terms of your confidentiality obligations
hereunder.

 
(g)                                 Non-Publication.  You also agree that, unless you have prior written authorization from the Company, you will not disclose or

allow disclosure of any information about the Company or any of its affiliates or their respective present or former clients, executives or other employees, or
legal matters involving the Company or any of its affiliates and resolution thereof, or any aspects of your employment with or termination from employment
with the Company, to any reporter, author, producer or similar person or entity, or take any other action likely to result in such information being made
available to the general public in any form, including, without limitation, books, articles or writings of any other kind, as well as film, videotape, television
or other broadcasts, audio tape, electronic/Internet format or any other medium.  You further agree that you will not use or take any action likely to result in
the use of any of the Company’s or any of its affiliates’ names or any abbreviation thereof in connection with any publication to the general public in any
medium.

 
(h)                                 Remedies.  You acknowledge and agree that the restrictions and agreements contained in Sections 4(a) through 4(g) in view of the

nature of the business in which ITG and Releasees are engaged, are reasonable, necessary and in the Company’s best interests in order to protect the
legitimate interests of ITG and Releasees, and that any violation thereof shall be deemed to be a material breach of this agreement and that the Company shall
be entitled to pursue any and all remedies available to it in a court of competent jurisdiction including, but not limited to application for temporary,
preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief as well as damages, an equitable accounting of all earnings, profits and other benefits arising from such
violation.  In the event the Company brings an action to redress a violation of Sections 4(a) through 4(g), the prevailing party in any claims in such action
shall be entitled to recover all of its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection therewith.

 
5.                                      Permitted Conduct.  Nothing in this Agreement and Release shall prohibit or restrict you, ITG and Releasees, or either party’s

respective attorneys, from their or your right to: (i) make any disclosure of relevant and necessary information or documents in any action, investigation, or
proceeding relating to this Agreement and Release, or as required by law, regulation or legal process; or (ii) participate, cooperate, or testify in any action,
investigation, or proceeding with, or provide information to the Company’s Legal Department, or any self-regulatory organization, governmental agency or
legislative body, including the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), provided that, to the extent permitted by law, upon receipt of any
subpoena, court order or other legal process compelling the disclosure of any such information
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or documents, the disclosing party gives prompt written notice to the other party so as to permit such other party to protect such party’s interests in
confidentiality to the fullest extent possible.  You acknowledge and agree, however, that, except as prohibited by law, should you or any person,
organization, or entity file, charge, claim, sue, or cause or permit to be filed any action, investigation, or proceeding arising out of or related to your
employment or termination of employment with the Company, pursuant to Section 2(a), you waive any right to any personal or monetary relief in any such
action, investigation, or legal proceeding. To the extent you receive any personal or monetary relief the Company will be entitled to an offset for the
payments made under Section 1 of this Agreement and Release to the extent determined by the Court.
 

6.                                      Timeline for Considering, Signing and Returning this Agreement and Release.  Pursuant to the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act, you shall have at least twenty-one (21) calendar days after the date you received this Agreement and Release within which to review and
consider it, to discuss it with an attorney of your choosing, and to decide whether or not to sign it.  If you elect to sign this Agreement and Release, the
executed Agreement and Release must be returned to ITG Inc., Peter Goldstein, Human Resources at 380 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10017 on or before
the end of the day on December 21, 2012. This deadline will be extended to the next business day should it fall on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday recognized
by the U.S. Postal Service.

 
Once you have signed this Agreement and Release, you will then be permitted to revoke this Agreement and Release at any time during the

period of seven (7) days following its execution by delivering to ITG Inc., at the address indicated above, a written notice of revocation.  If you wish to
revoke this Agreement and Release, the notice of revocation must be received by ITG no later than the eighth day following your execution of this
Agreement and Release.  If the seventh day referenced above falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, the 7-day time limit shall be extended to the next
business day.  This Agreement and Release will not be effective or enforceable, and no benefits shall be provided hereunder, unless and until ITG has
received your signed Agreement and Release by the end of the day on December 21, 2012 as described above and the seven day revocation period has
expired without your having exercised your right of revocation (the “Effective Date”).

 
You are hereby advised to consult with an attorney prior to signing the Agreement and Release.
 
Your Payments shall commence as soon as administratively possible (generally within ninety (90) calendar days following the Separation

Date), provided that you have complied with all of your obligations and the terms of this Agreement and Release.
 
ITG reserves the right after receiving your signed Agreement and Release to reject it in the event it is untimely, if it is modified by you, or

in the event that you engage in misconduct prior to your Separation Date, or prior to the Effective Date to the extent such date is after the Separation Date.  In
the event the Agreement and Release is rejected or not accepted by ITG, it will be void and unenforceable.

 
7.                                      Miscellaneous.
 
(a)                                 This Agreement and Release shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon (i) ITG and Releasees, its successors and

assigns, and any company with which ITG may merge or consolidate or to which ITG may sell substantially all of its assets and (ii) you and your executors,
administrators, heirs and legal representatives.

 
(b)                                 Nothing about the fact or content of this Agreement and Release shall be considered to be or treated by you as an admission of any

wrongdoing, liability, or violation of law by ITG or Releasees.
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(c)                                  This Agreement and Release shall be subject to and governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State in which

you are employed as of your Separation Date, without regard to conflicts of law principles.
 
(d)                                 You are solely responsible for all taxes that may result from your receipt of the amounts payable to you under this Agreement and

Release, and neither ITG nor any of its affiliates makes or has made any representation, warranty or guarantee of any federal, state or local (or any of their
foreign equivalents) tax consequences of your receipt of any benefit or payment hereunder, including but not limited to, under Section 409A of the Code.

 
8.                                      Specific Enforcement.  The parties agree that this Agreement and Release may be specifically enforced in court and may be used

as evidence in a subsequent proceeding in which any of the parties allege a breach of this Agreement and Release.
 
9.                                      Judicial Interpretation/Modification; Severability.  In the event that any one or more provisions (or portion thereof) of this

Agreement and Release is held to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable for any reason, the invalid unlawful or unenforceable provision (or portion thereof)
shall be construed or modified so as to provide ITG and Releasees with the maximum protection that is valid, lawful and enforceable, consistent with the
intent of the Company and employee in entering into this Agreement and Release.  If such provision (or portion thereof) cannot be construed or modified so
as to be valid, lawful and enforceable, that provision (or portion thereof) shall be construed as narrowly as possible and shall be severed from the remainder of
this Agreement and Release (or provision), and the remainder shall remain in effect and be construed as broadly as possible, as if such invalid, unlawful or
unenforceable provision (or portion thereof) had never been contained in this Agreement and Release.

 
10.                               Complete Agreement.  Except for any promissory note(s) or other debt obligation(s) you may owe to the Company as of the later

of the Effective Date or Separation Date, the terms of any other confidentiality obligation to ITG or Releasees, and the ITG Notice and Non-Solicitation
Policy in effect as of the date hereof, this Agreement and Release cancels, supersedes and replaces any and all prior agreements (written, oral or implied-in-
fact or in law) between you and the Company or any of its affiliates regarding all of the subjects covered by this Agreement and Release, including but not
limited to the (a) Offer Letter dated as of September 14, 2011 between you and the Company and (b) Change in Control Agreement dated September 14,
2011.  Except as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, this Agreement and Release is the full, complete and exclusive agreement between you and
the Company regarding the subjects covered by this Agreement and Release, and neither you nor the Company is relying on any representation or promise,
whether oral or in writing, that is not expressly stated in this Agreement and Release.

 
11.                               Changes to Agreement.  This Agreement and Release cannot be changed except by another written agreement that is dated and is

signed by you and by the Company.
 
12.                               Acknowledgment.  By signing this Agreement and Release, you certify that you have read the terms of this Agreement and

Release, and that this Agreement and Release conforms to your understanding and is acceptable to you as a final agreement.
 
(a)                                 You acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to Section 2(a) above, by signing this Agreement and Release, you waive and release

any and all claims you may have or have had against ITG and Releasees.
 
(b)                                 ITG hereby advises you to consult with counsel of your choice prior to executing this Agreement and Release.
 
(c)                                  You also acknowledge that you have been given a reasonable and sufficient period of time of not less than twenty-one (21) days in

which to consider and return this Agreement and Release, and that, once you have signed the Agreement and Release, you will then be permitted to revoke
this Agreement and Release at any time during the period of seven (7) days
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following its execution by delivering to ITG a written notice of revocation, as described in Section 6, above.
 

(d)                                 In exchange for your waivers, releases and commitments set forth herein, including your waiver and release of all claims arising
under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the payments, benefits and other considerations that you are receiving pursuant to this Agreement and
Release exceed any payment, benefit or other thing of value to which you would otherwise be entitled, and are just and sufficient consideration for the
waivers, releases and commitments set forth herein.
 

(e)                                  If the foregoing conforms to your understanding and is acceptable to you, please indicate your agreement by signing and dating
the enclosed copy of this Agreement and Release and returning it to the Company as per the instructions in Section 6 above.  In the event you fail to execute
and return this Agreement and Release on a timely basis, or you execute and then elect to revoke this Agreement and Release, this Agreement and Release
will be of no further force and effect, and neither you nor the Company will have any further rights or obligations hereunder.

 
Sincerely,

  
  

ITG Inc.
  
  

By: /s/ Peter A. Goldstein
Peter A. Goldstein
Managing Director, Human Resources

 
You acknowledge that you are signing this Agreement and Release knowingly and voluntarily and that the Company has provided you with a reasonable
opportunity to review and consider this Agreement and Release.
 

 
Dated: December 17, 2012 /s/ David James Stevens

David James Stevens
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Exhibit 21.1 

  
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 

Note: Certain subsidiaries were omitted from this list in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(21)(ii).

Name  
Jurisdiction of

Incorporation/Organization
ITG Inc.  Delaware
AlterNet Securities, Inc.  Delaware
ITG Software Solutions, Inc.  Delaware
ITG Global Trading Incorporated  Delaware
ITG Solutions Network, Inc.  Delaware
ITG Analytics, Inc.  Delaware
ITG Investment Research, Inc.  Delaware
ITG Platforms Inc.  Delaware
ITG Derivatives LLC  Illinois
Investment Technology Group International Limited  Ireland
ITG Ventures Limited  Ireland
Investment Technology Group Limited  Ireland
Investment Technology Group Europe Limited  Ireland
ITG Australia Limited  Australia
ITG Singapore Pte. Limited  Singapore
ITG Canada Corp.  Nova Scotia
TriAct Canada Marketplace LP  Ontario
ITG Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong
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Exhibit 23.1 

  
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors
Investment Technology Group, Inc.:

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-78309, No. 333-42725, No. 333-50804, No. 333-89290, No. 333-
99087, No. 333-26309, No. 333-159271, No. 333-156634, No. 333-166855, No. 333-170116 No. 333-175017, No. 333-189267, and No. 333-189268) on
Form S-8 of Investment Technology Group, Inc. of our reports dated March 13, 2015, with respect to the consolidated statements of financial condition of
Investment Technology Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, which reports appear in the December 31, 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-
K of Investment Technology Group, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 13, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert C. Gasser, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Investment Technology Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2015     

  

  /s/ ROBERT C. GASSER

Robert C. Gasser
Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven R. Vigliotti, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Investment Technology Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2015     

  

  /s/ STEVEN R. VIGLIOTTI

Steven R. Vigliotti
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1 

  
Certification Under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(18 U.S.C., Section 1350) 

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Investment Technology Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2014, as
filed with the SEC on the date hereof (the "Report"), Robert C. Gasser, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Steven R. Vigliotti, as Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"); and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

        The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

/s/ ROBERT C. GASSER

Robert C. Gasser
Chief Executive Officer

March 13, 2015  

/s/ STEVEN R. VIGLIOTTI

Steven R. Vigliotti
Chief Financial Officer

March 13, 2015
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